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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

ANNUAL REVIEW

2022 was an extremely difficult year for the real estate industry.
Against the backdrop of a tough and complex domestic
economy, a real estate industry that was treading on thin ice,
and the ravaging COVID-19 outbreak, consumer’s confidence in
the housing market was at a low ebb. With homebuyers putting
their plans on hold, real estate sales plunged. To survive this
economic downturn, companies in the real estate industry have
made it their top priority to deliver properties with the quality and
quantity as promised.

In the face of the many obstacles in the real estate market in
2022, the Group actively marketed itself through product and
brand advertising and other traditional marketing methods. At
the same time, we also involved all employees in our marketing
efforts by building a team to develop sales channels, and made
full use of existing and new customer resources to maximise
sales. In addition, the Group continued to improve our business
segments, and motivated our marketing team by dynamically
adjusting the team’s evaluation and incentive policies in a timely
manner, based on marketing objectives in different periods, to
enhance our overall competitiveness. Meanwhile, the Group also
actively participated in charity work to fulfill its corporate social
responsibilities. In 2022, we donated a total amount of
approximately RMB5.6 million to charity.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

In 2022, the Group was recognised as one of the “200 Top Real
Estate Companies in China” at the “2022 Academic Conference
for the Top 100 Real Estate Companies in China and the 19th
Summit for the Top 100 Real Estate Companies in China”, which
was jointly hosted by the China Enterprises Evaluation
Association, the Institute of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua
University, the Beijing China Index Information and Technology
Research Institute, and organised by the China Real Estate Top
10 Research Team under the Beijing China Index Information and
Technology Research Institute. The Group was also given the
“2022 Contribution Award for Urban Operation” at the “2023
Xuchang Real Estate Industry Summit and the 2022 Xuchang
Real Estate Annual Ranking” organised by Xuchang Daily. The
Hengda Mingzhu, Hengda Gucheng Xinyuan, and Hengda
Xinduhui projects were awarded the honorary title of being a
“Safe, Civilised, and Standardised Demonstration Site” in
Xuchang in 2022.

In 2022, the Group established and acquired equity interests in
the following companies: (I) Xuchang Hengrun Real Estate
Company Limited* (FFEMEHEZEBRAF); and () Xuchang
Jian’an District Hengyu Industrial Company Limited* (Ff&H &%
R1E4EE AR AF). At the same time, the Group also acquired
equity interests in Xuchang City Jian’an District Hengmu
Property Company Limited* (FEMELZREEBAEMESGRAR),
increasing the share ratio from 51% to 100%, and continued to
contribute to the sustainable development of the Group.

Over the past 30 years of our development, the Group has
always adhered to the principle of “Integrity Management,
Fulfilling Every Promise”. After gaining a foothold in the market
with our products and services, we have always insisted on
developing the market in-depth, implementing a development
strategy that pursues excellence and ensures effective operation,
and strive to achieve a win-win situation for our customers,
society, employees, and investors.
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ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's total
revenue was approximately RMB2,861.8 million, representing an
increase of approximately 3.4% from approximately RMB2,767.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the net profit was approximately
RMB77.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
74.3% from approximately RMB303.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2021.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

OUTLOOK

In the face of a volatile international environment and the
challenging COVID-19 situation within the country, the Chinese
economy continued to grow under pressure in 2022. China’s
economic output reached RMB121 trillion, a record high after
surpassing the RMB100 trillion and RMB110 trillion thresholds in
2020 and 2021, respectively. The overall economic and social
situation remained harmonious and stable. According to data
published by the National Bureau of Statistics, all aspects of the
real estate industry recorded significant drops in 2022, as the
entire industry was threatened by huge risks and challenges,
along with a serious lack of market confidence.

Looking towards 2023, the recovery of the Chinese economy is
still constrained by tremendous pressure, due to the ever-
changing external environment and the impacts of the pandemic.
The overall economic and social development is still in the
recovering stage. Nevertheless, with adjustments to and the
optimisation of pandemic prevention and control policies, and
the promulgation of economic stabilisation policies, the
economic environment is expected to improve and gradually
rebound.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

In 20283, the Group will actively explore new methods of real
estate development and adhere to the principle of developing the
real estate industry steadily and healthily. We will capture every
opportunity arising during the recovery period of the real estate
industry, and strive for growth at the most appropriate timings.
The Group will () upgrade its marketing strategy and generate
new market ideas. For products with excess inventory, we will
first develop inventory plans, pave the way for stock clearance
through investment, and then incorporate such plans into our
business operation. Through proper investment and operation
strategies, we can increase sales to clear surplus stock. By
combining the strengths of the Group’s policies, brands,
products, and services, we will build our own unique
competitiveness in the regional market. At the same time, we will
drive traffic from online to in-store and vice versa, pay attention
to customer needs, and constantly improve our product quality
and services. We will also improve our marketing experience,
realise value marketing, conduct careful statistical analysis and
planning, and dig deep into customer behaviour; (Il) enhance
product competitiveness and establish a better and standardised
system. Through the adoption of standardised technical
measures, management files, systems, and procedures, we will
improve the quality and depth of the Group’s design and
engineering management, so as to ensure, control and improve
the quality of our products, thus enhancing their market
competitiveness; (lll) strengthen the entire cost management
cycle, to practically enhance our cost control capability. By
incorporating cost management approaches into the whole cycle
of project development, we will establish a management system
with five principles at its core, namely: “cost planning”, “whole-
process cost consultation and management”, “cost review”,
“target cost and the correlation between operating, management
and financial expenses”, and “evaluation of completed projects”,
to systematically manage the cost of every project; (IV)
strengthen employees’ awareness of position management, and
create more effective talent training programmes. We will
increase employees’ productivity through the remuneration,
benefits, and performance appraisal systems, ensure that
employees are capable and suited for their positions, and offer
tailor-made coaching and trainings to meet the specific needs of
employees in different positions, to enhance the overall skills and
capability of our employees.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

In 2023, the Group will continue to move forward and overcome 2023%F - NEBKIKERIIT - WEM L -

challenges. We will maintain the stable and healthy operation of BEERELCE BERETSE5 BE2E
our business, make active improvements, and embark on a new BT A MER -

journey together with all employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

On 17 January 2023, the National Bureau of Statistics issued a
report on the “10.0% Reduction in the Development and
Investment of Real Estate in the PRC in 2022”. According to the
latest statistics therein, investment in real estate development in
the PRC in 2022 amounted to approximately RMB13,289,500
million, representing a decrease of approximately 10.0% as
compared to the previous year. Of which, investment in
residential properties amounted to approximately
RMB10,064,600 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 9.5% as compared to 2021. Investment in real
estate development in the eastern region of China amounted to
approximately RMB7,247,800 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.7% as compared to the previous year. The
investment in the central region amounted to approximately
RMB2,893,100 million, representing a decrease of approximately
7.2% as compared to the previous year. The investment in the
western region amounted to approximately RMB2,748,100
million, representing a decrease of approximately 17.6% as
compared to the previous year. The investment in the
northeastern region was approximately RMB400,500 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 25.5%. Analysis of the
above data shows that investment growth slowed down,
especially in the northeast region, which recorded a 25.5% drop.
According to the above data, it can be seen that in 2022, the
development and investment of real estates in the PRC remained
in a state of deterioration, with a high development and
investment pressure. Real estate companies were not proactive
enough in acquiring land.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

According to the National Bureau of Statistics, the total
construction area of new property projects of real estate
enterprises in 2022 was approximately 1,205.87 million sg.m.,
representing a decrease of approximately 7.2% as compared to
2021. Of which, the total construction area of new residential
projects was 881.35 million sg.m., representing a decrease of
approximately 39.8% as compared to 2021. In addition, the total
sales area of commercial properties of real estate enterprises
was 1,358.37 million sg.m., representing a decrease of
approximately 24.3% as compared to the previous year. Of
which, the total sales area of residential properties decreased by
approximately 26.8% as compared to the previous year, while
that of office buildings decreased by approximately 3.3%,
whereas that of commercial and business properties decreased
by approximately 8.9%. As shown from the data in relation to the
total construction area of new property projects and total sales
area of commercial properties of real estate enterprises across
the PRC, the entire real estate industry in the country was facing
a lot of pressure. The COVID-19 epidemic and the lack of
confidence among homebuyers are all possible reasons for
causing a slowdown in the real estate industry.

On 21 January 2023, the Henan Provincial Bureau of Statistics
issued the “Development and Sales of Real Estates in Henan
Province in 2022” report. According to the latest statistics,
investment in real estate development in Henan Province
amounted to approximately RMB679,336 million in 2022,
representing a decrease of approximately 13.7%. Of which,
investment in residential properties amounted to approximately
RMB580,216 million, representing a decrease of approximately
13.4%.

In 2022, the total construction area of new property projects by
Henan property developers was 89.49 million sg.m., representing
a decrease of approximately 34.5% as compared to 2021. Of
which, the total construction area of new residential properties
was 73.67 million sq.m., representing a decrease of
approximately 34.8%, while the total sales area of commercial
properties of real estate enterprises was approximately 111.41
million sg.m., representing a decrease of approximately 16.1%.
Of which, the total sales area of residential properties decreased
by approximately 15.9%, while that of office buildings decreased
by approximately 6.5%, whereas that of commercial and
business properties decreased by approximately 19.1%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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As shown from the various data regarding the Henan property
market, Henan Province saw a large decline in all areas in 2022.
After analysis, we concluded that this was mainly attributed to
the COVID-19 situation, which posed great difficulties to Henan’s
real estate industry in 2022, while the lack of confidence among
homebuyers and concerns about the delivery risks of real estate
projects were also significant factors for the decline. However,
with the removal of COVID-19 control measures and the
introduction of relevant policies to stabilise the market, the
Henan real estate industry as a whole remains optimistic about
the future.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

2022 marks 30 years since the Group was established, yet it
was also the most difficult year we have ever seen, with the
evident global and national economic downturn. Despite the
relaxation of COVID-19 prevention measures at the end of 2022,
the impact of the pandemic on the real estate industry remained
significant. It is difficult for homebuyers’ confidence to return in
the short term. While the future development direction of the real
estate industry was laid out at the Central Economic Work
Conference at the end of 2022, time is still needed for policies to
become effective. The Group will take a proactive approach in
dealing with the existing difficulties by continuously adjusting and
optimising our operation strategies in general, to ensure that the
cornerstone to our survival and development is unshakeable,
thus buying us precious time to regain our vitality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2022, the Group, through continuous practice, adjusted its
marketing strategies according to the actual sales performance.
We increased online promotion and sales, reduced selling costs
and expenses, and strengthened our sales potential. To
maximise sales, we encouraged all employees to actively
participate in sales activities, and rewarded top sales
performers. Meanwhile, the Group also optimised the structure
of its functional departments, and reduced its capital expenses
without affecting the normal operation of the Company. The
Group has also been proactively managing the progress of
construction projects to ease our financial pressure. In terms of
engineering and technology, the Group has been paying more
attention to product quality and details, by constantly improving
and updating our product compatibility standards and our
database of standardised floor plans, which helped to enhance
customer experience and satisfaction, and strengthened our
brand image.

In 2022, the Group established and acquired equity interests in
the following companies: (I) Xuchang Hengrun Real Estate
Company Limited* (FfEmMEHE % ER A 7]); and (Il) Xuchang
Jian’an District Hengyu Industrial Company Limited* (fF &M & &
@1ESEE X BRG] The Group also acquired equity interests
in Xuchang City Jian’an District Hengmu Property Company
Limited (fFEM E LR EKEH ZE F R A A]), increasing the
share ratio from 51% to 100%. At the same time, the Group
acquired commercial and residential land in optimal locations in
Xuchang through bidding invitations, auctions, and listings, with
a gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 160,000 square
meters.

With the spirit of an innovation pioneer, the Group is always
determined to forge ahead to create beautiful chapters for urban
construction with sincerity, kindness and responsibility. At the
same time, we are committed to gaining a foothold in the market
with our products and services, as well as implementing a
development strategy where we focus on in-depth market
development, pursue excellence, and ensure effective operation.
As a service provider of quality living and a constructor of urban
operation, we aim to develop the Xuchang market in depth, and
venture into the surrounding areas, as we strive to realise a
win-win situation for our customers, society, employees, and
investors.
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2022F ANEE BB M IREUE H X
BET:)VFETEBEEAERAR L)
FEMELXBESEXERAR BA
BiEkEN S ANWBHFETELXRIENR
EHEBRARRE  FHBKLHHBE
A HI51% 1 =100% © [ £ BB B R A
HAEAXNERFETETANERT A -
BEABE(REEBEDO16BHIFK -

AEBRKRRAG B EIN  FAMAIFHD
B AL BEONMEEL BT
BEREREE - KRR E MRS
R BER BERERH  BERELN
e EEN B REE  AEXFERER
BE - BHEEERENZERRMTE
FPREE BHERAXFP g BT
MBREEZTHS -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

LAND RESERVES + 1 {7

A , & 5 A
As at 31 December 2022, the GFA of the Group’s land reserves B/\\2922¢12531 E#$ - =+ 3 5 49
BEMBEARBMNOBFHAKTEIER]D -

T REH R2022512 A318 & i 1% 8] &
below sets forth a summary of the land reserves as at 31 M)+ M R

was approximately 4.1 million square meters (“sq.m.”). The table

December 2022 by geographical location:

Under Future
Completed development development

BRI B & ARBIE
Completed
saleable/
leasable GFA
remaining GFA under Planned Total land % of total land
unsold development GFA reserve reserve
BTREENTH 4
£/ MHEER BEH HE Bty T RE
TEEHE BEER BEEE i BAL
sq.m. sq.m. sq.m. sq.m. %
FHAK FHAK FIHAK FHAK %
Xuchang City FET
Weidu District RERE 82,390 286,543 101,572 470,505 11.44
Jian'an District ERE 52,211 49,200 97,730 199,141 4.84
Yuzhou City BT 79,219 1,138,716 197,916 1,415,851 34.42
Changge City REM 9,719 383,984 167,321 561,024 13.64
Yanling County BEg 19,631 174,770 103,867 298,168 7.25
Xiangcheng County ENE 13,131 55,088 74,389 142,608 3.47
Dongcheng District R E = 406,213 208,272 614,485 14.94
Economic and BHEE
technological
development zone = 134,744 170,594 305,338 7.42
Luohe City BT
Linying County & = 106,188 - 106,188 2.58
Total #(E 256,201 2,735,446 1,121,661 4,113,308 100

Note: Land reserves equal the sum of (i) total completed saleable/ Bet: THEESROBTRHEENTHE
leasable GFA remaining unsold, (i) total GFA under development AL ERTAEZEERE: ()FAEF
and (iii) total planned GFA held for future development. WA AE HGiNIFERKMAED

HMEBZEEBMB M -

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA



CONTRACTED SALES

The table below sets forth a breakdown of our major types of
contracted sales and contracted average selling price (“ASP”):

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEETWEED T
EREHERE

TRHEINERAMEIBERNARBEERR
ARFHEETFHEBDNRA:

For the year ended

31 December % change
BZ12A3MALEE 2HENL
2022 2021 +-
20224 20214 +-
Contracted sales attributable to: INTEEELEREER:
Residential units (RMB, million) FEEN(AREEET) 1,823.0 3,742.8 -51.3%
Commercial units (RMB, million) BEBUAR®EEET) 240.4 373.4 -35.6%
Car parking spaces (RMB, million) EEM(AREBEET) 55.2 158.0 -65.1%
Others (RMB, million) EH(AREBEET) 13.7 37.9 -63.9%
Total (RMB, million) B (AREHEL) 2,132.3 4,312 1 -50.6%
Contracted saleable GFA/Lot NTEBEREARTLE
attributable to: BEmE/EE:
Saleable GFA (sq.m.) AHERERRE (ALK 337,623 619,125 -45.5%
Car parking space (lot) EEA(fE) 942 2,832 -66.7%
Contracted ASP attributable to: NTEERGEERTHER:
Saleable GFA (RMB/sq.m.) HEREHEE
(AR®T/ERHXK) 6,152 6,709 -8.3%
Car parking space (RMB/lot) BEA(NRET,/ ) 58,599 55,797 +5.0%

Our contracted ASP per sq.m. of saleable GFA decreased by
8.3% to approximately RMB6,152 per sg.m. in 2022. The
decrease in 2022 was mainly due to the decrease in market

price of properties in Henan Province.

BMAILEELEAENEESKERAF
HEBR2022F 5 8.3% =N T FH K
ANBEM6,1527T ° 2022F WA X EHR
MEAMENTISES T -

2022 Annual Report
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results

The financial performance and results for the year ended 31
December 2022 were average. Key financial ratios have met the
expectation of the management.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of the
Group reached approximately RMB2,861.8 million (2021:
RMB2,767.7 million), representing an increase of approximately
3.4%.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB421.4
million (2021: RMB851.5 million), representing a decrease of
approximately RMB430.1 million, or approximately 50.5%.

Gross profit margin was approximately 14.7% in 2022 (2021:
30.8%), representing a decrease of approximately 52.3% as
compared with that in 2021.

Profit for the year decreased by approximately RMB225.4 million,
or 74.3%, from approximately RMB303.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB77.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Revenue

Our revenue was derived from (i) sales of properties, (ii) rental
income and (jii) service income. The following table sets forth the
breakdown of the revenue and their respective percentages of
contribution to the total revenue for the years indicated:

B 5 [l R

HE2022F12A31BILFENIH B RE
NEEZE—R TEUBHLIREINEEE
FEH -

NE E2022F12A3IBILEE A& H
WA ZE#X A RE2,861.80 & T (20214 ¢
AR®E2767,7E B L) HEIN4I3.4% o

AEEHSEFINHARBII4FE T
(20215 : A REEBSIEB &) B AW
AR ¥430.18 8 7T (30 4950.5%) °

2022F W) E M E 4 B14.7% (20214 :
30.8%) * #2021 )& > #952.3% °

FEEMNBEHE E2021FE12A318 LF E
W AREI0832BEE T NEH AR

205 47 B T (8074.3%) & &, £2022412
RA1HIEFEMHARKET778EHE T °

WA

BAWBARBEONMEHE  ((H2HK
AR (i) RBUA « TREFNRAREE
MRARARESEMEARANED
b

Year ended 31 December

BE12AMBLEE
2022 2021 % change
20224 20214 FEAD L
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % +-
AR¥TT % ANREFIT % +-
Sales of propertiess  ¥MHEHE 2,850,035 99.6 2,753,389 99.5 +3.5%
Rental income Bl A 6,832 0.2 5,305 0.2 +28.8%
Service income AR 7 M A 4,904 0.2 8,984 0.3 -45.4%
2,861,771 100.0 2,767,678 100.0 +3.4%

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA



Management Discussion and Analysis

The tables below set out the revenue from the sales of
properties, the total GFA units of properties recognised and the

BEEERWED T

TREINZMEEHNE DONYEHEK
A FERNENEREAERZFY

overall recognised ASP of our properties by property types: ENEBERBERRTHER:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
Recognised Recognised
GFA ASP GFA ASP
Revenue recognised per sq.m. Revenue  recognised per sg.m.
ERRA BEHER
2®’R F¥HK EHR FY¥HK
A EEEE FHEE LN BEEE THEE
RMB’000 sq.m. RMB RMB’000 sq.m. RMB
AREFTT FIh K ARET ARETT FI K AEET
Residential F= 2,507,763 438,742 5,716 2,379,098 395,319 6,018
Commercial BE 232,703 26,323 8,840 292,802 37,139 7,884
Storage FE=E 20,944 10,706 1,956 12,501 5,563 2,247
2,761,410 475,771 5,804 2,684,401 438,021 6,128
Recognised Recognised
Units ASP per Units ASP per
Revenue recognised unit Revenue  recognised unit
ER’R BHER
BEN BEM
WA ERIBQ FHEE WA BRERAEM FHER
RMB’000 lot RMB RMB'000 lot RMB
ARE T 18 % ARET ARETT 16 2 AR BT
Car parking BB
spaces 88,625 1,770 50,071 68,988 1,197 57,634

Sales of properties, which accounted for approximately 99.6%
(2021: 99.5%) of our total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022, were contributed by the sales of residential and
commercial properties, storages and car parking spaces
recognised in the year.

HE2022F12A31BILFE - WEHEE
A1 M 2 A B999.6% (20214F ¢
99.5%)  NHRZFEBRAFTELRTE
ME FBEHEREEMNMHEEME -

2022 Annual Report
—BoFER
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Our revenue increased by approximately RMB94.1 million or
3.4% from approximately RMB2,767.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately RMB2,861.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, which was principally
attributable to the result of approximately RMB128.7 million
increase in the sales of our residential properties during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The increase in sales of residential properties was mainly due to
the effect of increase in GFA recognised from approximately
395,319 sg.m. for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately 438,742 sq.m. for the year ended 31 December
2022, despite partially offset by the decrease in ASP per sg.m..

The decrease in the sales of our commercial properties during
the year was primarily due to the decrease in GFA recognised by
29.1%, despite partially offset by the increase of ASP per sg.m.
from approximately RMB7,884 in 2021 to RMB8,840 in 2022.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

I WA B E E2021F12 8318 1IEF
ERNHARB27T67TTEE T MO AR
941 H B JT(83.4%) & & £2022412
AB1BLEFEMHARE2,861.88E T
BEEHRNE E2022F12A831H IEEE
B EEMEHERMNHAREI287

e —

R

TEMEHEENDHEEANEER
SEEREE2021F12A31BEFEN
#9395,319F 77 K 1 hn = & £2022F12 A
S1HIEFE R A438,742F K - BEH
WEFRAARFHEER L BHEE -

FRNHEVEHERLHETEAREE
RELEEERL291% > BEHBEE
MEBFHARFHEBHODAFHAR
#7.88470 F Ft 220224 #) A R #8,840
TLER DS o



Gross profit and gross profit margin

Management Discussion and Analysis

The table below sets out the revenue, gross profit and gross
profit margin by types:

EEEwmE

vl

ENREFER

TERAFIRENYSHKA - EFIRE
A%

Year ended 31 December

HZN2A3MHLEE
2022 2021
2022 202145
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Cost of profit/ profit Cost of profit/ profit
Revenue sales (loss) Margin Revenue sales (loss) Margin
WA HERZX EF/(B) EF% KA BERE EFH/(E) TH=%
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 % RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000 %
AREFT AEETR AREFZ % ANRETFT AREFT ANRETIL %
Sales of properties ~ MEHE
— Residential -f=E 2,507,763 2,136,982 370,781 148 2,379,098 1,641,097 738,001 31.0
— Commercial -HE 232,703 152,230 80,473 34.6 292,802 177,477 115,325 39.4
— Car parking - FEURE
spaces and BE
storages 109,569 141,784 (32,215) -29.4 81,489 84,877 (3,388) -4.2
Subtotal N 2,850,035 2,430,996 419,039 147 2,753,389 1,903,451 849,938 30.9
Rental income ik ON 6,832 - 6,832 100.0 5,305 S 5,305 100.0
Service income REMA 4,904 9,399 (4,495) -91.7 8,984 12,740 (3,756) -41.8
2,861,771 2,440,395 421,376 147 2,767,678 1,916,191 851,487 30.8

The gross profit margin of sales of properties and gross profit
margin of sales of residential properties dropped from
approximately 30.9% in 2021 to 14.7% in 2022 and
approximately 31.0% in 2021 to 14.8% in 2022, respectively.

The gross profit margin of residential properties decreased from
approximately 31.0% in 2021 to 14.8% in 2022, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 52.3%. It was primarily
attributable to the increase in unit costs of properties held for

sale.

¥ % $HE M E Fl R B2021F /9 £930.9%
TR E2022F W14.7% T2 HEWNE
AR BR2021F B 4931.0% | (£ E20224F 1)
14.8% o

FEWENTEFEBH2021F H94931.0% N
[& Z=2022% M14.8% ° [ kb T B 4
523% - E X EHRARBIEHENME
R B8 (i X A 38 00 FT R -

2022 Annual Report
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The negative gross profit margin of sales of car parking spaces
and storage in year 2022 was due to the combined effects of (i)
decrease in market price of car parking spaces of certain
projects in Xuchang City; and (ii) write-down of value of car
parking spaces in 2022.

Fair value (losses)/gains on investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December
2022 by an independent professional qualified valuers, Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, who hold recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the
locations and segments of the investment properties valued.

Selling and marketing expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s selling and
marketing expenses amounted to approximately of RMB124.3
million (2021: RMB139.6 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 11.0% as compared to that in 2021. The decrease
was mainly due to less promotion activities and campaign for
brand building during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately 16.3%
from approximately RMB162.2 million in 2021 to approximately
RMB135.7 million in 2022, the decrease of administrative
expenses was mainly due to the decrease of staff costs.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

Ro022FHEFEMNAHEREHESAHK
EMRTTEN()R2022FFEME T B

BEVEEMTHE TR Ri)FELEE
MR AT ETE -

REMENATFEER) W

NEEE ) I & W) 202212 A3TA K
BYEESERMGEEMLTHE A RTG
BRARETHE ZAREBEEERA
M EEERTYUMEENREDE
B Hb Bh AN SIS A T B AR %R o

HERTSERMX

RE Z2022F12A831BILFE > K& H
MEERTSHEERI O AEARE124.3
B & (20214 : A R #139.68 & L)
B2021F M L 4911.0% » 2B P ETERH
RRE E2022F12A31BILFE - A
BB mETHEREES R DT -

ITHFAX

THHAZA021FHHARKI6228E
T T P& #4916.3% 20224 K #) A R &
135 7EBT THRAIRLTIEERR
BI A AR D FTE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on
borrowings and interest charges on lease liabilities, less interest
expenses which were capitalised to the extent that such costs
are directly attributable to property development projects. Our
finance costs decreased by approximately 8.1% from
approximately RMB1.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB1.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense mainly comprised of the PRC corporate
income tax expense and land appreciation tax arising from our
PRC subsidiaries. Income tax expenses decreased by
approximately 67.7% or RMB160.2 million from approximately
RMB236.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to the
approximately RMB76.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease of profit
before tax for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital resources

As of 31 December 2022, the cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB221.1 million (31 December
2021: RMB281.5 million), of which approximately RMB220.4
million (31 December 2021: RMB279.8 million) was denominated
in Renminbi and approximately RMBO0.7 million (31 December
2021: RMB1.7 million) was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2022, the restricted cash amounted to
approximately RMB180.8 million (31 December 2021: RMB146.8
million), all restricted cash was denominated in Renminbi.

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB672.8 million as of 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
RMB693.0 million), of which approximately RMB395.3 million
was classified as current liabilities (31 December 2021:
RMB288.8 million). Approximately 61.1% (31 December 2021:
55.4%) out of the Group’s total borrowings was fixed interest
rates.

EEEwmE

vl

Bt B AR A

FHERAFTZERRERNFEMEZ KH
EBEBEMNERYZ  IIBREERENT A
X MABEKAEZREYEREE
EMEEAER MOV BKABEE
2021F12ABIB EFEMH A RE1.28
E IR L 481% = # £2022F12A318
IFFEEMNHARBIAEETT °

FREHRAX

My EaiEPENB AR EE
MAPBECEMSRAS R D IZER -
Fr 15 7% 59 X B & £2021F12 A31H I F
EH A REE236.86 & 7T D H167.7%
S AR ¥160.28 BT £ & £2022F12 A
SIBLEFEMHARBIC6EETT ° %
WA ThE ZE RN KRB 22022612 A31H
IEFEBRAERATF E R DT -

RBEE  UBERRERER

HE2022F12831H RE RSB
Y4 B AN REE22118 & Jt (2021412 A31
H:AR®2815B8 L) HAHARE
22048 & T(2021F12A8318: A R &
279.8F BIL) UARKEGHE - HARKOQT
B & T(021FE12A31B: ARBI7TA &
TO) A TTEHE ©

R2022F 128318 SRAFIBEH A A
R #180.8F & T (2021F12A31H: A B
¥146.8B B L) MEXRHIFESHIUA
R¥EFE -

B E2022F12A318  AEEWMEZ A
A ANRB6E72.8H 8 T (20215128
31H: ARM693.06 &) EFHAR
#5395.38 B LW o 8 AR B & & (2021
F12A31H: ARB2888EHE L) A &
B E AR H61.1% (2021F12 A318 -
55.4%) & & & F & -
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BEERWED T

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

R2022%F12A31H
Within Between Between
1year 1to2years 2to5years
E 122% 2Z5F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETE AERTT ARETR

20224 K2021F12A310 » &~ &£ H &
KT B MEE

As at 31 December 2021

72021612 4318
Within Between Between
1 year 110 2 years 210 5 years
1R 1526 2E5F

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT

Bank borrowings ~ SR1TE X 193,000 64,000 66,500 107,800 156,200 =
Other long-term  H it R BER
borrowings 198,840 134,468 12,537 124,377 97,000 151,000
Other current HihmE &0
borrowings 3,500 - - 56,580 = =
395,340 198,468 79,037 088,757 253,200 151,000

Current, total and net assets

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had current assets of
approximately RMB9,663.3 million (31 December 2021:
RMB9,940.8 million) and current liabilities of approximately
RMB7,849.2 million (31 December 2021: RMB8,015.3 million), the
net current assets value slightly decreased from approximately
RMB1,925.5 million as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB1,814.1 million as at 31 December 2022.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB10,029.5 million (31 December 2021:
RMB10,300.0 million) and total liabilities of approximately
RMB8,156.0 million (31 December 2021: RMB8,454.5 million),
representing an increase of net assets or total equity from
approximately RMB1,845.5 million as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB1,873.5 million as at 31 December 2022.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

B E2022F12A831H  AEBEA R
EEHNAREE63.3H & T (2021412 7
31H: AR®9,0408E & T) M AREEE
HAREET7849.28 &L (202112 H318 :
ARM8,0156.388IL) REBEEFER
202112 A31B B 4 A R #1,025.58H &
TTEM T’ E2022F12A3IHH O AR
1 8141B BT o

B E2022F12A31H  AEBHEERLE
B # A R #10,029.58 & 7t (20214128
318 : AR#10,300.068 B ) R EEEHX
A R #8,156.08 & L (2021124318 :
ARS8 454 5B B L) FEES BHER
F2021F12 A31H M £ A K #1,845.58
BT INE2022F12 3B H AR

e —
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Charge on assets

The Group’s borrowings are secured by equity interests of

subsidiaries,

investment properties, properties held or under

development for sale and property, plant and equipment of the
Group.

Contingent liabilities

(@

The Group has provided guarantees to secure obligations
of certain purchasers of the Group’s properties for
repayments. Such guarantees will terminate upon the
earlier of (i) the issuance and transfer of the real estate
ownership certificate, or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgage
loans by the purchasers of the properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take
over the legal title and possession of the related properties
after the relevant legal procedures. The Group’s guarantee
period starts from the date of grant of mortgage. The
Directors consider that the likelihood of default of payments
by the purchasers is minimal and therefore the financial
guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial.

In line with our diversified land acquisition strategies, a
subsidiary of the Group obtained the 20% equity interest of
a project company (the “Associate Company”) which hold
a parcel of land for development through a bidding
process, and remaining 80% equity interests are held by an
independent third party (the “Major Shareholder”). Based
on the investment agreement entered into by the Associate
Company, the subsidiary of the Group and the Major
Shareholder, the Associate Company has to repay the
shareholder loans provided by the Major Shareholder within
a specified timeframe after commencement of presale
activities. If the Associate Company fails to return such
shareholder loan on time, the subsidiary of the Group is
required to provide funding to the Associate Company for
the repayment of the shareholder loans. As at 31
December 2022, such shareholder loans of this Associate
Company are approximately of RMB184 million.

BEEERWED T

AEERE

AEBENERAAKENEAR
s
EMERARDE - BERRK

GEEN
CREME BELEXREFRF
REGIEEM -

HREE

(@

AEECRAKENERBOER
MERBERBER - ZFERE
ROBLHLEEREHERBR S
FMPEERENRBERMUR
?%%EM%@¢°

REERGER EZFERBRIZ

BENRE AEEEAAERIRITE
BEVERERNEZBEASERE
AHE - MASBERBBZEZRRER
éﬁ% ERAMENSEAXER

PrE# AEBNERPERDR
BEMERL BEFTRR/ERAERXR
R AREMERE - Bt - R F
EfENYHERLTEK -

B FIZ Tt T IR BE SRS — B
AEBE—FHMBARETSE —HIER
NE((BHEAT N HBBEBRKIFE
—EFER LT H)20%MKRE - m
B2 T80% A% # Al fg — %ﬁA”“—E
TEEREDFAE - BEBERQF
AEENBA 7&ka%ﬂ¢m
REHE BEQANAREEETH
IR T HEAEETTEZRERIE
HEOREER - WS R AEER
HEEAERRER  AIXEEHN
MBAGARBE ARIREES
LA E BB R E R o 1R2022F12
A31R ' BE AR AEBERRER
HEBANREIBAHEE L -
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In addition, pursuant to the investment agreement, the
subsidiary of the Group also has to compensate for all
losses of the Major Shareholder if the property project is
delayed under certain conditions or that the repayment of
shareholder loan is delayed beyond certain period
stipulated in the investment agreement. The Group
considers the risk of providing funding for repayment of
shareholder loans or any compensation loss is low as the
development progress has been continuously
communicated and mutually agreed, and there is no
material delay of the agreed progress on development of
such property.

The Group has provided certain pledges of its investment
properties, properties held or under development for sale for
bank borrowings of certain third parties and a related party
(collectively referred to as “borrowers”) amounting to
approximately RMB110,500,000. The Group has either
obtained counter-guarantees from the related parties of the
borrowers or these borrowers are related to the suppliers of
the Group. If the borrowers fail to repay the bank borrowings
and the banks demand repayment of outstanding bank
borrowings including accrued interests from the Group, in
such circumstances, the Group has the right to demand
repayment from the borrower’s related parties or to offset
such amount against the account payables due to the
suppliers of the Group. Therefore, the directors consider the
credit risk of these pledges is limited.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

AN RIBERERZ  WWEEE
EEFBEATEL ABRREFRD
BRRHERKREBHZIANET
HIR - AIAKENMEBRBIRAR
TERROMEBRIELMHE- - &
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Key financial ratios: FEBHEER:

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Profitability ratios BRI ZE
Return on assets B EMOHRE 0.8% 3.2%
Return on equity E 25 O] 7R R 4.2% 18.0%
Net profit margin 40 R = 2.7% 11.0%
As of 31 December
M128318
2022 2021
20224 20214
Liquidity ratio bR R o S
Current ratio 7t Bh b & 1.2 1.2
Capital adequacy ratios EXZRLLE
Gearing ratio (note 1) EIRL R (K1) 35.9% 37.5%
Debt to equity ratio (note 2) BREERL R ZE2) 24.1% 22.3%
Note 1: Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings, i1 BEREERBMOESLFBERRE
other long-term borrowings and other current borrowings, MITHER  HMRBERUREM
as a percentage of total equity. MEBEBEFEEAERNBEDLL -

Note 2: Debt to equity ratio is our total debts, minus cash and cash Hao: EBEBERLEERRMNEFBER

equivalents, as a percentage of total equity. RERBEeEEWLEAEZNED
Lt e
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KEY RISK FACTORS

All of our projects are located in Henan Province, the PRC. Our
business continues to be heavily dependent on the performance
of the property markets in Xuchang City and Henan Province.
These property markets may be affected by local, regional,
national and global factors, many of which are beyond our
control and could include economic and financial conditions,
speculative activities in local markets, demand for and supply of
properties, availability of alternative investment choices for
property buyers, inflation, government policies, interest rates and
availability of capital. The selling price per sg.m. and gross profit
margins of our properties vary by the type of properties we
developed and sold, and affected by various factors including
the market demand of the properties located, prevailing local
market prices, the cost of properties constructed and sold.

The property market in the cities in which we have operations or
plan to expand our operations has been competitive. Our
existing and potential competitors include both major national
and regional property developers with expansive operations in
the cities or markets in which we operate as well as local
property developers. We compete with them with respect to a
number of factors, including land acquisition, geographic
location, management expertise, financial resources, access to
transportation infrastructure, size of land reserves, product
quality, brand recognition by customers, customer services and
support, pricing and design quality. We may seek to further
enhance our market presence in these cities amid intense
competition.

In addition, our business is also subject to the general social
conditions in the regions where we operate and in the PRC in
general. Any occurrence of force majeure events, natural
disasters or outbreaks of epidemics and pandemics, including
those caused by avian influenza, swine influenza, Middle East
respiratory syndrome coronavirus or COVID-19 in the regions
where we operate or in the PRC in general, which are beyond
our control, depending on their scale, may cause different
degree of damages to the economy, social conditions,
infrastructure and livelihood of the people of the regions we
operate or in China in general.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to its borrowings. Borrowings at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
Group has not hedged its cash flow or fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
business in the PRC with almost all transactions denominated in
Renminbi. In addition, the majority of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are denominated in Renminbi. Accordingly, the Group is
not exposed to significant foreign currency risk, except for the
bank deposits denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group closely monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will take actions when
necessary.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or
assets during the year ended 31 December 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Directors confirmed that as at the date of this annual report,
there are no current plans to acquire any material investment or
capital assets other than in the Group’s ordinary business of
property development.

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings, other
long-term borrowings and other current borrowings, as a
percentage of total equity. As at 31 December 2022, the gearing
ratio of the Group was approximately 35.9%, representing a
decrease of approximately 1.6 percentage points as compared
with approximately 37.5% as at 31 December 2021.
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TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

Human resource has always been the most valuable resource
of the Group. As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total
workforce of 755 employees (31 December 2021: 739). The
remuneration policy is reviewed by the Board from time to time.
Emoluments of Directors are determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company after considering performance of
the Group, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. In addition to basic remuneration, the Group also
provides medical insurance, social insurance contribution
plans or other pension schemes, and other benefits in kind
to the employees. The Group adopted a five-day work week
policy applying to our certain back office staff to execute the
philosophy of work-life balance.

To improve personnel training and development, the Group
provides a series of employee training programmes, which aims
to accelerate professional growth and identify competences and
talents of diversified teams. High potential staff are preferred and
developed intensively according to the promotion plan towards
the management level. In order to attract and retain suitable
candidates for business development, the Group adopted the
share option scheme as an incentive since November 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FORWARD LOOKING

Looking forward to 2023, we expect to see positive changes in
the real estate market, as the relevant policies become effective.
As one of the economic pillars of China, the real estate industry
is supported by favourable conditions that will contribute to its
future development, despite being in the adjustment stage. First,
China is undergoing urbanisation, with an urbanisation rate still
lower than developed countries. Second, local governments are
gradually introducing measures to accommodate inelastic and
improving housing demand, which help increase homebuyers’
willingness to purchase properties. The real estate market will
stay committed to the principle of “residential properties are
for living, not speculation”. Meanwhile, with the continuous
improvement of a housing system that ensures supply through
multiple sources and provides housing support through multiple
channels, the real estate market will develop in a steady and
healthy manner.

The Group bid farewell to 2022 and welcomed 2023 at the most
difficult time. Yet, considering the introduction of various policies,
2023 is also the beginning of a new hope. The Group will re-
examine the future market environment, formulate effective
strategic plans to advance our business operation, and ensure
the achievement of our goals.
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After enduring the trials and tests of the 2022 pandemic and
the industrial environment, the Group has further consolidated
its brand advantages in the local area. During the sudden
COVID-19 outbreak in early May, the Group procured more than
RMB300,000 worth of vegetables and distributed it to 4,379
households under lockdown for free, garnering praise from the
house owners and the community. This allowed the Group to
further enhance its reputation and gain recognition from the local
government and its customers. In 2023, the Group will continue
to collaborate with government platform companies, optimise
the capital investment for different projects, and stabilise the
scale of our business operation. Improving inventory turnover
remains a key marketing priority in the future. As such, the
Group will continue to increase sales and significantly reduce
the proportion of products with excess inventory by making
appropriate price adjustments and increasing online and offline
promotion of for-sale projects, to achieve our annual sales
targets. As for projects under development, we will strengthen
our node management system, and stabilise the construction
and market deliverance progress of our projects in a timely
manner according to the changes of the market, while also
guaranteeing that quality assurance is the solid foundation for
our future development.

In 2023, the Group will start a new chapter of its business. At
the recently concluded Central Economic Work Conference, the
direction of the 2023 real estate policy was laid out, which was
to “ensure the stable development of the real estate market”.
Although the real estate industry is still in a difficult situation,
with the implementation of favourable policies and their effective
results, the Group’s employees and managers at all levels are
confident in and capable of getting our overall operation back to
the path of stable development.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREBAEBZEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Xiaobing, aged 45, is the executive Director and
Chairman of the Company and was appointed as a Director
on 22 July 2016. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee. Mr. LI Xiaobing joined the Group in October 2004
as the manager of the purchasing department (£ 045 12)
of Xuchang Hengda and has since then served a number of
managerial and directorship positions of various members
of the Group. Mr. LI Xiaobing has extensive experience in
strategic planning, operational management and corporate
administration of property development business in the PRC. He
is also a director of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited, which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

In December 2006, Mr. LI Xiaobing obtained an Executive Master
of Business Administration from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology (Z£ & £ X&) in Wuhan. On May 14, 2020, Mr.
LI Xiaobing was elected as the standing member of the Seventh
Xuchang Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, aged 54, is the executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. He is also a member of the Legal
Compliance Committee. Mr. WANG Zhenfeng joined the Group
in May 2002 and has been the general manager (8 4¢38) of
Xuchang Hengda since November 2006, the director of Xuchang
Hengda since October 2007, the director of Henan Dadi since
August 2012 and chief executive officer ( 42 £ ) of Xuchang
Hengda since February 2013. Mr. WANG Zhenfeng has extensive
experiences in strategic planning, operational and financial
management as well as corporate administration of property
development businesses in the PRC.
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Mr. WANG Zhenfeng obtained an undergraduate degree in
industrial economics ( L % £ /& ) from Henan University of
Finance and Economics* (Jf 8 Bf & % K 2) (the predecessor
of Henan Institute of Finance* (7] Fg 81 & 2 Fx)) in June 1992. He
then attained the qualification of accountant in the speciality of
enterprise accounting (& 2 € &) as conferred by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC* (3 A K HAE B K &) in May 1996,
and also obtained the qualification lawyer certificate ({2 R & #%&
#& &) from the Review Committee of Lawyer Qualification under
the Ministry of Justice of the PRC* (/£ A & 4L F1 B &) )4 S 2 Al
BERB|EZLZE @) in July 2001. He has become a non-practising
member (3E# 2% € 8) of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (F B 5 fift & 5T Al 1 &) since June 2012.

Ms. QI Chunfeng, aged 51, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as a
Director on 19 May 2017. In November 1993, Ms. QI Chunfeng
joined the finance department ( 8 7 2f ) of Xuchang Weidu
Guesthouse Company Limited* (which was a subsidiary of Henan
Dadi prior to disposal of the entire equity interests therein to
Hengda Investment in September 2016) and has been a director
as well as deputy chief executive officer (2l42%;) of Xuchang
Hengda since January 2002 and March 2010 respectively. Ms.
Ql Chunfeng has extensive experiences in financial supervision,
operational management as well as corporate administration of
property development businesses in the PRC.

Ms. QI Chunfeng completed her tertiary studies in the speciality
of computing accountancy (& 5% & 1k) at Xuchang Vocational
Technical College (7 & Bk 2 #1722 Fx) in January 2007.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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EERGREBAEBZEE

Mr. WANG Quan, aged 50, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. Mr. WANG Quan joined Xuchang
Hengda in March 2002 and has since been a deputy chief
executive officer ( &) #2 £ ) of Xuchang Hengda since April
2005, as well as a director of Henan Dadi from August 2012 to
November 2022. Mr. WANG Quan has extensive experiences in
operational management and corporate administration.

Mr. WANG Quan completed his tertiary studies in the speciality
of production mechanics craftsmanship and equipments (#
B3 T # I 8 1%) at the Technical College of Northern China*
(FEJL T ZP7) in July 1996. He then attained in May 2001 the
professional and technical qualification of assistant engineer (B
BT 2AT) in the speciality of mechanics (H4#) as evaluated
by the Elementary Professional and Technical Role Assessment
Committee of State-owned 9676 Factory (Engineering Series)*
(B2NRNREAABIRRINVAEZERNTHRBITZE) and
conferred by the Commission of Science, Technology and
Industry for National Defence of Henan Province* (Ji] B & & [ &}
BHITT%Z8%) Moreover, Mr. WANG Quan also obtained
the intermediate level of economics (A %) in the speciality of
business administration (T 7 %& ¥2) as conferred by the Ministry
of Personnel of the PRC* (FF ZE A R A B A% #6) in November
2001, as well as the intermediate level of finance (& @) and the
intermediate level of fiscal taxation (817 #i U2) as conferred by
the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
PRC* (B A N ERMtt &REEL) respectively in May 2015
and April 2016. Furthermore, Mr. WANG Quan undertook a
number of qualification examinations for securities practitioners
(FFHEMZE ABEK=EH) and was granted passing certificates (A%
48 A 1% &) by the Securities Association of China (51 Bl & % % 1%
)

()
= ).

*

English name for identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kwok Lun, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018.
He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member
of each of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Legal Compliance Committee. Mr. Lee is
currently an independent non-executive Director of Dragon Rise
Group Holdings Limited (BEF & BEIZERBR A F]), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6829) and Wing Chi
Holdings Limited (4 %5 15 i B B2 A 7)), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6080), and a director of Prism
Shanghai and Hong Kong Limited (& 1E i & 5t 61 S5 B R
A7]). Mr. Lee has over 15 years of experience in accounting,
audit, corporate finance and financial management. Mr. Lee has
been appointed as the company secretary of Solis Holdings
Limited (SF#42 M EB R A A]), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2227), with effect from 23 December
2019.

Mr. Lee obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the
University of Hertfordshire in 2006. He is a practising member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
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EERGREBAEBZEE

Mr. WEI Jian, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Wei is currently Managing Director of Sincerity
Investment Holding Limited. He had served for a number of
financial institutions such as in Treasury Department at Bank
of China Sydney Branch, CMC Markets Asia Pacific Pty Ltd.,
City Index Australia Pty Ltd. and China Minsheng Banking
Corporation Limited, Hong Kong branch (7 Bl & 4 R 17 & 17
AR AR EBDTT), and Deputy CEO of China Vered Financial
Holding Corporation Limited. Mr. Wei has over 12 years of
experience in asset management, business development,
financial market operations, corporate advisory and securities
dealing.

Mr. Wei obtained from the Royal Melbourne Institute of
Technology an Advanced Diploma of Business (Marketing) in
October 1999 and a degree of Bachelor of Business (Economics
and Finance) in December 2000, and subsequently the
Postgraduate Diploma in Finance and the Master of Financial
Management from The University of Melbourne in August 2002
and in December 2002 respectively.
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Mr. FANG Cheng, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He
is also the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee
and the Legal Compliance Committee, and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Fang is
currently the responsible officer of GBA Locee Capital Limited on
regulated activity of advising on corporate finance covered under
type 6 licence granted by the SFC. He had served for a number
of financial institutions such as South China Capital Limited (F
#Egh B AR AR]), Lombard Capital Limited (FBE BB EER
‘A 7]), Masterlink Securities (Hong Kong) Corporation Limited (7T
EEH(FEB)BR AT, CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited (12
$R(EB)EANAGR AT, Freeman Corporate Finance Limited
(REZ D EREEAERERAA) Hong Kong International Capital
Management Limited (B BB R EXRE I AR A7), Huarong
International Capital Limited (¥ @ EH R & AR 2 7) and
Huarong International Securities Limited (£ @B % 5 GR Q7).
Mr. Fang has over 17 years of experience in investment banking
and corporate financing activities.

Mr. Fang obtained a bachelor’s degree in transportation
engineering and management (%2 i@ T 12 81 & 12 £) from Feng Chia
University (& B K2 in Taiwan in June 1992 and subsequently a
degree of Master of Business Administration from the Cleveland
State University in the United States in September 1995.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREBAEBZEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LEUNG Kam Fai Anthony, aged 38, has been the chief
financial officer and company secretary of our Company since
December 2016. He is primarily responsible for accounting,
financial as well as company secretarial matters of our Company.
He has extensive experience in handling transactional, annual
auditing and review engagements for public companies.

Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Baptist University in November
2008. Mr. Leung has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2013 and he has
become a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since September 2018.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure
in submitting herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Review of the business of the Group during the year
under review, a discussion on the Group’s future business
development and possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are provided in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 9 and the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 30 of
this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 December 2022 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 10 to 30 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are property development and
property investment in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group seeks to uphold high standard of integrity in all
aspects of business and is committed to ensuring that its affairs
are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulatory
requirements and has formulated and adopted various internal
control measures, approval procedures and training within all
business units at all levels of the Group. During the year, save
as an incidence arising from an inadvertent and unintentional
oversight by a staff member of the Group which resulted in
the Group‘s unintentional non-compliance with Rule 14A.35
of the Listing Rules (for detail, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 3 March 2023), there has been no violation
or breach of relevant laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on the Group.
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RESULTS AND RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements of the Group on pages 142 to 303.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL

No share had been issued by the Company during the year and
details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the Group’s and the Company’s
reserves during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, notes 15 to 17 and in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity owners of the Company was
approximately RMBNIl.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the
Group are shown on pages 305 to 310 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to our shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 304 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Directors’
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. QI Chunfeng

Mr. WANG Quan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FANG Cheng
Mr. LEE Kwok Lun
Mr. WEI Jian

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr. LI
Xiaobing, Mr. WANG Zhenfeng and Mr. LEE Kwok Lun will retire
from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 31 to 37.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years; and is
subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out in
the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years; and is subject to termination by either party in the manner
as set out in the letter of appointment.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ report and in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors, the entity connected with
the Directors, controlling shareholders and any subsidiaries of
the controlling shareholders of the Company had a material
beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
parent company or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
year.
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REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE EEFWREZRESTMAL
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest EEZFWEk AR HTMA TSI
paid individuals are set out in note 29 to the consolidated BHEHR GG BRI 229 o
financial statements.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is EENALERBABTFN L2 EZER
determined with reference to their duties, responsibilities and HoBEERRR O UERAEENEEM
performance and the Group’s results. EE -

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERFTETBRAEREQATR
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN AR EENR G - AEEER 5
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND REEIZTHEENEZRAR

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND/OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2022, being the end of the reporting period R2022F12 A318 + BB R & B RES -
under review, the interests or short positions in the shares, ARREZEREBITHRAERARRR,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and/or its SAEMBEBEIB(EERBILFARBAEGKA
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the EXVER) B M 0 - FB A AR 1) ok (& R
SFO) that Directors and chief executive of the Company as BERBEEAFRBPEKRMFED2MGFE
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 R ERRMATRE 8 - SR IEIZ2ESFRIZA M
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock EAtn 5 A2 ANAF) KA PR = ok
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are as follows: KA FFIBMT

Interests in shares of the Company

WA B B 60 22

Number and class of Approximate percentage

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest securities (Note 1) of shareholding

EE4H 5/ EnME &5 EA R E R way REBNBEDL

Mr. LI Xiaobing Settlor of a discretionary trust 855,000,000 71.25%
ordinary shares (L) Wote 2

FNKEE PREAMETEA 855,000,000

LRBRBRHL) w2

Interest of a controlled corporation 45,000,000 3.75%
ordinary shares (L) ete 3
REEEER 45,000,0008%

ERB B () P
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes to the person with long position in the
shares.

2. These shares were legally and beneficially held by Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited as at 31 December
2022. Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is a
corporate controlling shareholder which is legally and beneficially
wholly-owned by Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever
Commitment (PTC) Limited is the trustee of the family trust,
established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole settlor for the benefit of
a list of discretionary beneficiaries including Mr. LI Xiaobing himself
and any persons or classes of person (save for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s
father and mother) to be appointed by and at the sole discretion
of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee) from time to time.
Given that Mr. LI Xiaobing is the sole settlor of the family trust, he
is therefore deemed to be interested in any shares in which Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is interested by virtue of
the SFO.

3. As at 31 December 2022, these shares were legally and beneficially
held by Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited of which
the entire issued share capital was, in turn, legally and beneficially
held by Mr. LI Xiaobing. Mr. LI Xiaobing is therefore deemed to
be interested in any shares in which Ever Enrichment Enterprise
Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, shareholders (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRRADFNR DR AEBER
DHRERE R

R2022F12A31H * RE(E E= ADQ A
FETHABRINAERR T KRR 7D K
iR mPEEREZESRBEKRAFEXV
HE2RID MR EBAMARAEE 3%
BEESRPEKI FEIKRATEE
MEEMALENEZRLAR  FB 0
T

Number and class of Approximate percentage

Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest securities Note 1) of shareholding

BREAR 5/ EnME E5HEA R E R we REBOEDL

Ever Enhancement Enterprise Beneficial owner 855,000,000 71.25%
Company Limited ordinary shares (L)
BACERERAA EREAA 855,000,000
MR ML)

Ever Commitment Interest of a controlled corporation 855,000,000 71.25%
(PTC) Limited Mere2 ordinary shares (L)
BHILAGTEERRR W RELEER 855,000,000
ERERRH L)

Ms. LIN Wej ete 3 Interest of spouse 900,000,000 75.00%
ordinary shares (L)
Mg & L) BB & 900,000,0008%

EBRRKRAOL
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Notes:

1. The letter “I” denotes to the person/entity with long position in the
shares.

2. As of 31 December 2022, Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company
Limited was one of the controlling shareholders and was wholly-
owned by Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever Commitment (PTC)
Limited is deemed to be interested in any shares in which Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is interested pursuant
to the SFO. Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited is the trustee of the
family trust established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole settlor for
the benefit of a list of discretionary beneficiaries including Mr. LI
Xiaobing himself and any other person or classes of person (save
for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s father and mother) to be appointed by and at
the sole discretion of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee)
from time to time.

3. Ms. LIN Wei is the spouse of Mr. LI Xiaobing. Given that Mr. LI
Xiaobing is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment
Enterprise Company Limited by virtue of the SFO, she will likewise
be deemed to be interested in any shares held by both Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment
Enterprise Company Limited by virtue of the SFO.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group remunerates and provides benefits for its employees
based on current industry practice. Discretionary bonuses are
awarded to staff based on the performance of the Group and
performance of individual staff. In addition, share options may
be granted to eligible employees in accordance with the terms of
the Company’s share option scheme.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement
plans which cover the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC,
and a mandatory provident fund scheme for the employees in
Hong Kong.

The PRC operating entities participate in retirement schemes
organised by the PRC municipal and provincial government
authorities, whereby the PRC operating entities are required to
make contribution at defined rates required by different local
government authorities. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the retirement schemes.
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The Group also operates a mandatory provident fund scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The mandatory provident fund scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the mandatory provident fund
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HKD30,000.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 22 October 2018, which shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 12 November 2018,
subject to early termination by the Company in a general meeting
or by the Board. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to provide incentives to Eligible Person (as defined below) and
is established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
the Eligible Person have had or may have made to the Group.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant
an option to any employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Group and any advisers, consultants, suppliers,
customers, agents to the Group and related entities who, in the
sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Group (collectively the “Eligible Person”).

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of
shares available for issue under options which may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue immediately following completion of the IPO
(but taking no account of any shares which may be allotted or
issued pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option (as
defined in the prospectus)), being 120,000,000 shares. The total
number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme to each Eligible Person in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue as at the date
of grant unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.
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The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board provided that it shall not be less than
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

To accept the option, the grantee shall pay HK$0.01 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant within 30
days from the date of grant. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be
granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from
that date. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save
that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it
has been granted. The Board may in its absolute discretion
determine a minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

No option was granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme during the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2022. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this Directors’ report, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
120,000,000 shares representing approximately 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as elsewhere disclosed in this annual report, no rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company were granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:
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Percentage of the Group’s total
HEAEBUTEREAEZES L

Sales Purchases
tHE B
The largest customer SN S 0.28%
Five largest customers in aggregate hAREP & 1.16%
The largest supplier &AM ERE 14.42%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR EE AR 33.21%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers and its
five largest customers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2022. Details of the
transactions are set out below:

(i) Connected transaction in relation to the sale of
property units in the PRC

On 22 July 2022, Jiari Baocheng, indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the respective
property sale and purchase agreements with Ms. LIN Wei,
the spouse of Mr. LI Xiaobing, the executive Director and
controlling shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which
Jiari Baocheng agreed to sell and Ms. LIN Wei agreed to
purchase the respective property units (being two property
units located at King of the North) at a total consideration of
approximately RMB11,854,000.

On 27 July 2022, Xuchang Hengrong, indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the respective property sale and purchase agreements
with Mr. Ms. LIN Wei and Ms. LI Xinyao, the daughter of
Mr. LI Xiaobing, pursuant to which Xuchang Hengrong
agreed to sell and Ms. LIN Wei and Ms. LI Xinyao agreed
to purchase the respective property units (being 6 property
units located at Hengda Mingzhu) at a total consideration of
approximately RMB2,688,672.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 27 July 2022.

Mr. LI Xiaobing is an executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company and Ms. LIN Wei is the spouse
of Mr. LI Xiaobing. Therefore she is an associate of Mr. LI
Xiaobing and a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A the Listing Rules.

Ms. LI Xinyao is the daughter of Mr. LI Xiaobing and
therefore she is an associate of Mr. LI Xiaobing and a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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(i)

Since certain applicable percentage ratios for the sales of
the relevant property units to each of Ms. LIN Wei and Ms.
LI Xinyao are above 0.1% but less than 5%, the sales of
the relevant property units to each of Ms. LIN Wei and Ms.
LI Xinyao are only subject to reporting and announcement
requirements and are exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule 14A.76(2) of
the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, all consideration has been fully
settled and the property units of King of the North have
been delivered.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Provision of financial assistance to connected
person

On 11 August 2022, Xuchang Hengda, as the pledgor, and
Changge Rural Commercial Bank, as the pledgee, entered
into an Asset Pledge Agreement pursuant to which Xuchang
Hengda agreed to provide the Pledged Assets to Changge
Rural Commercial Bank to secure certain repayment
obligations of Weidu Guesthouse Limited under the Working
Capital Loan Agreement. On the same date, Mr. LI Xiaobing
and Xuchang Hengda entered into the Counter Guarantee
Agreement pursuant to which Mr. LI Xiaobing provided a
personal counter guarantee in favour of the Group to secure
Xuchang Hengda’s potential liabilities under the Asset
Pledge Agreement. Pursuant to a valuation report dated
22 August 2022 prepared by Henan Hengli Real Estate
Assets Valuation Company Limited* (7] 18 37 = ith & & &
T AR R A, a licensed real estate appraisal company in
the PRC and an independent third party to the Group and
its connected persons, the estimated pledge value of the
Pledged Assets was RMB24,245,000.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 March 2023.
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As at the date of the Asset Pledge Agreement, the entire
registered share capital of Weidu Guesthouse Limited
was owned by Henan Hengda Investment. Henan Hengda
Investment was approximately owned by Mr. LI (an executive
Director and controlling shareholder of the Company) as to
approximately 67.1833%, Mr. WANG Zhenfeng (an executive
Director) as to approximately 3.3833%, Ms. QI Chunfeng
(an executive Director) as to approximately 18.65%, Mr. LI
Shixun as to approximately 2.3833% and Ms. CHUN Xiaojun
(all of whom being connected persons) as to approximately
1.15% and two independent third parties as to the remaining
approximately 7.25%, hence Henan Hengda Investment
and Weidu Guesthouse Limited are connected persons
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, as Xuchang Hengda is an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, the transactions
contemplated under the Asset Pledge Agreement constitute
connected transaction of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

Since the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
provision of the Pledged Assets by Xuchang Hengda to
Changge Rural Commercial Bank are above 0.1% but less
than 5%, the transaction was therefore only subject to
reporting and announcement requirements and was exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(M)

Civil engineering construction services

On 20 October 2021, Luohe Hengda Huatai Real Estate
Company Limited (“Luohe Hengda”) entered into the civil
engineering construction contract with Luohe Huatai Real
Estate Group Construction Company Limited. (“Luohe
Huatai Construction”), pursuant to which Luohe Hengda
entrusted Luohe Huatai Construction to provide civil
engineering and construction services for two residential
blocks and the connected garages in a construction
project. The civil engineering construction contract, which
is continuous in nature, was entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Company. The total
consideration is approximately of RMB31,005,000 pursuant
to the terms of the civil engineering construction contract.
The contract term is 560 calendar days from 20 October
2021 to 2 May 2023.

On 19 April 2022, Luohe Hengda entered into the civil
engineering construction contract with Luohe Huatai
Construction, pursuant to which Luohe Hengda entrusted
Luohe Huatai Construction to provide civil engineering
and construction services for a commercial building and
the connected garage in a construction project. The civil
engineering construction contract, which is continuous in
nature, was entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Company. The total consideration is
approximately of RMB4 million pursuant to the terms of the
civil engineering construction contract. The contract term is
560 calendar days from 19 April 2022 to 30 October 2023.

Luohe Hengda was held as to 40% by Luohe Huatai and
60% by Xuchang Hengda; and Luohe Huatai was held as to
49% by two independent third parties and 51% by Linying
Hongtong which in turn held 51% equity interest in Luohe
Huatai Construction. Therefore, Luohe Huatai Construction
is a connected person of the Company by virtue of being
an associate of Luohe Huatai at the subsidiary level.
Accordingly, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
civil engineering construction contract and the transaction
contemplated thereunder constitute a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.
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For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 and 26 October 2021 and 14 and 19
April 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fee charged
by Luohe Huatai Construction for the provision of the
civil engineering and construction services amounted to
approximately RMB5,999,000, which was within the annual
cap of RMB11,000,000 for the same period.

(ii) Property management services

On 30 June 2020, the Company and Hengda Property
Management entered into a revised master property
management service agreement for a term from 1 July 2020
to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive), pursuant to
which the Hengda Property Management agreed to provide
a variety of property management and related services to
our Group.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 June 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees charged
by Hengda Property Management for the provision
of the services under the revised master property
management service agreement amounted to approximately
RMB16,475,000, which was within the annual cap of
RMB17,097,000 for the same period.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors and they
confirmed that the aforesaid transactions were entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (i) on
normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third parties,
and (i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.
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Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has
provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing has come
to their attention which causes them to believe the continuing
connected transactions abovementioned:

()  have not been approved by the Board;

(i)  have not been entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(i) have exceeded their respective annual caps.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group in the normal course of business are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions, which constituted connected transactions not
being exempt from annual reporting requirement under the
Listing Rules, are set out in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” above.
Those fully exempted connected transactions under the Listing
Rules are disclosed in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company has complied with the relevant
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as of 31 December 2022 are set out in notes 18 to 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the
Directors is currently in force.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in the businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group that were required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Li Xiaobing, Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited,
Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever
Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited (each a “Non-Compete
Covenantor”) has entered into a deed of non-competition
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) dated 22 October 2018 in
favour of the Company, pursuant to which they have undertaken
with the Company that they shall not, and shall procure that
their respective associates shall not, directly or indirectly, be
interested, involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete
directly or indirectly with the core business of the Group from
time to time.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of the
Non-Compete Covenantors in respect of their compliance with
the Deed of Non-Competition and the connected transaction
agreements during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed the
Non-Compete Covenantors’ compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition. The independent non-executive Directors confirmed
that the Non-Compete Covenantors were not in breach of the
Deed of Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December
2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

A report on the environmental, social and governance is set out
on pages 58 to 106 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 107 to 128 of this
annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public from the date of listing up to the date of this annual
report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no material events were
undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31 December 2022.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donation of
approximately RMB5,643,000.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 KEBEHZE2022F12A318 L FE 2 4
December 2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, MR REBEERMKESFMER
who will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re- FreEtz - MBS KEE A SRS
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of HRE - MHEERLEEEEET -
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company will be AARBEREEREBFAS LRSS
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the BRNEREEBKESHMEBMA
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LI Xiaobing TEFEHTESE
Chairman and Executive Director Z= Nk
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PURPOSE AND CRITERIA OF THE REPORT

To comply with the requirements set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules, the Group hereby presents its Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) for the year

ended 31 December 2022.

The purpose of the ESG Report is to identify and disclose the
major issues of the Group in relation to the environment, society
and governance (hereafter “ESG”) as well as its key performance
indicators while illustrating its pursuit of sustainable development
and practice of its social responsibility in every aspect.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: Based on our continuous communications
with stakeholders, the Group has established a model for
analysing environmental and social data. Based on our
internal materiality analysis, ESG issues that may impact the
views of stakeholders are disclosed. For details regarding
the materiality analysis on ESG issues, please refer to the
section headed “Materiality of ESG issues”.

Quantitative: ESG data is presented in figures, such
that our ESG performance can be compared to that of
our peers, industry standards and our performance in the
previous year. Details about the basis of calculation will be
further disclosed in relevant sections in this Report.

Balance: All information disclosed in this Report should be
unbiased, with no misleading presentations, selections and
omissions that may unduly influence the decision making of
stakeholders.

Consistency: To ensure comparability, all calculations and
assumptions regarding ESG KPIs are kept consistent with
that of the previous year. We will clearly disclose and inform
stakeholders of any changes to our methodology.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SCOPE AND PERIOD OF THE ESG REPORT

This ESG Report covers the information of Ever Reach and
its selected subsidiaries, a total of 5 companies (2021: 7).
Information about certain subsidiaries were excluded from
this ESG Report, due to their small scale of operation and the
consolidation of project companies in early 2022.

The ESG Report discloses the major issues and key performance
indicators of the main key projects in the operations and
real estate development business of the Group in respect of
environmental management, social responsibility and governance
during the period between 1 January 2022 and 31 December
2022 (hereafter the “Reporting Period”).

Looking forward, Ever Reach believes that sustainable
development will continue to play an important part in its
business operations. In the future, the Group will continue
to improve its data collection and reporting system on
environmental management, social responsibility and
governance performance, and gradually enhance the quality and
comprehensiveness of the ESG Report in the long run.

DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGY

The data used in the ESG Report comes from the relevant
functional departments of Ever Reach and its selected
subsidiaries.

RIR - HERERHE

5 EE K

18 3 15 1% & TF /9 BT B8 2~ R) 5 (2021
FIRMARFES - AR BHKE
NEREE /N RIE B R A E20224F )
HEITEHER WMZEWB AR LR
ARBENRERHE -

R & BB 7R 2022F1 518 £2022412
AB(THBIREHE) FEEER
EBEREEBRIFNEIEZLEBELR
BEER HeEIREAIEMNEAS
EMBEEREIEZ -

RERE BEERAEISEERS
BEEXBTINEEEZAC - BRLAE
BeRfETZ6RRAETE HeEM
REARBRNBBEERERREG &
FRERABENEZLR2E ML -

HERERZE

ABERAERBIERHREEBEERR
EER B AR AR R BRE AR PT o

2022 Annual Report
TBEIFFR

59



60

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHE

CONCERNS OF THE STAKEHOLDERS B ENRET

The Group attaches great importance to its social responsibility CEERUEECRAFERE N K
and sustainability and tries its best to understand the concerns BEEBOHEMBINZE BEHRAEA
of each of its stakeholders and meet their expectations and EERTRMNEBREREFMEKE
requirements through operations and various communication SHMER - UERHERESRER A

channels, so as to grow strong together with them and HEEREANEE -
contribute the greatest value to the community.

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group

BHHE BEINEE SEEE E

Government Operation in The Group adheres to the business philosophy of honesty and
compliance integrity. It has actively fulfilled the obligations of corporate citizens,

Economic growth

Community
construction

BT aRgE
REE K

MR
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and promoted the harmonious development of society, so as to
become a model for corporate citizenship.

We maintain strict compliance with the laws and regulations, paying
taxes honestly, fighting corruption, money laundering and bribery;
we give full play to our strengths in resource integration while
“enacting measures according to local conditions and applying
them on well-chosen targets”; we will further optimize our real
estate development business and strive to establish a strategic
presence in the development of high-end homes and smart
communities.

SFEBRTHETENLERR BEREEBETEEARNER HH
HENMBEER MEEARAHAL -

BRREREERER  KOEAR RBR - REE - RITH - 38
BREXRES [RHE - BEBR] E— P BICEHLERZ
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Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group

HM0E BENEE S E N E E

Customers Product quality, safety The Group insists on thinking from the perspective of customers,
experience & creating value for customers, and taking a customer-oriented

customer services approach. Using this as a source, we have developed the ideal

housings for different groups of people, and meet the needs of our
Privacy & customers now and in future through continuous innovation.

confidentiality
We strive to build high-quality houses and smart living environment
in accordance with the strict quality standards for housing
and building materials. We have set up multiple customer
communication and feedback channels to listen to their opinions
and handle inquiries or complaints. We have in place multiple
protection measures for the privacy of customer data, with those
who have direct access to the customer information required to
sign a Customer Data Confidentiality Agreement.

BF EmEER SERFBUEEFPAEEE  REFRAIGEEE  —UIUEPRFL -
ZEREERBRE NERER RAEATEARBLITERRRE  UBBHEA

BEE R MmeEEPREMARNER -
(YN 0 EREFRNEERZEEMHNEERERE BREREERERE

BEEEERR RUZEEFBEBAMOERE REXFPEAR
REAEIKF HEFPEBRBLAEZELERRE BEEREHE
REBEFEEMNABRIEFEBRRE HH)
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group
BM0E BENEE S EHNE E
Investors Investment returns The Group is accountable to all investors and strives to provide

Corporate information
transparency

Interests protection

KREH K E @R
REEEERE

R RIE
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them with reasonable, sustained and stable returns on their
investments.

We are making great efforts to capture the market trend
while constantly enhancing our management capabilities, our
brand influence and value. We maintain close and transparent
communication with our investors and the market through investor
meetings, shareholders’ meetings and release of annual reports
and interim reports. We have in place a rigorous risk management
and internal control system in cooperation with the internal audit
function, so that the management and audit committee can focus
on the adequacy and effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control system.

SEHHEMEREEAE BHEREEEGAEN  HENNE
R U A e

BEEEMSBE  TEHIREAZEREEN  BtoBTEHREE -
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group
HM0E BENERE SEEMEE
Employees Health & safety The Group believes that its employees are the most valuable

Career development

Training opportunities

il
H

BEEZE

BERER

Tl e

assets. We fully respect the rights and interests of our employees,
and provide them with a platform to exert their talents and achieve
their career development, such that our employees can grow
together and share the operating results with the Company.

We strive to create a competitive work environment, a sound
performance appraisal system and a remuneration and welfare
system while constantly improving our training and development
system, so as to help our employees blend into the long-term
development of the Group, spark off their potentials and enhance
their satisfaction and sense of belonging.
SEGFEEIRNMXREENME ROBEEIHEG AET
REBESIBNERBANTR  BETRCEHRABRAKR &
¥HEETHESZXR -

LEABFINTHELRE ZENEXEZEFTHEANER &
TEBNIRREBR SIEETHEBRAINCEREZRZY
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders
S0 E

Concerns

BEH & E

Response of the Group
SEEMEE

Suppliers

HER

Community

it

Transparency in
procurement
process

Development
opportunities

Commercial integrity

RBREEHE

ERES

BEHRE

Job opportunities

Environment
friendliness &
energy saving

Public welfare

EKE
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We have in place a well-maintained supplier management system,
which enables a clear division of the supervisory functions and
combines supplier assessment and approval, supplier selection and
performance evaluation to oversee the supply chain management in
all aspects.

BRAETENHEREEYNE BREEBENHABELIT HER
M REL HEREERRATE KSE @SB HERE

B o

We are committed to the long-term and ambitious development
of our business and creating more job opportunities for the
community. We will try our best to gradually reduce emission and
consumption of energy, reduce greenhouse gas emission and
improve energy efficiency while vigorously practicing our corporate
social responsibility and promoting the development of philanthropy
in the regions where we operate.

REBBRMBRER AEEZHERE - ZHX B BB IERS
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IMPORTANCE OF THE ESG TOPICS

The Group has conducted an assessment of the importance
of the ESG topics. The factors for consideration include the
strategic objectives and policies of the businesses of the
Group, industry standards, legal and regulatory responsibilities,
environmental protection, resource utilisation, quality control
and employee protection, etc. with the aim of helping the Group
identify important issues. Through such an assessment and
analysis, the Group has identified various major issues and has
described the Group’s response to such important issues in a
more complete and accurate way in the ESG Report.

SEHAHhEREE Materiality Analysis Matrix

A

RIR - HERERHE

ESGEBENEEM

SECHESGHBET TEZE DT
i ZEERXEREENEBBRAR
MBE TERE ERNEETEME
RERE BRER HSEEE EE
REEE UPEERBNEEHE - B
BEZUFEIN  EEBMRNESHRER
ol WA RS E 2 R
SEHERRENEE -

Importance of ESG Topics to the Group

O D P BEEE AR © w0

v

ESGEmE MRS S EEE
Importance of ESG Topics to External Stakeholder
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RIR - HERERHE

Iltem ESG Topic

Item ESG Topic

HE ESGHHE 1HH ESG&E
1 Staff remuneration, benefits and rights 15 Supplier selection and monitoring
(e.g. working hours, rest periods, working
environment)
S TTE B - A8 A AR (f 0 TIERF RS - HEEEENMER
RERAE - TIERE)
2 Customer satisfaction 16 Anti-corruption training provided for Directors
and staff
BEFEMEE MEEFMEIRHENREFHI
&) Occupational health and safety 17 Environmental friendliness of purchased products
and services
BEREMNZ S KRBEMTMRBORERFG
4 Prevention of child labour and forced labour 18 Anti-corruption policies and whistleblowing
procedures
BritEBETIMAS ST REFHE KB RRIZ
5 Staff development, training and promotion 19 Climate change
BETHRMFINEH Rix &1
6 Staff diversity and equal opportunities 20 Water use
BIZTtMTERS KEIREA
7 Compliance with and protection of intellectual 21 Environmental risks (e.g. pollution) and social
property rights risks (e.g. monopoly) for suppliers
3B <F MR & G0 B EE 1 B 7 B0 3R 3R B B (40 - 05 %) At & & B
(%0 : BEHT)
8 Product and service labelling 22 Use of materials (e.g. paper, packaging, raw
materials)
= m AR IR & MEHE A GImER - 8% R
9 Customer information and privacy protection 23 Community support (e.g. donation, volunteer
work)
BEEEMILERE HERXF@INEE - SRRS
10 Hazardous waste generation 24 Exhaust gas emissions
EEREREYMNESE Z= R
11 Sales and marketing (e.g. advertisements) 25 Energy use (e.g. electricity, gas, fuel)
IR E (DI E &) BERERWGIES - A - BED
12 Promotion of local employment 26 Greenhouse gas emissions
e 1 8 1 3t 5 =R BB
13 Measures in relation to environment and natural 27 Non-hazardous waste generation
resources protection
RERBMARAE R E b BEERRVNEL
14 Number of concluded legal cases in relation to 28 Product healthy and safety

corrupt practices (e.g. bribery, extortion, fraud,
and money laundering)
BARBRITRNERREZRERMEE
planggls - B1= - MFFMLE
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According to the Materiality Matrix, items located at the upper
right corner represent ESG topics of higher importance, namely
“staff remuneration, benefits and rights” (such as working hours,
rest periods, working environment), “customer satisfaction”,
“occupational health and safety”, and “prevention of child labour
and forced labour”. The above items are the key drivers for
the sustainable development of the Group and will be further
elaborated below.

THE BOARD’S ESG STATEMENT

In the past 12 months, the coronavirus has brought
unprecedented challenges to the society and the economy. Such
crisis also heightened concerns of the investors and stakeholders
of the Company over ESG issues. Our ESG performance is
inevitably one of the key indicators for demonstrating our
corporate social responsibility and our sustainable growth in the
future.

To strengthen our sustainability management, the Group
has established a governance framework for sustainable
development that progressively integrates sustainability topics
into the basis of the business development strategy of all
business units. By defining the ESG responsibilities of each
department and subsidiary, we were able to root the concept
of sustainability in our workforce and create value for the
communities in which we operate.

The Board is responsible for the overall monitoring of the
Group’s ESG issues, including the development of strategies and
visions relating to ESG, monitoring our actual performance and
progress, as well as considering related risks and opportunities.
In developing its ESG management approach and strategy, the
Board will take into account the materiality assessment and
the feedback collected from its communication with various
stakeholders to determine the sustainability focus of the Group,
and establish the priorities for resource allocation to address
such issues. In addition, the Board and the senior management
will review topics and policies related to the Group’s sustainable
development on an annual basis and make timely changes to the
policies.

RIB - HENRERESE
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RIR - HERERHE

Through our ESG management approach and strategy, the
Group is committed to deliver positive results in its four focus
areas: (i) employee compensation, welfare and rights; (ii)
occupational health and safety; (iiij customer satisfaction; (iv)
prevention of child labour and forced labour. In the face of the
COVID-19 crisis, the Group remains firm in its progress towards
sustainable development. In the future, the Group will continue
to adjust its overall approach and strategy in response to various
factors.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
DISCLOSURE

A. ENVIRONMENT

The Group has been committed to ensuring strict compliance
of its business activities with local laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the “Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of People’s
Republic of China” and the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Wastes”. It also imposes stringent requirements on
the management measures for environmental protection and
discusses the reduction goals with its contractors and requires
them to strictly follow the environmental protection principles.
The Group has also formulated a series of environment
protection measures to reduce emissions and energy
consumption, prevent dust and reduce noise, so as to integrate
environmental management into its daily operation and strive
to minimise the impact of its operations on the environment.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
relating to air emissions, greenhouse gas emissions (“GHG
emissions”), discharges into water and land, and generation
of non-hazardous waste during the reporting period.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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A1 EMISSIONS

Emission reduction is an important issue in the
Group’s environmental protection program, for which
it is making constant efforts to reduce emission in its
daily operations and enhance its energy efficiency.
In our daily operations, we used environment-friendly
devices such as OA office automation system and
watersaving products. Due to the continued outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic, we also encouraged our
employees to hold video conferences more frequently
and reduce the number of business trips during the
year, in order to safeguard employees’ well-being
and enhance work efficiency. As a result, the above
measures were effective in reducing emissions of
greenhouse gases and other air pollutants.

During the Year, the Group included in its assessment
the emissions of greenhouse gas and other air
pollutants by its core projects of the real estate
business and collected data by region and development
projects.
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RIR - HERERHE

A1.1 AIR POLLUTANTS
During the Year, no nitrogen oxide (NOx) and
sulfur oxide (SOx) arose from the Group’s gas

production.

Data for air pollutant emissions from vehicles is as

Al EFTRY

SERAFEERRLEE
MR ELWINO) KT |t
(SO, °

UTREXEBEWNZE RS

follows: R EE
Percentage

Air pollutants/ore 7 Unit 2022 2021 change

ZERITRYIED B 20224 2021F HOLUHR

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) from vehicles kg 64.30 68.67 -6.36%

5 £ 25 4 M0 A 1L P INO ) 5

Sulfur oxides (SOx) from vehicles kg 6.01 6.08 -1.15%

KEE@WNRALYESO) T

Particulate Matter (PM) from vehicles kg 0.43 0.78 -44.87%

KB B TR R OF RE KL (PM) T

Total air pollutants emissions (mote 2 kg 70.74 75.53 -6.34%

1 ZE RS R M a2 Tr

Notes: K aF -

(1)  The data about air pollutants emissions in 2021
included 7 subsidiaries, while the data about
air pollutants emissions in 2022 included 5
subsidiaries.

(2) The calculation method used in the emissions
report above is based on the “How to prepare
an ESG Report-Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock
Exchange.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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A1.2 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

As an active response to the national development
policy of building a low-carbon economy, the
Group implemented the following rules to reduce
emissions:

e Work and construction vehicles should be
driven within their respective speed limits;

e Regarding work vehicles: Employees are
encouraged to make telephone calls to
resolve business matters to reduce vehicle
use. No more than one vehicle will be leased
out for company business conducted at the
same location (or areas nearby) by different
departments. Employees must use public
transportation for one-way trips under 4 km,
and the use of taxis is prohibited;

e A repair approval system for car parts is
strictly enforced. Only broken car parts are
eligible for repair;

° Fuel oil storage equipment is regularly
reviewed to ensure that it is in good condition.
Fuel refills are duly recorded;

e To reduce carbon emission, diesel exhaust
fluid and low-carbon fuels (e.g. Euro V Diesel)
should be used;

° Employees are encouraged to turn off
electronic devices when not in use, enable the
power-saving mode for idle printers, and turn
off air-conditioners and lights after working
hours.
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RIR - HERERHE

Percentage
Scope of greenhouse gas emissions o7 Unit 2022 2021 change
BRERBHEREER By 2022 2021  EAWH®K
Scope 1 Direct greenhouse gas emissions
(note 2)
HEIEERERB KRV
— Greenhouse gas emissions relating  Tonne 29.33 140.41 -7911%
to mobile combustion sources (land,
air, and water transport)
— RBRERNAE RE R A
(L fz=RkKLiES)
Scope 2 Indirect greenhouse gas
emissions
HE2REZEAERBHR
— Purchased electricity Tonne 617.58 2,110.93 -70.74%
— BES 7]
Scope 3 Other indirect greenhouse gas Tonne 19.85 42.33 -5311%
emissions 3
HESHMEEAZEREHERVL A
— Waste paper disposed in landfills Tonne 10.89 24.01 -54.64%
— EEIMERNER A
— Greenhouse gas emissions arising ~ Tonne 4.97 14.35 -65.37%
from the use of electricity by
government departments to treat
freshwater and sewage
— BFMBAERENRERAKRGK B
Fral B H R EREEEN
— Business travels by airplane ote 4 Tonne 3.99 3.97 +0.05%
— B B R AR MR g Wize) A
Total greenhouse gas emissions %9 Tonne 666.76 2,293.67 -70.93%
OB T R HE R Mg
Greenhouse gas emission intensity Tonne/ 2.84 8.40 -66.23%
employee
BERBEEE Wa,
BfIET
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Notes:

(1)

The data for greenhouse gas emissions in
2021 included 7 subsidiaries, while the data for
greenhouse gas emissions in 2022 included 5
subsidiaries.

Committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions,
the Group encouraged employees to commute by
public transport, thereby reducing vehicle usage in
2022.

To gradually enhance the quality and
comprehensiveness of the ESG Report, the Group
urges its staff to collect environmental data to
effectively manage and formulate environmental
protection measures.

During the Reporting Period, some of our
subsidiaries have resumed operations despite the
continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a
result, the demand for business air travel increased
as compared to the previous year.

The calculation method used in the emissions
report above is based on the “How to prepare an
ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock
Exchange.

The Group believes that our continuous efforts to
reduce resource consumption will help lower the
levels of greenhouse gas emissions and achieve
better progress in ESG management.
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RIR - HERERHE

A1.83 HAZARDOUS WASTE PRODUCED

The Group is committed to reducing waste from
its source and adopting recycling practices. The
Group is also committed to avoiding producing
unnecessary waste during the operation of its
real estate development business, through the
adoption of different measures.

AL FTEL B ZEEEY

SERNEBRBRER
BERBAUBRLDEZRY -
HNEEBEHEZRER
SERNEBTRTHE
REETVENERY -

Percentage
Hazardous waste M7 Unit 2022 2021 change
BEBREYVH) B 20224 2021F  BAHER
Total amount of hazardous waste %2 kg 1.21 1.46 -17.12%
EEERYBRE W Mg
— Cleaning chemicals e 9 kg 0.99 0.31 +219.35%
— BBt B mwis Mg
— Electrical appliances kg 0.21 1183 -81.42%
—ETHRME MR
— Batteries kg 0.01 0.02 -50.00%
— &) i
Hazardous waste intensity kg/employee 0.008 0.005 +49.84%
BEBEEYVEE Wa,GALET

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Notes:

(1)

Although hazardous waste only accounts for a
small portion of the Group’s total waste volume, all
hazardous waste is handled in a stringent manner
by the Group. We adopt all necessary prevention
measures in accordance with the Law on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste” to ensure the safety of our staff
and the environment. The calculation method used
in the waste report above is based on the “How to
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the
Stock Exchange.

The data about hazardous waste in 2021 included
7 subsidiaries, while the data for hazardous waste
in 2022 included 5 subsidiaries.

To reduce the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group used more cleaning chemicals. As
a result, the use of cleaning chemicals in 2022
significantly increased.

To gradually enhance the quality and
comprehensiveness of the ESG Report, the Group
urges its staff to collect environmental data to
effectively manage and formulate environmental
protection measures. The Group will continue

to

assess, record and disclose data relating to

greenhouse gas emissions and other information
on an annual basis to further develop emission
reduction targets in the future.

RIR - HERERHE
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A1.4 NON-HAZARDOUS WASTE PRODUCED A4 FTE A EFFEY)

In respect of the construction works, the Group
adopted a variety of environmental protection
measures, for example, in the stage of planning
and construction in real estate development,
the Group tried to reduce land excavation and
mountain damage through careful planning and
design. In addition, waste paper collection bins
are placed in our office area in the hope that our
staff will work together to dispose of waste paper,
magazines, books, newspapers and other paper
products used in our operations for centralized
collection and selling, with the income offsetting
the relevant costs. The Group engages relevant
recyclers to recycle toner cartridges of our printers
when they run out of ink. To reduce paper usage,
we actively encourage our staff to adopt two-sided
printing and reuse single-sided print-outs for
non-legal and general business documents.

The total amount of non-hazardous waste recycled

SEERITERBTS
BRRERE  OIWEFH
ERZENREMERER
o B EB R 8 RET A
BRORAD L HFIEZ - R
ERNRRLERBIAE -
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EAETEY - RSB D
ERMAK EHHBET
EEHNE WRAGEEE
ERMAEERS MK
SRIVENIERTE R & B R A
S e

REFERNBLINE D W B

and processed during the year is recorded as EREEEZEYLHELED
follows: BN
Percentage

Non-hazardous waste Mo 7 Unit 2022 2021 change
mEBERYL) B 20224 2021F HIOLUR
Total amount of non-hazardous waste 3.21 2.68 +19.78%

(note 2) kg
BERRYEEWL) I
Kitchen waste kg 1.50 0.85 +76.47%
T e ]
General office waste kg 1.71 1.83 -6.58%
—MRWREEY T8
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg/employee 0.02 0.01 +116.55%
BEEEVTE WE,/ G EBT
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Notes:

(1)  The data for non-hazardous waste in 2021 included
7 subsidiaries, while the data for non-hazardous
waste in 2022 included 5 subsidiaries.

(2) The calculation method used in the waste report
above is based on the “How to prepare an ESG
Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock
Exchange.

The Group will continue to adhere to the policy
of energy conservation and emission reduction,
reduce paper consumption in an appropriate and
proper way and encourage employees to use
electronic equipment to record information or
cut back on unnecessary printing, for we aim to
further reduce general office waste. Moreover, the
Group encourages its employees to reduce food
waste by buying the amount of food they actually
need during meal times, and checking their
refrigerator regularly to prevent overstorage, which
may lead to food spoilage and wastage.

The Group strictly complies with the relevant
laws relating to waste disposal, including the
requirements under the “Standard for Pollution
Control on Hazardous Waste Incineration of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Standard for
Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Storage of
the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Standard
for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Landfill
of the People’s Republic of China”.
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A2 USE OF RESOURCES

A2.1 Direct and indirect energy consumption

To reduce paper usage, the Group has formulated
the “Administrative Measures for Energy
Conservation and Consumption Reduction” to
encourage its employees to adopt two-sided
printing and reuse single-sided print-outs for
non-legal and general business documents. As
required, the use of office paper is put under strict
control. In terms of business engagements, the
Company mostly uses telephone communication
to reduce the demand for using vehicles, upholds
the mindset of “saving being a glory, waste being
a shame”, and actively implements the energy
conservation strategy of the Group.

In addition, the Group attaches great importance
to cultivating employees’ awareness of energy
conservation and calls on its employees in
various departments to jointly resist the waste
of energy. The Group requires each employee
to switch off computers, lights and other office
equipment at the end of each working day.
When the natural temperature is appropriate,
the air conditioners should not be used. When
the outdoor temperature in summer is higher
than 30° C, the air conditioners can be turned
on. The air conditioners should be set at above
26° C and adjusted to low wind, and the indoor
temperature should be maintained at 25 to 26° C.
In winter, when the outdoor temperature is lower
than 8° C, the air conditioners can be turned on
and set at about 20° C. The room temperature
should be maintained at 18 to 20° C. When the air
conditioners are not in use, they should not be left
in the standby state, and security guards should
be sent to take a patrol after office hours on a
daily basis to check and confirm that all the lights
and other unnecessary power-consuming devices
on each floor have been switched off. At the
same time, compact fluorescent lamps and safety
lamps should be used. The use of electric stoves,
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portable immersion heaters and non-energy saving
appliances with high power consumption is strictly
prohibited. On the other hand, the Group also
promotes the use of energy-saving, efficient, and
environmentally-friendly construction equipment
and electrical appliances recommended by
national and industrial authorities to improve our
energy efficiency. The Group therefore actively
monitors and manages our use of resources to
reduce our operating costs and carbon footprint.

During the year, the Group included various
types of energy consumption by its core projects
of the real estate business into the assessment
and collected data by region and development
projects. The data on energy consumption by the

BREOHE  BH - ER
M TRERETRE -

AR m RS - Bt &
EaaERERRERE
RAER - AR K & &K A
K Fix R By

SESAFEAFHER
BEEZDOIEBNZHERE
TROBFEM A GE S - 8 50
B MEREBERETHENR
K -SEXAFREEEER

Group during the year is set forth as follows: HEMEEBOT
Percentage
Use of energy Unit 2022 2021 change
BER I A By 2022%F 2021F HIOLUER
Non-renewable fuels (direct) ot MWh 106.86 530.15 -79.84%
AUBERB (E#&) 7y KB
Purchased energy (indirect)
BB BE R (B #2)
— Electricity (o7 MWh 1,012.26 3,459.97 70.74%
— T HWE Jk FL B
Total energy consumption 2 MWh 1,119.12 3,990.12 -71.95%
4R e FE (W2 JK L B
Energy consumption intensity MWh/
employee 476 14.62 -67.42%
ERFEERE KRB
B BT
Notes: oz

(1) The data for purchased energy (indirect) in
2021 included 7 subsidiaries, while the data for
purchased energy (indirect) in 2022 included 5
subsidiaries.
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RIR - HERERHE

(2) The calculation method used in the energy
consumption report above is based on the “How
to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the
Stock Exchange.

The Group will continue to monitor its employees’
energy saving in an effort to reduce energy
consumption, achieve energy conservation and
emission reduction and create a green corporate.

A2.2USE OF WATER RESOURCES

The Group is committed to raising the awareness
of its employees on water-saving, to reduce water
consumption. Measures adopted by the Group
include:

e  Putting up posters in our offices to remind
employees not to consume unnecessary
resources;

° Turning off taps that are not in use;

° Requiring our project department to carry out
general inspections of water delivery pipes to
check for leakages, to prevent water wastage;

e Using water efficient products;

° Recycling and reusing water resources;

e Water meters are installed in our offices,
common areas, and construction sites, with
registration and monthly analysis carried out
by a responsible officer based on the water
consumption records of each department.
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All freshwater and flushing water used by the
Group are provided by municipal water supply
authorities with authorised licenses/permits. The
Group faced no issues when purchasing suitable

water.

SEERNAARAKM
HRIAK - HHEFERT
§ PR /R F] A8 A T B K B
BIRE XA NKE
EAMKLEE LHE -

Percentage

Water consumption o 7 Unit 2022 2021 change
Ak wan B 20224 2021  BHOLHER
Total water consumption fete 2 m3 8,011.00 23,414.76 -65.79%
Hokmgwi SR
Water consumption intensity m3/employee 34.09 73.70 53.74
FEKREERE SNHKS

B BT
Notes: K et -

(1)  The data for water consumption in 2021 included 7
subsidiaries, while the data for water consumption

in 2022 included 5 subsidiaries.

(20 The calculation method used in the water
consumption report above is based on the “How
to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the

Stock Exchange.

The Group will continue to assess and record
its water consumption and compare it with the
data from the previous year, to achieve our water
consumption goals in the future. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any
issues relating to the improper use of water in its

business operations.
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A3

A2.5Packaging Materials

The Group’s daily business operations did not
involve the use of packaging materials.

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In order to respond positively to the national strategic
policy which requires speed-up of construction of
conservation-oriented society and implement the
Company’s administrative measures for energy
conservation, make the Company become an efficient,
conserving and energy-saving example, and regulate
the specific management of energy conservation and
consumption reduction of construction enterprises,
the Group actively promotes environment-friendly
concept and instills it in every stage of the entire
construction project, i.e. planning, design, construction
and sale, striving to integrate the concepts of green
and environmental protection into the architectural
style of the Group. The Group also cooperates with
the outstanding design institutes to integrate the
architectural design with the surrounding natural
conditions, and strives to create a comfortable
living space and provide ecological green homes for
customers.

The Group complies with the national and local
environmental protection laws and various types
of environmental protection laws and regulations
promulgated by the PRC as it carries out its project
development, including but not limited to the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, and the “Solid Waste
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China”. In the stage of planning and construction
in real estate development, the Group proactively
communicates with contractors and advocates green
construction work and strives to save resources
and reduce the impact of construction work on the
environment through scientific management and
technological advancement.
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A4 CLIMATE CHANGE

With people and corporates all over the world being
increasingly concerned about the impact brought
about by climate change, sustainable environmental
protection has become a strategic focus in the real
estate industry. The Group has been paying close
attention to the risks posed by climate change, which
will enable us to undergo a smooth transition to a
low-carbon economy and achieve prosperous growth.

Physical risks

Physical risks refer to risks related to physical impacts of climate
change on the Company, which include acute physical risks
driven by specific events, especially weather-related events
such as storms, floods, fires or heat waves. Such events may
cause damage to construction works, affect material supplies
and result in a series of negative impacts. Physical risks also
refer to chronic physical risks arising from long-term shifts in
climate patterns, such as temperature changes, rising sea levels,
reduced water availability, loss of biodiversity, and changes in
land and soil productivity. The Group has developed a “Climate
Change Policy” that covers various events relating to the weather
to reduce acute physical risks.

Transition risks

Transition risks refer to risks arising from the Group’s transition
to a low-carbon and climate resilient economy, which include:
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Policy and legal risks

Despite the impacts of policy changes on the business
environment, the Group’s flexible business model allows
it to adapt to any changes in policies related to climate
change. The Group is committed to maintaining high
environmental standards to meet relevant requirements in its
operations and will continue to invest human and financial
resources in environmental protection efforts as required
under applicable laws and regulations to reduce carbon
footprint. Laws and regulations that we comply with include
but are not limited to the “Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Solid Waste
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. During the Year, the Group complied
with the relevant environmental protection laws and
regulations in relation to exhaust gas and greenhouses gas
emissions, water and land discharge, and the generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The Group did
not violate any environmental protection laws or regulations
of the region where we operate, nor was it subject to
significant fines, non-monetary penalties and litigation
relating to environmental protection.

Technology risks

The Group has always been committed to improving our
construction technology. We will consider to continue our
investment, research and development in this area, with
an aim to reduce the environmental pollution caused by
property development.

Market risks

The property markets in the cities in which we have
operations or plan to expand our operations are competitive.
Our existing and potential competitors include both major
national and regional property developers with expansive
operations in the cities or markets in which we operate as
well as local property developers. The Group is committed
to reducing the environmental impact of our operations and
will seek to further enhance our market presence in these
cities.
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Reputational risks

In response to the public’s views on climate change, the
Group has integrated environmental protection measures in
our business operations. The Group will closely monitor the
carbon footprint of our operations, and further explore other
ways to reduce our impact on the environment.

SOCIETY
B1 EMPLOYMENT

The Group always believes that our employees are
important assets of the Group. The Group adheres
to the people-oriented philosophy and guarantees
employees’ rights and benefits. By creating a pleasant
and healthy work environment, improving the salary
and welfare systems, and increasing the training
opportunities, we encourage employees to actively
carry out career planning, motivate employees’
enthusiasm for work, and enhance employees’ sense
of belonging. The Group has developed a code of
conduct under its employee handbook that helps to
communicate the expectations of the management
team and employees on compensation and welfare,
training and development, and occupational health, in
order to provide protection against unfair or unequal
treatment and discrimination at work.

Policies on Employees’ Compensation and Benefits

In order to attract and retain talents, the Group
takes the characteristics and needs of the posts and
positions into full account when it is hiring people,
forbidding gender discrimination and promoting gender
equality. In addition, for the protection and welfare of
its employees, the Group tries its best to provide them
with good protection and care, including competitive
remuneration, equal and fair pay, a comfortable
and safe work environment, and annual free body
examination etc.
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We provide social insurances for employees such as
pension, medical care, unemployment and maternity
insurance according to national and local provisions.
We also contribute to the housing provident fund for
our employees. Employees’ health and safety are
always our first priority. All workers are required to
comply with safety instructions and receive safety
training on the use of equipment. We also maintain
insurance coverage against personal injuries and
accidents for employees in special positions.

The Group provides heating and cooling subsidies
in the winter and summer, respectively. We also
provide allowances for transportation, communication,
cleaning, missed meals, and hardship for all employees.
Special allowances, such as relocation allowance and
rental subsidy, will be provided to our relocating staff.

We provide benefits for working mothers in accordance
with national regulations, such as paid maternity leave
and breastfeeding leave during our female employees’
pregnancy, childbirth, and breastfeeding periods.

We take the realisation of “internal equity” and “external
competitiveness” as our fundamental principle. The
Group establishes and improves its remuneration
system through “three matchings”, which refer to that
the remuneration matches the value of the position, the
remuneration matches the ability, and the remuneration
matches the performance.

The remuneration of an individual will be determined
with reference to the employee’s personal
qualifications, education background, length of
service in relevant professional fields, actual years of
experience and professional qualification. The salary
scale is assessed according to the employee’s position,
responsibility and obligation, value and experience.
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The Group will conduct a fair and open performance
appraisal for all employees through assessment on the
results of relevant companies and job performance.
Appraisees prepare and summarise the completion of
monthly priorities and record in the form of “Completion
of Monthly Working Plan”, which will be signed by the
appraisers for confirmation. It is an important evidence
for appraisers when making appraisals for appraisees
in respect to the completion of their priorities at the
end of year.

Salaries of employees are paid on an annual or monthly
basis, both of which are composed of fixed salary and
performance bonus. The fixed salary is determined
mainly based on the assessment result of the value
of employees’ positions, and the performance bonus
is determined mainly with reference to the appraisal
results. The salary of employees being paid on an
annual basis comprises of monthly payment part and
year-end payment part. The specific payment method
is implemented according to the terms agreed by both
parties in the acceptance letter.

Equal Opportunity

A good working environment should be free of
discrimination and should provide equal opportunities
for all employees regardless of their age, gender,
ethnicity, skin color, sexual orientation, disability, or
marital status. The Group adhered to the principle of
openness, justice and fairness in recruitment and a
unified principle without discrimination in employment
standards and selection procedures. The Group takes
the characteristics of the posts and positions into full
account when hiring people and fights against gender
discrimination. Those who have made significant
contributions in daily work would be rewarded based
on the reward & punishment measures for employees.
During our annual hiring process, we will give priority to
outstanding employees to receive promotion or training
opportunities.
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Employee Diversity

The Group cares about the diversity of its employees
and constantly expands its recruitment channels
(social recruitment, headhunting, internal and external
referrals, etc.), aiming to maintain the diversity of its
employee structure in such aspects as employee
education, working background and specialties. The
Group analyses the diversity of its current employee
structure on a regular basis to provide guidance for the
follow-up recruitment.

Anti-discrimination and Anti-harassment

The Group’s labour and employment procedures are
strictly aligned with national policies, requirements and
standards on anti-discrimination and no discrimination
against religion, ethnicity, race and gender is found
in policies for recruitment and daily employment
procedures. The Group also strictly adhered to and
observed related institutional norms and ensured
the execution was in place in various ways including
regular reviews, random checks, feedback, notification,
rectification and self-inspection in each subsidiary in
daily work.

The Group has also set clear regulations to severely
punish different kinds of discrimination and harassment
behaviours in violation of the regulations and
encouraged employees to report behaviours that
were against the regulations or incidents harmful to
the Group’s interests. Employees may report related
behaviours through various channels at any time. As
phone numbers and emails of the Group’s management
and head of each department were open to employees,
employees may report anonymously or in their real
names at any time. Human resource and administrative
personnel would collect employee opinions and
suggestions in such ways as making questionnaire
among all employees and doing individual interviews
to gather related information from our employees.
During this reporting year, the Group has not received
any report on discrimination or harassment incidents.
The Group would strictly deal with such reports in
accordance with the laws and regulations once any
reports were submitted.
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B1.1 Employment Highlights B1.1 EIEH X
As of the end of 2022, the total number of B 20226 K - EEER
employees at Ever Reach and its selected METHHBARE IR
subsidiaries was 235, and all of them were HR235A MU EE AR
engaged with labour contracts. All employees WmAXER fMAEEIY
worked in Hong Kong and Mainland China. ERABRTE AN ITHE -
Percentage
Total number of employees by gender o7 Unit 2022 2021 change
RURESNE TRV By 20224 2021 HOLULR
Total number of employees ©?2 No. of people 235 273 -13.92%
@ E T A B A
Male No. of people 151 185 -18.38%
£ A
Female No. of people 84 88 -4.55%
z A
Male-to-female ratio of employees 1.80 210 -14.29%
SLZBT ANE LA
B it
Notes:
(1) 2021FBEIRHEIETRH
(1) The data for total number of employees in NA2022FBETHRH
2021 included 7 subsidiaries, while the data for BIESHE AT °
total number of employees in 2022 included 5
subsidiaries.
(2 LBIBEBEMK
(2)  The calculation method used in the above report FA B 8 5T 75 0K 2 50 B B
regarding the total number of employees is based 2P B R R0 ] 2 A
on the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix RS- Ee@RERARE-
3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published M= SBREEX
by the Stock Exchange. FEIRERES) -
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Total number of employees by age group 7 Percentage

note 2) Unit 2022 2021 change
BRERBEINB IR W2 By 20225 2021F  HAHHER
Aged<30 No. of people 19 54 -64.81%
FRIES0RNAT A
Aged 30-50 No. of people 188 198 -36.91%
F #230-507% A
Aged>50 No. of people 28 21 +33.33%
FHE AR50 A

Notes: Vilza

(1) The data for total number of employees in
2021 included 7 subsidiaries, while the data for
total number of employees in 2022 included 5
subsidiaries.

(2) The calculation method used in the above report
regarding the total number of employees is based
on the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published
by the Stock Exchange.
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B1.2Employee Turnover Rate B1.21EE X FE
As of the end of 2022, the turnover rate of the B E202F K £ EM
Group was 12.45% (2021: the turnover rate of the m K K B12.45% (2021
Group was 13.30%). The tables below set out the FEENEERRAER
employee turnover rate by gender and age group. 13.30%) ° A T ABEBE N

MBS RERBRESTH
BB E -

Percentage
Employee turnover rate by gender ot 7 (note 2) Unit 2022 2021 change
R B8 2 W E SR K RWEE By 2022%F 2021F EBHOLUER
Male % 12.58% 20.00% -37.09%
B
Female % 11.90% 26.14% -54.46%
o8
Notes: B & -
(1) The employee turnover rate in 2021 included 7 (1) 2021FEEREXXBE
subsidiaries, while the employee turnover rate in 7R A 2022F 1B B R
2022 included 5 subsidiaries. KERIESHE AR o
(2) The calculation method used in the above report 2 LrHlEBRAERREM
regarding employee turnover rate is based on the HANGT A EERH
“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Bk 32 P 3% R A9 KA AT £E 4B
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by RIE HEREAME-
the Stock Exchange. iegx = - HE2EREX

BRERIESID -
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Percentage
Employee turnover rate by age group o7 Unit 2022 2021 change
RERBESNEER KRN B 20224 2021F  HAHHER
Aged<30 % 47.37% 54.70% +11.79%
FRIEI0IAT
Aged 30-50 % 8.51% 15.15% -43.82%
F #30-505%
Aged>50 % 14.29% 5.78% +198.86%
F e B 1850

Notes: B i -

(1)  The employee turnover rate in 2021 included 7
subsidiaries, while the employee turnover rate in
2022 included 5 subsidiaries.

(2) The calculation method used in the above report
regarding employee turnover rate is based on the
“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by
the Stock Exchange.

In 2022, due to the reallocation of our staff during the
Reporting Period, the total number of employees this
year decreased significantly. In the future, the Group
will continue to recruit talents from all walks of life
to join us, strive to promote gender equality in the
workplace, and employ people on a merit basis.
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7R E) 20224 & B i
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(@) FitiE Bk E B s A
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JEZIE 530D -

2022 HR&EELHREH
MEEBABENHE - Bt -
KFEEHRANWBRETIAEEFRRN
T TERREBDASER
B BT ESRAEEAL
MAEE  BAORBIZHRS N
B AFRER - AAKE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERRE

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY B2 ERZZ

The Group provides our employees a comfortable
and safe work environment with well-equipped office
hardware. The office building is spacious and clean
with abundant ancillary resources including meeting
rooms, resting areas and etc. The Group carries out
fire drills regularly and always reminds our employees
of paying attention to public safety.

Occupational Health and Safety Protection

During the Reporting Period, due to the continuing
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group and its
employees, we had to adopt more stringent pandemic
prevention measures to protect our employees. In
respect of employee health and medical protection, the
Group provides free health checkup services each year
for employees, and also provides social insurance for
employees, among which includes relevant insurances
for major diseases, accidents, work-related injuries,
outpatient and inpatient medical care.

The Group has been complying with all laws and
regulations relating to health and safety, including but
not limited to the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and the “Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. The Group also has specific safety
requirement documents, with the established goal
of “having zero work injuries throughout the year”.
It conducts safety inspections on site each year to
ensure the health and safety of employees at the
workplace. At the same time, the Company organized a
safety training session, where we covered the following
five topics: safety culture, risk incidents, everyday
safety, construction safety, and safety production in
the summer. The aim of the training session was to
enhance the safety awareness and the safety operation
skills of our staff, to prevent incidents from happening.
During the past three reporting years, the Group did
not have any work-related fatalities nor work days lost
due to work-related injuries.

SERETRMHFELENT
ERR BoBHREEER -
MARBEREMBER BIHA
ZRRARAREERKEE -
NeERE KEEF-SEHS
EHARZEZENERSE K
ARBETIELNHAZE -

BEEFELDIRE

RBEHEAR FRERES
—EXELAKELREREE X
SEEEBEBRENAMNRR
G ARERLER - EE T
FELBREREIH SEEF
2ERBTRHERERBRS
SEREIRBEHERR B
REEBEEALARK B ITH-
FghkEhERSHEERE -

SEETHERRNREMZ 2
HOERMER  BREFRR
(hEARAMBE X)) R(H
EARANBHERBEIE)E -
SENERENR R E X
YR [2FZE2TERIAE
B eEMEBFRIMENTS
2RE AERETIETIIES
AmRENRZE - RAE - 2
ARRTIZEXHHBEFIHFI
B BETIZE2XE s BER
EH-BAREERLE BHER
I%22 EFR2EEIRH
D HERSEILZEEAEM
LERERE EHLXEEN
BHE - EBE=ZFNERBA
AEBEYEBEREBHABERT
BEMAIET  TEBARTEMm
BAMNI(EBRE -
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group highly emphasises employees’ professional
skill improvement, training and learning and encourages
our staff to improve and upgrade their skills through
training, so that they can fully utilise their specialty and
potentials at different positions. The Group encourages
individuals to combine their own specialty and hobbies
with the Group’s business development and proactively
strive for opportunities. In addition, the Group also
encourages employees to take internal job rotation
and develop across functions. The Group has already
set up a mature training and learning system including
hierarchical and classified training and learning maps,
matched with all sorts of training projects. The Group
also has diversified resources and patterns to support
employees’ training and learning, such as online
learning platform, internal training, external training and
SO on.

The Group ensures the pertinence and practicability
when designing training plans. Every year the Group
combines with the need of business development and
sets up corresponding learning projects according
to different business sections, specialties, titles and
levels, job categories so as to make sure employees
of various positions can obtain corresponding training
and learning opportunities and resources according to
their job types. Every year the Group formulates annual
training plans according to the need of businesses
and employees and regularly reviews the plans to
make proper adjustments in order to ensure learning
arrangements conform to the need of business and
employee development.
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In the annual training plan, the Group will formulate
exclusive internal and external learning plans and
opportunities aiming at the present status and
business challenges faced by middle-level and
senior management so as to make sure middle-
level and senior management are provided with rich
learning opportunities. For all the internal training
projects, the Group conducts research before
training and makes evaluation after training, listens
to opinions and suggestions of attendants about
learning arrangements, meanwhile makes relevant
adjustments to the arrangements based on the results
and outcomes of training. The Group’s training plan,
notices about detailed training programs and reports
after training will be informed to employees timely via a
variety of channels.

On 11 February 2022, the Group organised a training
session on legal issues, in which we explained the
viewpoints of the People’s Court on construction
contract disputes during trial practice. In addition, the
Group educated its employees on legal risks commonly
encountered during the construction process and
precautionary measures to be undertaken, to enhance
employees’ awareness of personal security and
understanding of protective measures.

On 25 June 2022, the Group assisted the management
team in hosting an exchange session on cost control
awareness, during which, the general manager of
Deheng Management and Advisory explained the
line of work and standard procedures regarding cost
management and control in an organisation. The head
of the Group’s cost management department made
arrangements for a follow-up assessment on the line of
work regarding cost control, and explained our project
improvement plans. As a result, the Group could use
accurate cost information for price setting to improve
our market competitiveness.

RIB - HENRERESE

RERBIFEF  FEBE
FstHhaRERABNEN
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On 6 July 2022, the Group hosted an exchange
session, in which the China Real Estate Association
(“CREA") gave a lecture on the situation of the real
estate market and the digital transformation of real
estate enterprises. During the session, the CREA
also talked about its understanding and expectations
of the real estate market, and explained how digital
technology can help improve quality of life and how
the construction industry can be empowered by digital
transformation. Through these training sessions, we
understood that the real estate market will continue to
operate steadily and develop with high quality.

On 16 July 2022, the Group organised a training
session on cost control, in which the lecturer evaluated
the performance of our existing staff against job
competency and suitability requirements for cost
management purposes, so that the Group could better
understand the effectiveness of our staff costs.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group could not
conduct training sessions normally due to the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, the percentage
of trained employees decreased to 15.76% of the total
workforce (2021: the percentage of trained employees
accounted for 59.00% of the total workforce), and the
average number of training hours for all employees
decreased to 8.05 hours (2021: the average number
of training hours for all employees was 40.32 hours).
The table below sets out the percentage of trained
employees of the Group by employment category and
gender during the Reporting Period:

Training and development statistics 7 Unit
YR %R R B

RIB - HENRERESE

EREHA - BRFAETM
BENFE SETREE
FAREINIE - Bt ZilE
BEHBETASNLATHRE
15.76% (20214 : 31 B A &
HA A S A559.00%) 0 A K&
BEBFHRIIGETREES.05
NEF(2021F B E BT YT
B 81 B40.32/NB) o LA N A&
BERAREHEANIEIET
N BREY L R B AR R M R &5

Percentage
2022 2021 change

20224 20215 BB

Percentage of trained employees by gender
BRMBBINZIEEESL

Male %
B
Female %
o

Percentage of trained employees by

employment category
RERERNESWZIRETS L
Senior management %
EREBAE
Junior and middle management %
7 -HFHREEAER
General staff %
LTEmE

Note:

(1)  The calculation method used in the above report
regarding the percentage of trained employees is based
on the “How to prepare an ESG Report-Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the
Stock Exchange.

75.87% 76.00% -0.18%
24.14% 24.00% +0.57%

3.45% 8.00% -566.90%
10.34% 80.00% -87.07%
86.21% 12.00% +618.39%

(1) Lt ZF{E S L fI R & AR
RO T EER BB A
BRO(MFAERFRE g
REARS-WE= 12
REBIBRERES) -
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The table below sets out the average number of training
hours of the Group’s staff by employment category and
gender during the Reporting Period:

Training and development statistics 7 Unit
S 6 e By

MTIREERREHMEANE
TEFHFIIE L BB
AR RIE 5

Percentage
2022 2021 change
20215 20215 BALLHER

Average training hours per employee by

gender
BHRE S BERETHIBINEYIRE
Male hour
£ AN
Female hour
% N

Average training hours per employee by
employment category

BRERERNES BE2EREZABINFIEH

Senior management hour
RREBEAB N
Junior and middle management hour
N -FREBAE N
General staff hour
ERBE N
Note:

(1)  The calculation method used in the above report
regarding the average number of training hours of
employees is based on the “How to prepare an ESG
Report-Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”
published by the Stock Exchange.

Looking forward to the future, the Group will step up its
efforts in providing workplace support to employees by
actively organising training sessions to help employees
achieve career advancement and personal growth.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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6.21 42.96 -85.54%
6.48 34.78 -81.38%
26.00 54.87 -52.62%
1.32 169.70 -98.80%
26.41 19.56 +35.01%
Wit
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B4 LABOUR STANDARDS B4 #ZT A

Recruiting talents

The Group adopts internal competition for certain
positions and prioritises the deployment or selection
of suitable qualified employees inside the Group. The
Group advocates employees to participate actively
pursuant to competition conditions and procedures,
and encourages each department to support
employees to participate in internal competition without
barriers. The Group would also apply open elections,
regardless of qualifications, sources and backgrounds,
all applicants must follow the Group’s recruitment
principles and pass the required inspections from all
aspects and our Group only recruits qualified applicant.
The Group takes the Company’s culture and value as
the basic recruitment criteria, and mainly focuses on
the adaptability and also takes into consideration the
future development potential.

The labour policies and standards of the Group strictly
conform to the “Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, and other applicable labour
laws and regulations. Related labour environment,
employment duration, working time, rest and vacation
and other rules all complied with laws and regulations.
Meanwhile, the Group clarified in labour contracts and
also kept employees informed about labour protection,
labour conditions and occupational hazard protection.
The Group also complied with the requirements of
national and local regulations and policies in aspects of
labour handling procedures, procedure completeness
and procedures thereof. The Group will closely monitor
the latest status of related governmental laws and
regulations and make corresponding adjustment and
update about its internal systems and procedures. At
the beginning of every year, the Group also conducts
analysis and evaluation on current systems and policies
and makes optimization and adjustment accordingly.

AT HE

SEHBOHBUETABEIE
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Measures for Prevention of Child Labour or Forced
Labour

The Group has a zero-tolerance approach against
child labor and forced labor during our hiring process.
To prevent the use of child labour and forced
labour, the Group ensures that applicants have the
right to interview and apply for a job voluntarily.
Meanwhile, it sets up a strict approval procedure for
labour employment. Before employment, all sorts of
credentials, files and information should be complete
and shall undergo strict inspection. Employment should
also get approval from all levels of management so as
to effectively avoid child labour or other nonstandard
labour employment. The Group also complies with
equal and voluntary labour employment. When signing
contracts or agreements with employees, the Group will
completely and accurately convey necessary statutory
information such as labour working location, time,
salary and so on. Both parties sign labour contract
or agreement under the voluntary principle in order to
avoid forced labour.
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B5 SUPPLY-CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5 HRE#EEE

The Group has in place a well-established supplier
management system, including a clear division
of supervisory function, supplier assessment and
approval, supplier selection and performance
evaluation, and supervise the supply-chain
management from various aspects. When selecting
suppliers, the Group would inspect their contract
performance, honesty, and legal compliance,
meanwhile incorporate proper appraisal so as to make
a comprehensive evaluation. Through contractual
agreements, the Group required that all the suppliers
must comply with national and local environmental
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, and the “Solid Waste
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. The Group properly evaluated our
suppliers to make sure that they complied with all the
environmental and social requirements and fulfilled
their environmental and social responsibilities. During
the Reporting Period, the total number of suppliers
engaged by Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries
was 411 (2021: 647 partnered suppliers), all of which
were suppliers from Hong Kong and Mainland China.

EERETENHEREEH
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Product Quality Management

The Group highly emphasises product quality
management and establishes a strict product quality
management system within the Group. Every quarter,
the Group carries out an inspection with partnered
vendors to make sure the quality of all products met
standards. The Group also attaches great importance
to provisions of the laws and regulations applicable
to our products, including the “Construction Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, and continuously
pays close attention to and complies with them. The
construction materials that our Group uses are of
high quality, which satisfy the relevant requirements
in terms of construction and environmental protection
on one hand, and promote environmental-friendly and
power-saving construction on the other hand.

The Group also has a complete repair and maintenance
mechanism. Once product defects are found, the
Group would be responsible for repair at its own
costs, and would arrange delivery only upon the
completion of repair works. If customers suffer a
loss due to quality defects, or if there are still quality
problems that seriously affect the normal residential
use of the customer after various repeated repairs,
the Group would definitely follow up carefully and pay
compensation or arrange the return of the house if
appropriate. On the other hand, the Group also has
post-disaster response measures, upon encountering
natural disasters such as typhoons, earthquakes
and fires, the Group will conduct comprehensive
inspection towards buildings and public facilities,
including aluminum doors and windows, entry doors,
railings, curtain walls, public decoration, various water
& electricity systems and equipment, etc., as well as
carrying out repair or reinforcement works according
to the damage level. During the Reporting Period, no
property was subject to repossession after undergoing
the building inspection process, and no complaint were
received.
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Safeguarding and protecting intellectual property (IP)

As one of the leading brands in the Xuchang market,
we are committed to protecting our own IP while
complying with the IP policies of other companies. The
Group attaches great importance to the safeguarding
and protection of IP rights and is in compliance with the
relevant applicable laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the “Patent Law of the People’s Republic
of China”. We have implemented a comprehensive
IPmanagement system to protect both internal and
external IP rights. We also have a contingency plan
in place to provide guidance and solutions for the
handling of any cases in relation to IP infringement.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not record
any material infringement of IP rights.

Protection of consumer data and privacy

The Group strictly complies with the “Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and handles personal information in a
lawful, legal and honest manner. Committed to fully
complying with the privacy policies in relation to its
customers, suppliers, and other related parties, the
Group has created a safe environment where we
can store information in our internal system using
data protection measures, where information can
only be accessed by authorized staff. To prevent
any accidental or unauthorized access, modification
or use of information, the Group will not disclose
personal information of its staff, customers and
suppliers, without prior permission from relevant
parties. All business operations within the Group are
required to comply with our privacy policies and adopt
a zero-tolerance approach against non-compliant
behaviours. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not record any significant breaches of consumer
information and privacy.
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group operates its business in accordance with
high ethical standards and adopts good practices in
the industry in respect of prevention of bribery and
anti-corruption. The Group has always been in strict
compliance with local and national laws such as the
“Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and the “Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, and other relevant anti-corruption
laws in Mainland China and other places. The
Group has in place the “Measures on Integrity and
Self-Discipline Regulation”, which provides guidelines
to employees on how to handle business transactions
with business-related entities and interest related
entities.

According to the guidelines, it is strictly forbidden to
provide any form of payment, gift or offer by means
of bribery or corruption. It is not allowed to abuse
the position to encroach on the Company’s property,
misappropriate public funds, and abuse power for
personal gain.

All employees and representatives of the Group are
required to operate our business and perform their
duties in accordance with the integrity requirements set
out in the “Measures on Integrity and Self-Discipline
Regulation” and in an ethical manner. However, the
Group did not organize any trainings on the “Measures
on Integrity and Self-Discipline Regulation” for its
staff. The Group understands the potential risks
brought by unethical practices to our business and
has zero-tolerance to any form of corruption (including
deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, conspiracy,
misappropriation of public funds and collusion). Any
suspected criminal activities, when found, are reported
to the relevant authorities immediately. During the
Year, the Group did not have any legal cases related to
corruption.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT B8 #ERE

Ever Reach always keeps in mind its social
responsibility as an enterprise when growing its
business. As an accountable and proactive member of
the community, the Group is fully committed to making
positive contributions to help the underprivileged and
those in need.

Ever Reach cooperates with different social
organizations and proactively contributes to community
and charity work. During the Reporting Period, Ever
Reach and its selected subsidiaries donated a total
amount of approximately RMB5.64 million (2021:
donated a total amount of approximately RMB5.29
million) to different organizations, including but not
limited to:

1. Weidu Charity Federation

2. Yuzhou City Charity Federation

3. Dongcheng District Charity Federation

4. Jianan District Charity Federation

5. Changge City Charity Federation

Meanwhile, the Group actively participated in education
and charity. We have been helping students for
many years. Ever Reach always believes that making
donation to education is a current philanthropy that can
benefit the society for generations. In the future, the

Group will continue to repay the society with a positive
attitude and fulfill its corporate social responsibility.
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Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
Ever Reach has strictly complied with the specific
requirements of the central government and
government authorities at all levels regarding epidemic
prevention and control. We proactively adopted relevant
measures, formulated contingency plans, distributed
epidemic prevention supplies, for we have made
epidemic prevention and control our first priority. As
a demonstration of our corporate social responsibility,
Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries took practical
actions and donated approximately RMB2.4236 million
worth of supplies in total (2021: donated RMB542,500
worth of supplies in total) to fight against the epidemic.

On the “99 Public Welfare Day”, the Group mobilized all
staff members, called on the staff of all departments,
party members, and property owners to take active
actions, and encouraged them to make donations.
Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries donated
approximately RMB1.952 million in total (2021: donated
RMB1.623 million in total) in this event.

Tencent’s “99 Public Welfare Day” is an annual public
charity event jointly initiated by the Tencent Charity
Foundation and thousands of other charity groups in
China under the guidance of the Bureau of Internet
Social Work of the Cyberspace Administration of
China and the Social Welfare and Charity Promotion
Department of the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the PRC. It
aims to promote community-wide participation in pubic
welfare events, instill a sense of civic responsibility in
the society, help to eradicate poverty, improve people’s
livelihood, and improve education standards. The topic
of this year’s “99 Public Welfare Day” was “Improving
Livelihoods with Charity ”, which aimed to enhance
people’s awareness on social issues, such that ordinary
citizens can also help fulfil others’ dreams. Thus far,
Ever Reach has made a fair share of contribution to
the creation of a harmonious society by donating
approximately RMB45.62 million to the community.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report in the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended 31
December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has devised its own code of corporate governance
based on the principles and practices as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules which are applicable to the Company.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
‘Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted
by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees
the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiaobing (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng

Ms. Qi Chunfeng

Mr. Wang Quan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fang Cheng

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun

Mr. Wei Jian

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 31 to 37 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
by Mr. Li Xiaobing and Mr. Wang Zhenfeng respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and
daily management and operations generally.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to
ensure a strong independent element on the Board, which
allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment
to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests and to ensure that
independent views are available to the Board.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for
instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism,
the Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The
Board Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the
Board which will collectively discuss the results and the action
plan for improvement, if appropriate.

The implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Independence Evaluation Mechanism is reviewed annually by the
Board. During the year ended 31 December 2022, all Directors
have completed the independence evaluation in the form of a
questionnaire individually. The Board Independence Evaluation
Report was presented to the Board and the evaluation results
were satisfactory.

SREARE

BUFHITES

HE2022F12A31HLFE  EF g —
EFfALETmRABEZEE L =B
FHRTEZTWEEETE D2 AEM
Eh—2BUIERNTEETBEABHEEND
EEEARRSHTHNAEMEEEERERN
RIE °

RRARBWBIZBYIFRITESFRIE L
MR FEIIBGEAEN B LRSI E
BIUIMEXNFEEERRL - A2 F
RRMBABYFRTETORBIAL -

EEgRVMTML

ARRICRIEFEH I EFEHS
HEJREFSABARAABILENR
BERF CEFSANARTEBLH
B AEFH R R gD YHRRE
SREMNERBUBILEE

AENEERRAETENE &TAR
B BEELIANMEE R BT —
FHEROAE - FHBRTEALQF
FEROWNTHNGRRREEFSR
ool RS EENE ARSI R E
BRFEK -

REEFSBIMTHERE B8
HEBYMETFERHN EFEBY
MHEREREREZTS MEFTEH
AR AER KA ESCETTEA I (ER)
EITRENW -

EEe TRV ESEB I ETEES
RIHITIE N BRI - 8 £22022F 127
SIBELEFE 2REEHEEBOEM
ENHRATRBYIEFGE EEE€BE
MM HREERRESTE  AHERD
BwmE -

2022 Annual Report
TBECIFFR

109



110

Corporate Governance Report
"#mAi&&:

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of 3 years, subject to renewal after
the expiry of the then current term.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three of a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would
be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would
be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
organised a training session for Directors. Such training session
covers a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, corporate governance etc. In addition,
relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory update
have been provided to the directors for their reference and
studying.

The record of continuous professional development relating
to director’s duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to date of this report are summarized as
follows:
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Type of Training "ot
3% 5 58 B

Directors

X

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Xiaobing FNKFE A
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng TIRIE & E
Ms. Qi Chunfeng BEERLZL
Mr. Wang Quan FREXEAE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun B A
Mr. Wei Jian BalkaE
Mr. Fang Cheng FAEEAE

Note:

Types of Training

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefits to achieve diversity on the Board. Board diversity policy
has been adopted for the purpose of ensuring that the Board
has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

The Nomination Committee of the Board has the primary
responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates to
become members of the Board based on various measurable
objectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural and educational background, industry and
professional experiences. All nominations and appointments of
the member of the Board will be made on merit basis taking into
account the business of the Company needs from time to time.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one member of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity
policy and the measurable objectives at least annually, and as
appropriate, to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board
in support of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Board are of the view that the current composition of the
Board has achieved the objectives set in the Board Diversity
Policy.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in

M RIZ Tt

ARRFERERAEEZTERNERZ
TTAEER - TREINAFRAPAE

the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior EERFEEFSRaRETER OHE
management as at the date of this Annual Report: RIEL B

Female Male
Z B
Board BExg 14% 86%
1 6
Senior Management SREERE 0% 100%
0 1
Other employees HEMiEE 39% 61%
292 455
Overall workforce TREE 39% 61%
293 462

The gender ratio of employees as at 31 December 2022 is
293:462. The Company when hiring employees considers a
number of factors including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and education background, qualification, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and the Company will make sure achieving gender diversity
across the workforce.

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least
one of female Director and 30% (227) of female employees of the
Group and considers that the above current gender diversity is
satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant
data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 58 to 106 of this Annual Report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted nomination policy which sets out
the objectives, selection in criteria and nomination procedures
for identifying and recommending candidates for appointment
or re-appointment of Directors in order to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level. During the year ended 31
December 2022, no candidate was nominated for directorship.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 4 committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Legal Compliance Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of
the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal
audit function, appointment of external auditors and relevant
scope of works and, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice
without the presence of the Executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Fang Cheng is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management; and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year to
consider the relevant matters regarding the remuneration policy
and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

RE 22022F12A31BIEFE > EXRE

BERTMASE  UWEHTHEEE
MIEEER ﬁiuﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬁi\%
BRAKRZES RREERAPETER
wu&m$§vm ER R E KRR -
ZHEINEZ A MR TESEE - UKk
BMEXHIRLTHE FREYEETET
BELIRE -

BERZEBEENERTESTIHESHNBR
TEHEINEZBEMBITMAREE -

FMEES

FMEEem =B U IERTESRENK
DRIRFELE  TEBEERIR L
EoTEXERFHEZESER -

%Myﬁﬁm%%ﬁ.x*TLW %

BATAIMAENGR - TFHZEEH
IZBERERMENESERSRERE
ENFMAGARE2RESTRAMERE
ENFHHRERAB YHRUANESS
ROEBZR UM BERBEBH MK
RERBRISEAENEERF - R
BREREEIRIEMBBEAZEETH
REHFH

FMZEenNFARABTT-REH MU
%@ﬁ@ﬁ%&@mgﬁgm%wﬁ
RHEMEANEEER -

EEMRESHSREEEFMABIRN
H EZ2022F12A31H IE FE 42 4 B % 3R
=M sE29 o



Corporate Governance Report

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Li Xiaobing, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng and Mr. Lee
Kwok Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Li Xiaobing
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s
Directors’ nomination procedures, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence, time
commitment and other relevant criteria necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors, and
to consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing
for election at the Annual General Meeting. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Wang Zhenfeng, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng
and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Fang Cheng is the chairman of the Legal Compliance Committee.

The principal duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
include monitoring, identifying, reviewing and assessing the
key compliance issues in relation to or arisen in the course
of the Group’s business operations such as, among other
aspects, usage of all acquired parcels of land as well as
construction process and sales arrangements regarding property
development projects; and conducting regular review on the
compliance matters identified by the committee itself, senior
management members of the Group and/or other relevant
parties.

The Legal Compliance Committee held twelve meetings
during the year to monitor, identify, review and assess the key
compliance issues related to various aspects of the Group’s
operations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
are performed by the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this corporate governance report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the
table below:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

e/ BTEERY
Legal

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Compliance Annual General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EE=pg Ezg ENZRE ELET L REZEE HERARZEE RRABEAE
Mr. Li Xiaobing BNk E 6/6 N/A 74 FR N/A T8 FR 1A N/A T8 B 1
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng IRExE 6/6 N/A 1 E B N/A R 8 B N/A 8 A 12/12 111
Ms. Qi Chunfeng BEEERLT 6/6 N/A T3 3 N/A i N/A i N/A 7 1/1
Mr. Wang Quan TREE 6/6 N/A T E A N/A 8 A N/A 8 A N/A R E A 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FEBLE 6/6 212 1/1 17 12112 11
Mr. Wei Jian Balta 6/6 2/2 11 N/A i N/A 48 A 1
Mr. Fang Cheng FiEEE 6/6 2/2 11 1/1 12/12 1/1

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

Bk EERAMBEE

EFemREYAREE RN ES
EUARBHGEEEREREE - HEHE
EEEEMIEBRREEXNEGEFEN
Rk BEAREXRNKERDL N EBIF
HAEMmIEREHRE -

EFEE2HEETMREEERAAT
REEBIEMBAEAENRAREE REE -
BUYSTHZEEEMNERINERERELA
ERER IR o

2022 Annual Report
TBECIFFR

1il©



120

Corporate Governance Report
=== M\Aiﬁﬂ:

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority
for implementation by key business processes and office
functions, including project management, sales and leasing,
financial reporting, human resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes and are reviewed by the Board on annual basis:

e the Board is responsible for and has general oversight of
the management and conduct of the business of the Group,
and is in charge of the overall risk control of the Group.
Any significant business decision involving material risks
are reviewed, analysed and approved at the Board level to
ensure a thorough examination of the associated risks at the
highest corporate governance body.

e the Board and senior management are in charge of overall
business operations and risk monitoring of the Group, and
are responsible for the supervision of the respective fields
of operations as well as the supervision and approval of
any material business decisions of the Group’s project
companies. Procedures and policies are established
setting out clear reporting lines and responsibilities with
a view to facilitating efficient communications among the
Board, regional headquarters and the project companies.
A standardized property development process that governs
each step of the property development activities was also
developed.
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the Audit Committee is responsible for, among others,
maintaining a satisfactory control environment and
an effective system of internal control (including any
arrangements for internal audit) and to review the Group’s
financial information, by monitoring the integrity of the
Group’s financial statements and annual report and
accounts and half-year report and to review significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them.

the Group’s city and site selection decisions are made by
the Board. The project management department at Henan
regional headquarters is in charge of formulating feasibility
studies for development plans and investment strategies,
which takes into account and involves the participation
of other departments, including the finance department,
engineering management department and costs control
department.

for certain operational and market risks, control measures
are adopted at an operational level. For example, major
construction risks are minimised by reviewing background
information on general construction contractors before their
appointment and imposing strict contractual requirements,
while adhering to regular quality control measures overseen
by the Group and third-party construction supervision
companies.

the Company has adopted various internal policies and
procedures for individual employees in respect of different
aspects of the property development process based on
the operational needs. The Company also provides both
in-house and external training to the employees in order to
enhance their industry knowledge to manage the operational
risks.
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e the Company has established anti-fraud and corruption
policy and whistle blowing policy. The policies have listed
out the guideline, activities considered as fraud and
corruption and whistle blowing mechanism for internal staff.
The reporting channel is posted on the Company’s website
for external parties’ reporting. The complaints or report can
be filed through postage or email.

e the Company has also established the policies of financial
reporting and month end financial closing which list out the
guideline on preparing the monthly financial pack, the duties
of different departments, and the procedures of reviewing
and submission of the financial related documents. The
policies also listed out the segregation of duties of the
financial record preparation within the finance department,
reporting channel within the Group and the monthly financial
closing and monitoring procedures. The finance department
of the subsidiaries is responsible for preparing the financial
record on a day-to-day basis and perform monthly financial
closing based on the monthly financial closing checklist. The
monthly financial pack including the financial statements,
cash flow forecast and the key supporting schedule are
reviewed by the finance manager of each subsidiary before
submitting to the Group’s finance department for final
review. The Group’s finance department further reviews and
approves the financial pack received from the subsidiaries
before submission to the Executive Directors for review. The
Board would further discuss the financial performance on a
monthly basis.

The Company has engaged independent consultant to perform
the internal audit function for the Group. The independent
consultant has conducted its internal audit review activities
according to the internal audit plan during the year, and in
particular, reviewed and considered the Group’s internal control
policies in relation to the identifying, reporting and monitoring
of notifiable and connected transactions under the Listing Rules
in response to the incidence relating to the Group’s inadvertent
non-compliance with Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules as
announced by the Company on 3 March 2023. The Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee, the independent consultant
as well as the management report, conducted its annual review
of the risk management and internal control systems, including
the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate.
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The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 129 to 141.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors of the
Company, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
RMB2.3 million.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Leung Kam
Fai Anthony, who is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affair. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, he has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened on requisition
of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
should be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting should
be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Acts or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders

may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will
not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1409, Floor 14, Leighton Centre, 77 Leighton
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors/
Company Secretary)

Email: enquiry@everreachgrp.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. For this purpose, the Company has set up a website
(www.everreachgroup.com), where relevant latest information,
the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation and
development, the Company’s financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year under review, the Company has amended its
Articles of Association. Details of the amendments are set out
in the circular dated 28 April 2022 to the Shareholders. An up
to date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The Company conducted its
annual review of the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy during the year and
concluded that it continues to be effective in engaging with the
Company'’s shareholders.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as
follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

Corporate Communication as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the Directors report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditors report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the
interim report and, where applicable, its summary interim
report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a
circular; and (f) a proxy form. The Corporate Communication
of the Company will be published on the Stock Exchanges
website (wWww.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required
by the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be
provided to Shareholders and non-registered holders of the
Company'’s securities in both English and Chinese versions
or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner
as required by the Listing Rules. Shareholders and non-
registered holders of the Company’s securities shall have
the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese)
or means of receipt of the Corporate Communication (in
printed form or through electronic means).
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(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to

(c)

(d)

the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.)
and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of
Association) on the Stock Exchanges website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchanges website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.everreachgroup.com).

Shareholders Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company
shall provide Shareholders with relevant information on
the resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to
enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on the
proposed resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if
they are unable to attend the meetings. Where appropriate
or required, the Chairman of the Board and other Board
members, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders questions
(if any). The chairman of the independent board committee
(if any) should also be available to answer questions at
any general meeting to approve a connected transaction
or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders approval.

(b)

(c)

(d)
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(e) Shareholders Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, via its online holding
enquiry service at https:/www.tricoris.com, or send email
to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or call its hotline at +852
2980 1333, or go in person to its public counter at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to
be put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries
to the Board by email: enquiry@everreachgrp.com or by
post to Room 1409, Leighton Centre, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to code provision F1.1 of the CG Code which sets
out the factors in consideration of the payment of dividend. In
determining whether to propose a dividend and the relevant
dividend pay-out ratio, the Board will consider, including but not
limited to, the Group’s earnings performance, financial position,
expected working capital requirements, investment requirements,
future expansion plan and general economic condition as well as
other external factors that may have an impact on the business
of the Company. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance
between meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent
capital management with a sustainable dividend policy and
will continually review the same and make modification when
appropriate.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of
Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Ever Reach Group
(Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which are set out on pages 142 to 303, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

1 Recognition of revenue from sales of properties; and

2 Assessment of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

BRETER

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties

BANMEHERBERA

Refer to Notes 4 ‘Critical accounting estimates and
judgements’ and Note 24 ‘Revenue’ to the consolidated
financial statements.
F2HREVBRERWT4EZG 5Tt R A &M
24l Al -

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over
time when the Group’s performance under a sales
contract does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date; otherwise,
the revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
buyer obtains control of the completed property. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, revenue of the Group
from sales of properties was RMB2,850 million, which
was recognised at a point in time.

MEFEMBERAR EEERHESRETHELD
KRElgy ESEEABEBERIERANEE M E5EE
R EIBITEWMEE S A S 8 5K I8 R R R AR
BRIWMAEERNGSE I EEHENE —RE®ER -
B ZE2022F12A31HILFE - BEEEVMEHEMGEEK
A B AR®2,850,000,0007T + 2R E—FEER -

We focus on revenue from sales of properties
recognised at a point in time because of the significant
volume of transactions which requires significant
audit time and effort. The Group recognises revenue
when effective control of ownership is transferred to
the buyers, which is dependent on the contractual
arrangements for the sale and the laws and regulations
in the relevant jurisdiction.
HREARSGEFTEAEFFRERIE  HMAE
RE-—BSHBEERNYEHERA EEEEMA
BNEREHEERZERFBEREA EBURKNE
ENERRTEREBRVEERNERER -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEF NN EEEREETEE

Our procedures in relation to identifying sales
contracts which are subject to revenue recognised
over time include understanding management’s
process in identifying sales contracts with or
without enforceable right to payment, and reading
the key terms of sales contracts, on a sample
basis, to assess the presence of enforceable right
to payment based on the contract terms.
BMEBEANARESHBERRANEESRMIE
FRETHREREEZNNHEAR G EA G MITHE
WHURIER T - A KBEHE SRR RR(E
WMEREE)UARE S FERFH2EFERERKIA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BRETSEGE)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRBETEE BN ETNMEEREREETTSE
Recognition of revenue from sales of properties Our procedures in relation to revenue from sale of
(Continued) . _ properties recognised at a point in time include:
BRI REENE WA (B HMEBRE — B RRME NS RA N FaE

e Understood and evaluated the internal controls
and tested the key internal controls over the
recognition of revenue from sale of properties
at a point in time.

e THERINHEADZEHRAABEENE —RE
BRYEHEMFRATENBERAIDZER

e Selected sales transactions of properties
recognised at a point in time, on a sample
basis, and performed the following
procedures:

e ENMX-—KRHEINVEHERSH(RHMEER
) WERATIREF:

a) Read the signed sales and purchase
agreements to evaluate contractual
arrangements relating to effective transfer
of control.

a) HMECEENEERAUFTEEBANR
THIEEBNERZH -

b) Checked the transfer of effective control
of ownership to relevant documents,
including completion certificates,
occupation permits or customer
acceptance.

by MEMAENERIESEERNEEX
HhEEERIRE BEEFAXHXHER
U E) o

c) Agreed the sales amount of transactions
to the amount set out in the signed sales
and purchase agreements and bank slips.

c) RAXFINHELRECEZEEH R
e e RERITEE -

Based on our audit procedures, we found that
transactions tested were supportable by the
evidence we obtained.

BEBEEMOETER  RMERMAASANRZSA
BB MESHBENZR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BRETSEGE)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRETER EMNEANNEEBRESSE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties Our procedures in relation to management’s
under development and completed properties held assessment of the NRV of PUD and PHS include:
for sale BMEEAEEEBYREPYMERBIELEARTY
HEFEBRPNERSELHERIVENTERFE XA ERFENTENREF B

Refer to Note 4 ‘Critical accounting estimates and e  Obtained an understanding of the management’s

judgements’ and Note 11 ‘Properties held or under internal control and assessment process
development for sale’ to the consolidated financial of the NRV assessment on PUD and PHS,
statements. and assessed the inherent risk of material
FELRRAY B RRNT4A[EZ S R M E XM misstatement by considering the degree of
FN B ELEXRERFEDE] - estimation uncertainty and subjectivity.

s THEREEURETMERFELEEERIY
The properties under development (“PUD”) and ¥ 2R FEMFENRIIZES R EER
completed properties held for sale (‘PHS”) of the Group URFEBERMGA T EEEREHEMNEE -
amounted to RMB6,526 million and RMB2,077 million AEEHBEERERANES R R -
respectively as at 31 December 2022, against which a
provision for impairment of RMB118 million was provided e  Obtained the management’s calculation

as at 31 December 2022, and an amount of impairment schedules on provision for PUD and PHS,
loss of RMB30.65 million was charged to the profit or and tested the completeness of development
loss during the year then ended. The carrying amounts projects and the mathematical accuracy of the
of PUD and PHS are stated at the lower of cost and schedules.

net realisable value (‘NRV”), which are significanttothe ¢ ESEREEBEHHAEPYELBIERELRTY
Group’s total assets. ¥TRBENTER  TAAFABREBEENT

R2022F12A31H  EEERZERWE(HELYE]) TREERFTERNERME -
LEHELERIME(FHELELIYE DN ED A

A A R #6,526,000,0007T & A K #2,077,000,0007T °

Al 72022912 A31H T 1 T A R #118,000,0007T &9

RERE THREBEEZELFEEEZNBRITARE

30,650,000t MR EEE - HERMERFELER
ITYHNEABEEAKARTSZR FE(TERFE])

FRREESE  HEEBREENARKLD -

Determination of the NRV of PUD and PHS involved
significant accounting estimates related to the selling
price, variable selling expenses and, for PUD, the
estimated costs to completion. Given the significant
balance of PUD and PHS and the involvement of
significant accounting estimates, the assessment of
the NRV of these properties is considered a key audit
matter.
EETRETMERFELELRTIMENER FEY
LEREHHEER WEEEER UERAEPYE
AT RIK A ELNE ARG At - EXFERY
FERFELERIVENRBEAR RS REKREG
meEt BPARARTEZFVENAIZE FER —HH
REGER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BRETSEGE)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEGTEE BN EF NN EEEEETEE
Assessment of net realisable value of properties ¢ Tested management’s key estimates, on a
under development and completed properties held sample basis, for:
for sale (Continued) o AFAEEEMBARMGEHGIHEELRE) AR

FEREEPYERSFHELRTYENTE R FE(H)

a) Selling price which was estimated based
on the prevailing market conditions and
ageing profile of PHS. We compared
the estimated selling price to recently
transacted prices by making reference to
the Group’s selling price in the same or
similar projects or the prevailing market
price of comparable properties with
similar type, size and location.

a) ERBIIMARFELERIVENR
BB T EEER o &M & EH
EERELRARGEBERETHEER A2
Z ESEHERNBLUEENEE R
PER  FAERMUEMNAI LY ENIRT
M5 ER o

b) Variable selling expenses which were
estimated based on certain percentage of
selling price. We compared this estimated
percentage with the actual average selling
expenses to revenue ratio of the Group in
recent years.

b) %ﬁ’%%ﬁ'ﬂ%ﬁfﬂ%ﬁ%%‘iff&% E
t RRETHE - HMGZEFTH X
i} E%laﬁixm,\ﬁ’%$i’ﬁ%%5ﬁﬁ
R AR FETHER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BRETSEGE)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEGTEE BMWEF NN EEEREETEE
Assessment of net realisable value of properties c) Estimated costs to completion for PUD.
under development and completed properties held We compared the estimated costs to
for sale (Continued) completion to the budget approved
FEERPYERBELHERIYPEN TSR FEE) by management and examined the

construction contracts or compared
the anticipated completion costs to the
actual costs of similar type of completed
properties of the Group.

c) FMERMENMAERINAR - K&
AR IKANMEREES ENTEEETL
H UImERESR HEBEAKRIK
A BEEEREHNERIMENER
AT ©

e  Compared the NRV assessment and provision
for impairment provided in prior years, on
a sample basis, with the subsequent actual
written-off of the assets and investigated
if any significant variance exists, to assess
the historical estimation accuracy for NRV
assessment and impairment made by
management.

o AT BFER L R EF AR YR E B (R
MEREE)EEREEETERMEL®R I
HEENERNEREZRETHAES  UTHE
BEMEAZRFEIGERBEREBNBET
HEt e EHEE -

Based on our audit procedure, we found the
management estimates on NRV of PUD and PHS
were supportable by the evidence we obtained.
BEBEMOEFREF  BMABRREEEHNAE
PERBEHERTIYMENTZ R FAEN MG
AABBERMESHNEENIR -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the Company’s 2022 Annual Report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mang, Kwong Fung Frederick.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 4 April 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEMBARRR

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iNz3 AR¥ T ARM T T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB R&E 6 37,017 41,978
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 6(b) 17,047 19,721
Investment properties HEME 8 122,520 124,680
Intangible assets mEEE 7 13,825 14,553
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE &= 23 175,793 158,248
An investment accounted for using #R R AT BERIRE
the equity method 9 - =
Total non-current assets IEMBEELE 366,202 359,180
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments for leasehold land HE T BN FIE 10 232,990 80,490
Properties held or under BEHEIABEHREE
development for sale ) % 11 8,485,272 8,915,148
Trade and other receivables and B 5 I H fth JE U I8 0
prepayments AR 12 423,473 399,757
Prepaid income taxes TR ER 113,271 104,697
Contract costs & B A 6,451 6,234
Financial assets at fair value EAFEEBESARD
through profit or loss TREE 13 - 6,155
Restricted cash PR HIR e 14(b) 180,778 146,836
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBREEEEY 14(a) 221,059 281,489
Total current assets nREBEERE 9,663,294 9,940,806
Total assets BmEE 10,029,496 10,299,986

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) ARLR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBARR R

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K it AR¥FT AR FT
EQUITY =
Share capital fig A& 15 10,645 10,645
Share premium % 7 & (8 16 299,188 299,188
Retained earnings fRE B F| 16 1,272,885 1,252,647
Other reserves HAth % 17 188,715 184,392
Equity attributable to owners KRR ABEMLER
of the Company 1,771,433 1,746,872
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR #E = 39 102,034 98,588
Total equity MR 1,873,467 1,845,460
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITIE K 18 130,500 156,200
Other long-term borrowings H ity K HAfE 3K 20 147,005 248,000
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFHIBAEE 23 15,900 18,877
Lease liabilities HEAaE 6(b) 13,441 16,191
Total non-current liabilities JEmBAERE 306,846 439,268
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEMBARRR

As at 31 December

MW12A831H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iNz3 AR¥ T ARETFor
Current liabilities REBaE
Bank borrowings RITHER 18 193,000 107,800
Other current borrowings HAth BIHA B K 19 3,500 56,580
Current portion of other long-term  E th & Hi & ZX &9 B 28 26 75
borrowings 20 198,840 124,377
Contract liabilities ERAE 21 4,854,156 5,212,558
Trade and other payables B 5 & EMEMASRE 22 2,272,588 2,064,502
Current income tax liabilities ENEAFTIS B B E 319,890 444,724
Lease liabilities HEAaE 6(b) 7,209 4,717
Total current liabilities mEBE R 7,849,183 8,015,258
Total liabilities wEE 8,156,029 8,454,526
Total equity and liabilities BREZREE 10,029,496 10,299,986

The consolidated financial statements on page 142 to 303 were
approved by the board of directors on 4 April 2023 and the
consolidated statement of financial position was signed on its
behalf by:

Li Xiaobing
=Nk
Director

EZ

The above consolidated statement of financial position should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

F1422 3038 M 4R & B 75 3f % B 122023
FAR4B R AR EST e A B S
PERREKBATIATREEZRE:

Wang Zhenfeng
iR
Director

EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

H1 it ARE TR ARET T

Revenue PN 24 2,861,771 2,767,678
Cost of sales [N 26 (2,440,395) (1,916,191)
Gross profit EX 421,376 851,487
Fair value (losses)/gains on KEMENRFE

investment properties (E518),/ M=% 8 (2,160) 8,050
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSHERERX 26 (124,270) (139,620)
Administrative expenses TR 26 (135,658) (162,207)
Net reversal/(losses) of impairment & [Q @& ERE,

on financial assets (EREEREERE) 26 411 (2,100)
Other income EH b A 2,841 4,092
Other losses — net HMEE — F58 25 (8,131) (20,052)
Operating profit K E 154,409 539,650
Finance income B R UL A 27 1,146 1,566
Finance costs B 755 Bk 7R 27 (1,137) (1,237)
Finance income — net KA — F5 9 329
Profit before income tax B Pt 18 Bt A R 154,418 539,979
Income tax expense Frg i 30 (76,649) (236,810)
Profit for the year FRRHE 77,769 303,169

2022 Al IR rt
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

1 it ARE TR ARET T

Attributable to: TH BT
Owners of the Company RABHER A 84,812 306,913
Non-controlling interests FE VR AR = (7,043) (3,744)
77,769 303,169

Earnings per share attributable ZXATEEAEBEEREF

to the owners of the Company YN - EX)

(expressed in RMB)

— Basic and diluted earnings — BREAREERF

per share &l 0.07 0.26

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should Lilfm B R ERENGEE VB HRE
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the MIsE—PHBI3E -
consolidated financial statements.

1 46 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEEHEWE

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT A RETFor
Profit for the year F )R 77,769 303,169
Other comprehensive income Ht 2 EK A - =
Total comprehensive income for the year, FARAZHEW A £ %8
net of tax (MBRFIE) 77,769 303,169
Attributable to: THEHTHE:
Owners of the Company iN/NETE F =N 84,812 306,913
Non-controlling interests FE 1= P == (7,043) (3,744)
77,769 303,169

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to

the consolidated financial statements.

b azml R ERENZE W
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meEREER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARBARE

Non-
Share Share  Retained Other controlling Total
capital  premium  earnings  reserves  Sub-total interests equity
Rx  RHEE REEH H4RE Mt FEREE  4EE
Note  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi ARBTT AREFL ARETT ARETL AREFL ARETT AREFZ

At 1 January 2021 R 202151818 10,645 299,188 1,022,188 167,938 1,499,959 30,181 1,530,090
Comprehensive income 2EHA
Profit for the year ERFIE - = 306,913 = 306,913 (3,744) 308,169
Other comprehensive income Eh2ENE - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income ER2ENELE

for the year = = 306,913 = 306,913 (3,744) 308,169
Transactions with owners HEEANR S
2021 final dividend WNERBRE - - (60,000) - (60,000) - (80,000)
Appropriation to statutory reserves ERTATRE 17 - - (16454 16454 - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR - - - - - 72,151 72,151
Capital contributions from non- FERERTE

controlling interests = = = = = 50 50
Total transactions with owners REARSAE = - (76454 16454 (BO,000) 72,201 12,201
At 31 December 2021 # 2021128318 10,645 299,188 1,262,647 184,392 1,746,872 08,588 1,845,460
At 1 January 2022 202251818 10,645 299,188 1,252,647 184,392 1,746,872 98,588 1,845,460
Comprehensive income 2EHA
Profit for the year ERAHE - - 84p12 - 84p12 (7,048 77,769
Other comprehensive income EhzEkE - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income ERPENELE

for the year - - 84,812 - 84,812 (7,043) 71,769
Transactions with owners HERANR S
2022 final dividend N0ERERE - - (59,998) - (59,998) - (59,998)
Appropriation to statutory reserves BETITHE 17 - - (4,576) 4,576 - - -
Capital contributions from non- FERRFTE

controlling interests - - - - - 15,600 15,600
Transactions with non-controling RERRERNRS 17

interests - - - (253) (253) (5,111) (5,364)
Total transactions with owners REARSAE - - (64,574) 4323 (60,251 10489 (49,762
At 31 December 2022 R2020%12 4318 10,645 299,188 1,272,885 188,715 1,771,433 102,034 1,873,467
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should Liifr e m SR ELEBH KRG WB
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the WERMFE— BB -

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

|V - EE'%/)"JE%

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AREFor
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBRLRE
Net cash generated from operations EEEARE FHE
(Note 33(a)) (#1 7#33(a) 286,673 155,239
Interest paid B2 F B (60,416) (63,059)
PRC income tax paid EER l Frig (165,803) (185,270)
PRC land appreciation tax paid BT E 1 I E R (64,776) (77,559)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHFFARSFEHE (4,322) (170,649)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBFBESARE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE - J*);E%&?&ﬁ (4,377) (5,362)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERATEEAER AR
through profit or loss MR EE - (6,000)
Redemption of financial assets at fair value BREATFEEREBER AR
through profit or loss WEFEE 6,000 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HE W% BB & & &
equipment (Note 33(b)) P15 3R I8 (K1 72 33(b)) 77 81
Temporary funding provided to third parties S =H 2 BREE (25,000) (631,500)
Repayments received from third parties B =7 WA HE R 95,000 398,190
Temporary funding provided to a related party [F) BBt 77 IR L GBS & & (290) —
Repayments received from a related party B 8 B 5 WA 9 58 3K 2,000 —
Return of prepayment for leasehold land EBEHEELHWIEMKIE - 137,500
Payments for acquisition of equity interests U B8 A% #& <t 3% (41,900) (148,847)
Interest received 2 U R 8 1,146 1,566
Restricted cash deposits % BRI IR 17 K (33,942) (27,834)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHMAEESFE (1,286) (282,206)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr ARETFor
Cash flows from financing activities METBMEEESRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEZATISRIE 292,500 348,000
Repayments of bank borrowings EZRITERK (233,000) (223,000)
Proceeds from other borrowings H A {8 R AT 15 518 68,468 160,000
Repayments of other borrowings EEHMBER (95,000) (136,000)
Temporary funding received from related KEBABINBRREES
parties (Note 36(b)(iii) (K1 736(b)iii) 265,860 150,294
Repayments to a related party (Note 36(b)(iv) [0 B85t 15 & 3k (f1 5236(b)(iv)) (273,876) (134,468)
Temporary funding from third parties REEF=ZFTHERES 25,800 176,690
Repayments to third parties ME=ZFEX (13,950) (96,140)
Temporary funding received from non- REFZEREROGRED
controlling interests 119,633 81,018
Repayments to non-controlling interests MIEEBRERER (163,706) (80,300)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests 3F1% i # 25 /5 & 15,600 50
Payments of lease liabilities TRHEEEE (3,153) (6,304)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BENEARBIHAEARE (59,998) (60,000)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BmEFESH(FTA) e
financing activities R&FHE (54,822) 179,840
Net decrease in cash and cash ReERESZEEY
equivalents WA FE (60,430) (273,015)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FUHReRREEEY
year 281,489 554,504
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRXRIRERBSEEY
(Note 14) (41 & 14) 221,059 281,489

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited (Cayman
Islands Company Number: 313570, the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 July 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 12 November 2018 (the “Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

e PR wRME

—REH

BEEBRER)BERAR(HA=E
B AR # 5 313570 ' [AQ A R
2016F7H22B £ [ & & & & fit &
VREEREBRAR o Haf s
Bz b 4iF & Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARAB—RREERRA - AR
AREKBRR(GESIAEE])
TE2EPEARAMBEIRED I
EMEFRER -

AN A AR D R2018E11 B12A N &
BHARXSAER AR (H#R A
FREMTEMD -

BRIESZBER ST BE®mKR TN
ARBETITES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

(i)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs) and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs Reporting
Standards and disclosure requirements of the
HKCO (Cap. 622).

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
followings:

e financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss — measured at fair value through profit
or loss, and

° investment properties — measured at fair

value

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs which
require the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 EXRERHEMEE)

21 mEBEE(E)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) Going concern

(iii) AT E 2

The Group has been experiencing certain
slowing down of the local property market and
the pre-sales volume and collection of pre-sale
proceeds reduced accordingly in 2022. The cash
collection from sales and pre-sales dropped
significantly from RMB4.2 billion for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to RMB2.5 billion for
the year ended 31 December 2022, and cash and
cash equivalents balance of the Group reduced
from RMB281.5 million at 31 December 2021 to
RMB221.1 million at 31 December 2022. Above
situations imposed liquidity pressure on the Group.

In view of such circumstances, the directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial sources to
continue as a going concern, and continue to take
the following measures to maintain sufficient cash
to meet its operation needs and commitments in
respect of property projects:

()  The Group will continue to actively adjust

R2022F  AEEKET
AHEMHE THREBR
EEERBEEMBRIEN
WHBEEL R - BHEE
MEEESHWEA IR S H
B E2021F12 8318 It &
E WA R K428 T K IE R
b7 H £2022912/831H
IEFEMNARBET
MASBENRE RS
B ¥ 4 & 2021912 A 31
Bt A R281.58 8 T
b E=2022%12 A31H B9 A
R#o211BE L LallE
MEHAEBN R MR
A o

EREBEBR EERNT
HEAEBMRESHEREHTHK
BRFBEKER  BFMHA
EEANEE KRR E
RFRI[ARA] A& 2R -
e # BRI A TG -
NHEERZHANBESERR
EEERRBTEBEYME
T8 B H)#Eh

() AEEBESEESH

sales and pre-sale activities to better respond BHEREEEE
to market needs, make efforts to achieve LA S8 4F Hb [ & 71 35
the latest budgeted sales and pre-sales K- BHEBRZIH
volumes and amounts, and timely monitor the EEHEHERBEEHE

collection of sales and pre-sales proceeds;

R& B A RERH
EREEMFTRIAN
Ko b YR 1B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) Going concern (continued)

(if)

(iil)

The Group will maintain continuous
communication and agree with major
constructors and suppliers to arrange
payments to these vendors and complete
the construction progress as scheduled, and
settle the land appreciation tax upon tax
clearance;

The Group will continue to actively
communicate with relevant banks and other
financial institutions so that the Group can
timely secure necessary project development
loans or negotiate a better repayment
schedule for its loans for qualified project
development; and

The Group will continuously cooperate
with the related parties and non-controlling
interests of the project companies to provide
funding support to ensure the development
and sales of all existing projects as budgeted
without material interruptions.

Management has prepared the Group’s cash
flow forecast which covers a period of at least 12
months from 31 December 2022. The cash flow
forecast has taken into accounts the anticipated
cash flows generated from the Group’s operations,
scheduled repayment of borrowings, obtaining
of new borrowings and obtaining necessary
funding support from the related parties and non-
controlling interests of project companies.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) Going concern (continued)

(iv)

The directors, after making due enquiries and
considering the basis of Group’s cash flow
forecast and continuous measures described
above, believe that the Group will be able to
generate sufficient funds to finance its operations
and to meet its financial obligations when they fall
due within the next 12 months from 31 December
2022. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

New standards and amendments of
HKFRSs effective in 2022

The Group has applied the following new
standards and amendments for the first time for
its annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2022:

° Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use — Amendments to
HKAS 16

e Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract — Amendments to HKAS 37

e Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

e Reference to the Conceptual Framework —
Amendments to HKFRS 3

2 EXRERHEMEE)

21 mEBEE(E)

(iii) FFHEAEEE E (F)

(iv)

EERFEHTATHAEE
BASENE S REAR
REFERENEERRR
AEBERERNELERRE
TERHEEERHKES
LA K & 17 2022412 A 31
B & K 1218 A A 2 5
MPBEEE Atk EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New standards and amendments of
HKFRSs effective in 2022 (continued)

e  Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021 — Amendment to HKFRS 16
(March 2021)

e Amendments to AG 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations

° Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction =
amendments to HKAS 12

° Disclosure of Accounting Policies =
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 EXRERHEMEE)

21 RREE(AE)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(v) = K B R AR B9 F 2T R AZ

(v) New standards and amendments of

HKFRSs not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and
amendments to accounting standards have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2022 reporting periods and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These standards and
amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future

BITEEBMBEHEER

AEETERERMNE T
B 78 7 {8 12022412 A 31
H & 3R &5 HA 0 48 58 1) 4 &K
B 3T & 52 B k2 5 % R
BEIA - HHZEERR
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reporting periods and on foreseeable future AERARNRIEKRE
transactions. -2

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.2 BT
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1Consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost. Under the
equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit
or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in
other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 EXRERHEMEE)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued) 2.2 MtBAR (&)

2.2.1Consolidation (continued) 221458 R E (&)
(a) Business combinations (@) HBEG
The Group applies the acquisition method REBRERE MR
to account for business combinations. The AN BE R A BR o B8
consideration transferred for the acquisition oINSl B R
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets BREBEFMEENEE -
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the UK BB T =15 A
former owners of the acquiree business, the BAFMEENAED
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from NEE B ARE
a contingent consideration arrangement, and ZTHEENERNEE
fair value of any pre-existing equity interest SBEENAFE N
in the subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired NENLEEINGIR: R b
and liabilities and contingent liabilities EERNERDN AT

assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.
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The Group recognises any non-controlling N & B Iz E B Y B E
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition- A R T 8

by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1Consolidation (continued)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date; any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previously held equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1Consolidation (continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

(]

without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. It means
the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specifically permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). Since the majority of the assets and
operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
the financial information is presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the
Company and the presentation currency of the
Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, within “Finance income or expenses”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss within “Other gains/(loss) — net”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

() assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position are translated at the closing
rate;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates; and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as executive directors that makes
strategic decisions.

2 EXRERHEMEE)

2.3

2.4

IR (4F)
(c) EFRT

HAREETHEER
BESLRBEBRKENE
BINEEEREZSER
TR AZEFEBNEEA
K RO AT 77 R
BEREJNNE:

() SHHBRREME
R R E X
mY

(i) SBRmRREEHEA
e NS
HEXBE R

(i) FTAE H LM E A R E
REBEREME2ERK
AHRHER °

R BB 8 SN E 88 & £ 1
BMERAFEFAE  5F
REZBHNEBNEENREA
(EWEBE N 27 G -3 S

i 5

7RI E

REDMILMER T BLER
RENXTERERREBDRERMH
AMHBE —HOTAHRE - 8
ENEEREF[HEED X
BNTERERRECHIR
FHEERRNATES -

2022 Annual Report
TBEIFFR

163



164

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the statement of profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Motor vehicles 4 years

— Furniture, fittings and 5 years
equipment

— Electronic devices 3-5 years

— Buildings 20 years

— Leasehold improvements the shorter of lease terms
or useful lives

The assets’ residual value and useful life are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised as “Other losses — net” in the statement of
profit or loss.
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e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Intangible assets

2.7

Licenses

Separately acquired licenses are shown at historic
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They
have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Licenses is amortised using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

— Licenses 20 years

Properties held or under development for sale

Properties held or under development for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Development cost of properties comprises cost of
land use rights (including land auction price, other
demolition cost to acquire land and resettlement
housing construction costs after deducting related
government grants), construction costs and borrowing
costs incurred during the construction period. Upon
completion, the properties under development are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to
completion.

Properties held or under development for sale are
classified as current assets unless the construction
period of the relevant property development project is
expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the Group. It also includes properties
that are being constructed or developed for future use
as investment properties. Land held under operating
leases are accounted for as investment properties
when the rest of the definition of an investment
property is met. In such cases, the operating leases
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance
leases. Investment property is initially measured at
cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined by
management of the Group at each reporting date
taking into account of any available valuation results
performed by external valuers. Fair value is based on
active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition of the
specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in
the statement of profit or loss as a separate line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

Land use rights

Land in mainland China is state-owned and no
individual land ownership right exists. The Group
acquired the rights to certain land, and the premiums
paid for such rights are recorded as land use rights.
Land use rights are classified and accounted for
in accordance with the intended use of respective
properties as erected on the land.

For properties that are held for own use, corresponding
land use rights are regarded as right-of-use assets, and
are stated at cost and amortised over the use terms
using the straight-line method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Land use rights (continued)

For properties that are under development and held for
sale, corresponding land use rights are accounted for
as part of the development costs, and are accounted
for in accordance with the policy stated in Note 2.7.

For properties that are held as investment properties,
corresponding land use rights are accounted for as
part of the costs, and are accounted for in accordance
with the policy stated in Note 2.8.

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
2.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
debt instruments, this will depend on the business
model in which the investment is held. For
investments in equity instruments, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEERBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets 211 REFEHMWEMEE (F)
(continued)

2111 5 % (&)

2.11.1 Classification (continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.11.2Recognition and measurement

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group
classified its debt instruments into the following
measurement category:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
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collection of contractual cash flows where SRBERENEE -
those cash flows represent solely payments WZEEERERE
of principal and interest are measured at EEXNHARE RF
amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt B B IR B E A R F

investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.11.2Recognition and measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established. Changes
in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in other
gains/(losses) — net in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income are
not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.
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e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEERBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets 211 REFEHMWEMEE (F)
(continued)

NIETHEERE

2.11.3Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis

AEBRATEEEEFNG

the expected credit losses associated with its BB EN AT ENEE
assets carried at amortised cost and financial FEAFEEBEMAZE
assets at fair value through other comprehensive WAAERNCREERH

income. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, Note 3.1(b) details how
the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of
all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial assets.

For trade receivables and contract costs, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted
by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition
of the assets. The provision matrix is determined
based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the contract costs and trade
receivables with similar credit risk characteristics
and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.
At every reporting date the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.11.4Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in statements of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the relevant
company or the counterparty.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for properties sold, leasing of properties or services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

213

2.14

Contract costs and liabilities and cost for
obtaining contracts

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. The contract
is an asset and recognised as contract costs if
the measure of the remaining conditional rights to
consideration exceeds the satisfied performance
obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability
and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds
the measure of the remaining rights. Costs such as
stamp duty and sales commissions incurred directly
attributable to obtaining a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalised and recorded in contract costs.

For contracts where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
property is different, the transaction price is adjusted
for the effects of a financing component, if significant.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less, and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated and
Company’s statements of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities.
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e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15

2.16

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

217

2.18

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowings
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the date of the statement of financial
position in the countries where the Company and
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHBRBEGE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 219 BNEAR IR AT 1S Fit ()
(b) Deferred income tax (b) B FF 3

Inside basis differences A IE = &2

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the BEEMGBHRABABEERE
liability method, on temporary differences arising REERBEMNHAEASRE
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and ERAELEHFEMB®RE
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial FEREE M ESR M E £
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not TRHEZE - A BRK
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition ERIBEEREEEED
of goodwill, and the deferred income tax is not MR A THR
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition FEREMBHMERBER
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than ST BREBEMPY
a business combination that at the time of the EENBENTBER
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable MEXSHTZEGEHE
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined ok JERRTEL A s B 4R
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted AT ERER - BEFTISH
or substantively enacted by the date of the B R B AR R &R B B AT
statement of financial position and are expected to EEMEREEEMI
apply when the related deferred income tax asset FEHREEELTEREHE
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is ESRYAEEMEHAE
settled. EEREANTE(RBUE)

EE -

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only BEERSTHEEEERR
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable AlREEAERB A BRY
profit will be available against which the temporary RrEZEAERER TR
differences can be utilised. HER -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable
to control the reversal of the temporary difference
for associates. Only when there is an agreement
in place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in the
foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that
it is probable the temporary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEERBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 BDHAR 3R % Fir 18 Bt (4F)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.20 Employee benefits

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal and
provincial governments in the PRC under which the
Group and the PRC based employees are required to
make monthly contributions to these plans calculated
as a percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to
a certain ceiling.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post-retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administrated funds managed by the
PRC government.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.22 Financial guarantee liabilities

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEERBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 I IEREE ()

2.22 Financial guarantee liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee liabilities. After
initial recognition, such contracts are measured at the
higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount initially
recognised less cumulative amortisation of income
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 15. The fair
value of financial guarantees is determined as the
present value of the difference in net cash flows
between the contractual payments under the debt
instrument and the payments that would be required
without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that
would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Financial guarantee liabilities are derecognised from the
consolidated statements of financial position when, and
only when, the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged or cancelled or expired.

2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales of
properties and services in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of discounts
and after eliminating sales with the Group companies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sales of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control
of the asset is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in time.
Control of the asset is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e do not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation is measured based on
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation, by reference to the
contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for
each contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sales of properties (continued)

(b)

(c)

For property development and sales contract for
which the control of the property is transferred
at a point in time, revenue is recognised when
the property is accepted by the customer, or
deemed as accepted according to the contract,
which is the point in time when the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the property and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property, and the Group has present right
to payment and the collection of consideration is
probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effect of a financing component if it is
significant.

Rental income

Rental income from properties being let under
operating leases is recognised on a straight line
basis over the lease terms.

Service income

Revenue from services is recognised in the

accounting period in which the services are
rendered.

2.24 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to properties held or under
development for sales are presented in the statement
of financial position by deducting the grants in arriving
at the assets’ carrying amounts and are credited to
the statement of profit or loss upon the sales of the
properties.

2.26 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for
leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEERBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 HE (&)

2.26 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

e variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Leases (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

e any initial direct costs, and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally amortised over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEERBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 HE (&)

2.26 Leases (continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases of vehicles
and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets comprise motor
vehicles.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as
lease income. The respective leased assets are
included in the statement of financial position based
on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor
as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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2.27 Dividend distribution 2.27 R E DK
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is MARARKREELREDIE
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s RARGBBRRIEE(FHEE)
financial statements in the period in which the HERENPBHAERAEE R
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders AARMMBRETERAB
or directors, where appropriate. f& o

2.28 Earnings per share 2.28 8RBT

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:
e the profit attributable to owners of the

Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares
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e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28 Earnings per share (continued)
(i) Basic earnings per share (continued)

° by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Where the number of ordinary shares outstanding
increases as a result of a capitalisation, bonus
issue or share split, or decreases as a result of a
reverse share split, the calculation of basic and
diluted earnings per share for all periods presented
will be adjusted retrospectively.

2.29 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 EXRERHEMEE)

2.29 & B & (&)

2.29 Separate financial statements (continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
also required in accordance with Note 2.9.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks comprising market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.
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e PR RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is engaged in the development,
sale and management of properties solely
in the PRC with almost all transactions
denominated in RMB. In addition, the majority
of the Group’s assets and liabilities are
denominated in RMB. Accordingly, the Group
is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk, except for certain bank deposits
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”).

Fluctuation of the exchange rates for HKD
against RMB will affect the Group’s result
of operations. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management closely monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will take
actions when necessary.

As at 31 December 2022, if HKD had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against RMB,
all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit of the Group for the year 2022 would
have been lower/higher by RMB36,000 (2021:
post-tax profit lower/higher by RMB41,000),
mainly as a result of foreign exchange loss/
gain from bank deposits denominated in HKD.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates. Except for bank
deposits with stable interest rates, the Group
has no other significant interest-bearing
assets.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
from banks and non-bank third party
lenders. Borrowings at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. The Group has
not hedged its cash flow or fair value interest
rate risk. The interest rates and terms of
repayments of borrowings are disclosed in
Note 18, Note 19 and Note 20.

Management does not anticipate significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulting
from changes in interest rates, as the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to
change significantly.

The Group’s profit or loss are sensitive
to higher/lower interest expenses from
borrowings at floating rates as a result of
changes in interest rates.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(continued)

TR ERERE(E)

3.1 LRERREEH)
(a) 5 mE B (&)

(i) ZHEz &R FEF
x/m g (&)

Impact on post-tax profit

HEZF BN E
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEETT

Interest rates — increase by 50  F| & — | F501E H 24

(b) Credit risk

basis points (18) (23)
Interest rates — decrease by 50  F| =& — T [E501E A Bf
basis points 18 23
(b) =E=EE
The Group has no significant concentrations AEBUYESEREFEESER

of credit risk. The carrying amounts of bank
deposits, trade and other receivables, contract
costs and financial guarantee contracts included
in the consolidated statements of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Bank deposits

3 EREREEE)

3.1 LEERREE(H)

Cash transactions are limited to high-credit-
quality financial institutions. The table below
shows the bank deposit balances as at 31

December 2022 and 2021:

(b) 1=E /=R (E)

()

RITFH
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T R 8 R 1R2022F &
2021123318 # iR
TR

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTFor
Counterparty HFH
— Deposits in the four major — RPEMNKEEGRT
state-owned banks of the #) 17 3K
PRC 239,777 233,847
— Deposits in other listed banks — KRB HM FHE1T
of the PRC B 7 3K 78,963 104,351
— Deposits in other banks — REMIBITHFER 82,393 89,508
401,133 427,706
Management does not expect any losses from EEEEHATELR
non-performance of these counterparties. ZEHFHARED
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e PR RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)~ Financial guarantees

The Group has policies in place to ensure
that sales are made to purchasers with an
appropriate financial strength and appropriate
percentage of down payments. The Group
has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of the Group’s property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations
of such purchasers for repayments. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of its
mortgage loan during the guarantee period,
the bank holding the guarantee may demand
the Group to repay the outstanding principal
of the loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group
is entitled to take over the legal title and
possession of the related properties after
the relevant legal procedures to recover any
amounts paid by the Group to the bank. In
this regard, the directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Financial guarantees (continued)

The Group has granted guarantees to an
associated company of the Group (Note
35(b)). If the associated company defaults on
the repayment of loans to major shareholder
on schedule, the major shareholder of the
associated company might demand the
Group to repay certain outstanding balance
and interests accrued thereon. Under such
circumstances, the Group is entitled to
obtain future repayment from the associated
company through sales of its properties under
development or properties held for sales. The
directors consider the associate company has
sufficient assets for the repayment so that the
credit risk is limited.

The Group has provided certain pledges of
its investment properties, properties held
or under development for sale for bank
borrowings of certain third parties(Note
35(c)) and a related party(Note 35(d))
(collectively referred to as “borrowers”). For
four of these pledges, the Group obtained
counter-guarantees from the borrowers’
related parties and the remaining pledges
were related to the suppliers of the Group.
If the third parties and the related party
default on the repayment of loans to bank
on schedule, the bank might demand the
Group to repay certain outstanding balance
and interests accrued thereon. Under such
circumstances, the Group has the right to
demand repayment from the borrower’s
related parties or to offset such amount
against the account payables due to the
suppliers of the Group. Therefore, the
directors consider the credit risk of these
pledges is limited.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables and contract costs

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected losses provision for all trade
receivables and contract costs.

The Group reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of each individual trade receivables
and contract costs to ensure the adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amount. Credit is only granted to customers
with sufficient financial strength. It also
has other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Therefore, credit risks of the
Group from sales of properties and lease of
properties are limited.

The loss allowance provision for those
balance was not material for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3 EREREEE)

3.1 LEERREE(H)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(E)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and (iv) E M ERZIE(T 5
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable) TE 17 H & B 00 B LK
R BT [B] 7 45 (8 F)

The Group closely monitors these other
receivables to ensure actions are taken to
recover these balances in the case of any risk
of default.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the asset as at the reporting date with the risk
of default as at the date of initial recognition.
The Group has performed historical analysis
and identified the key economic variables

AEBTVERZSE
H A J& W SR IR - DA BE
PRI 3R E AR B B
A PR EUEE B Uk B 3% F
R

REREHME A&
EEEVEEREE
By AR A R E
ERBRETIHFEXNE
e B HEER

RERBEEM - K
SEBEER®RER
B AR E AR B
MEERBHNED
R EITH & - RN&
BEEETEED ﬁ

impacting credit risk and expected loss. It THERETEEER
considers available reasonable and supportive MEHEBENEE f”&

forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

e internal credit rating
e external credit rating

e actual or expected significant adverse

BEH AEEERE
THERHAEREA
BXHMENAELEE
- BRRERET
5815

AR A RE AR

o SNERIERREAR

s HHEBHER

changes in business, financial or /\Eﬁﬁl%fiﬁ’]

economic conditions that are expected REhBEEEKRE

to cause a significant change to the {KE’J%?‘ Bt 7%

debtor’s ability to meet its obligations LEBEBRANE
miiﬁ,ﬂﬂEKT
I % &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
(continued)

e actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the borrower

e significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same
debtor

e significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the debtor,
including changes in the payment status
of debtor in the Group and changes in
the operating results of the debtor

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 365 days of when they fall
due.

The Group uses four categories for other
receivables (excluding prepaid tax and
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. These internal credit risk ratings
are aligned to external credit ratings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)

(continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning
the Group’s expected credit loss model is as

follows:

Category
5l

Group definition of category

5 B9 A Bl R E

e PR wRME

TR EREE(E)

3.1 LEERREE(H)
(b) 1=E /=R (E)

(v) EERFE(TE
AN E LA 0 E
LA R A] W [2] 69 35 18 7
(%)

YRAEEEMEE
BEEEOBRBE
o

Basis for recognition of expected
credit loss provision

BRAACEGRRENERE

Performing
E®

Underperforming

2P

Non-performing

TR

Write-off

Customers have a low risk of default
and a strong capacity to meet
contractual cash flow
EPENERBRE YEAEFGRESR
FARERENEN

Receivables for which there is a
significant increase in credit risk;

as significant increase in credit risk
presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are more than 30 days
past due
RFKIE SR E R BEE
RKEHAER,/IAeERBHER
30K BIl 78 8I= & = By K 18 18 A0

Interest and/or principal repayments
are more than 365 days past due

MEB R /ARS8 B BIEK

Interest and/or principal repayments
are more than 2 years past due and
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery

FIB R /HA4ERSHBBF I
BeBmimzkm

12 months expected losses. Where the
expected lifetime of an asset is less
than 12 months, expected losses are
measured at its expected lifetime.
HEt12f@ A B 1R - & ERFEHF
B2 A - BB & B 1R H 78
FHHE -

Lifetime expected losses

BREFHANRBER

Lifetime expected losses

BEFHANEHBR

Asset is written-off
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and

surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
(continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected losses
on a timely basis. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of
receivables and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data.

The Group writes off those receivables, in
whole or in part, when it has exhausted
all practical recovery efforts and has
concluded there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include
ceasing enforcement activity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and

3 EREREEE)

3.1 LEERREE(H)

(b) 1=E /=R (E)

(v) EERFE(TE

surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable) T E R R0 E
(continued) LA R BT 4g o] 9 22 18 7 )
(#&)
As at 31 December 2022, the loss allowance R2022F12 4318 -
provision was determined as follows: EBEBEHEETOT
As at 31 December 2022
R2022F12A31A
Carrying
amount
Gross (net of
Expected carrying Impairment  impairment
loss rate amount provision provision)
REE R
BHBEAE EE#AE HERE w1 &)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL AREEFT AER¥ETT ARETT
Current BN HA 0.11%-1.79% 224,598 (1,266) 223,332
More than 30 days past  # HiH B30K
due 0.5%-1.79% 17,251 (145) 17,106
More than 365 days past i 2 # 1B365%
due 20.0% 5,387 (1,078) 4,309
More than 2 years past ~ HIEIBBHME
due 100.0% 55,055 (55,055) -
302,291 (57,544) 244,747
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and

surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the loss allowance
provision was determined as follows:

TR ERERE(E)

3.1 LRERREEH)
(b) 1=E =k (&)

(v) EERFE(TE
AT E LA 0 E
LA R AT [E] 69 35 {8 #)
(%)

M2021F12A318 -
BEEGEREE TN
T

As at 31 December 2021

12021412 4318

Carrying

Gross amount (net

Expected carrying Impairment  of impairment

loss rate amount provision provision)

FHEEGR

HEBEAE REAE REEE REERE)

RMB000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ANREFr ANREFTT AREFT ARETT

Current i 0.11%-1.79% 251,957 (1,048) 250,909
More than 30 days past  # HiH B30K

due 0.5%-1.79% 43,058 (318) 42,740

More than 365 days past i #i # 1B365%

due 20.0% 2,619 (526) 2,093
More than 2 years past ~ BIEIBBRE

due 100.0% 56,063 (56,083) =

353,697 (57,955) 295,742

The allowance recognised in profit or loss for
impairment provision of other receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
are disclosed in Note 26.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and

surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
(continued)

The loss allowances for other receivables as
at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

e PR wRME

TR EREE(E)

3.1 LEERREE(H)
(b) 1=E /=R (E)

(v) EERFE(TE
AN E LA 0 E
LA R A] W [2] 69 35 18 7
(%)

R12A318 & = fib &
W SR TH S 18 B B HR
TEEREHEN
T

Other receivables

H fth fE W R 18
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHEFT AEETT

Opening loss allowance at M1A1RM B E B

1 January B 57,955 56,862
Increase during the year F R 889 2,100
Written off during the year as FAME AT A E

uncollectible - (1,007)
Receipt of receivables provided in W B8 4 F & 5T 12 Y

prior years JFE I SRIE B (1,300) -
Ending loss allowance at R12A31HMHI R & 18

31 December e 57,544 57,955
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3 ETRIEREEE)

3.1 LRERREEH)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) mEEZEE

Management of the Group aims to maintain
sufficient cash through internally generated sales
proceeds and an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities to meet its operation needs and
commitments in respect of property projects.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the date of the statement
of financial position to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

AEEEREEEEBR
B8 TS OR R TR 1Y
AEEHREBRER
ReLHREMEBAR
BEB A o

TRIGBRERF BN K
RHEAR 2 H AR &
Hif - IRARB B HIAA B o
TAEBETHEE KA
BENESBEAERRUA
BEmE -

Between Between
Within 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
1£R 122F 2858 5L L @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABEFT AREFT ARETT AREFR AREFR
As at 31 December 2022 42022512 A31A
Bank borrowings RITER 193,000 64,000 66,500 - 323,500
Interest payments on bank BOERNFEEH
borrowings 18,425 9,700 1,947 - 30,247
Trade and other payables ZHRAMEMTE 1,984,235 - - - 1,958,722
Other long-term borrowings AR BEH 198,840 134,468 12,537 - 345,845
Interest payments on other long- ~ E R EEHAF &
term borrowings B 25,167 3,568 865 - 54,938
Other current borrowings Eih R B S 3,500 - - - 3,500
Interest payments on other current  E R B E XN F &
borrowings (BE:S 181 - - - 181
Lease liabilties HEAE 5,362 4,999 9,285 1,923 21,569
2,428,710 216,735 91,134 1,923 2,738,502

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 SRREAREEGE)
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 ¢REREEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) WEEZEEE)
Between Between

Within 1and 2 2 and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
1ER 1528 2%5% 5EL L @i

RMBOOO ~ RMBO00 ~ RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB000
ARETIL ARETT ARETT ARETLT ARETL

As at 31 December 2021 120215128318

Bank borrowings RITIER 107,800 156,200 - - 264,000
Interest payments on bank RITEFAME
borrowings D 18,836 6,031 - - 24,867
Trade and other payables B o R E ML
IR 1,738,262 = = = 1,738,262
Other long-term borrowings HibREBER 124,377 97,000 151,000 - 372,377
Interest payments on other Hit R B E A
long-term borrowings BRE 58,945 25,504 13,658 - 98,107
Other current borrowings Eit REfE R 56,580 - - - 56,580
Interest payments on other H it R B i A
current borrowings MBI 5,848 - - - 5,848
Lease liabilities HEAR 4717 4,545 11,050 3,332 23,644
2,115,365 289,280 175,708 3,332 2,583,685
Note: Interests on bank borrowings, long-term Ha: BT EZRHE - £H
borrowings and other current borrowings are eI H M B R
calculated based on borrowings held as at 31 H Il 2. 75 4R 48 722022

D ber 2022 and 2021, tively. Floating-
ecelm er an : respgc ively. Floa mg £ 2021612 A31H
rate interests are estimated using the prevailing e st
interest rates as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, f’uﬂﬁﬁﬁ% Mt -
respectively. FENR BT R A
20224 K2021412
H318 #9317 7 & f
& o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings,
including interest bearing borrowings from related
parties and third parties, lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total
equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position, plus net debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 EmEKREREE)
(CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 3.2 EXEKREE (&)
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2021 R20224F 2021412 A31H &
were as follows: ERLEERNT:

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

Borrowings (Note 18) &k (Hf it 18) 323,500 264,000
Other long-term borrowings (Note 20) H b & B & 3k (#f 2220) 345,845 372,377
Other current borrowings (Note 19) H A e fa sk (A7 19) 3,500 56,580
Lease liabilities (Note 6(b)) HEBEWZ6M) 20,650 20,908
Total borrowings EREEE 693,495 713,865
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 14) B REMBEEEY (221,059) (281,489)
(K1 7%14)
Net debt B %5 472,436 432,376
Total equity R BER 1,873,467 1,845,460
Total capital B4R 2,345,903 2,277,836
Gearing ratio 1812 & 20.14% 18.98%

2022 Al IR rt
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e PR RRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair
value hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

See Note 8 for disclosures of the investment properties

3 ETRIEREEE)

3.3 AFEfR

TREAFEFENBERM
FIRBABBENERDITAS
ERAFEARNESRIA-
BRAE A BRI IR T 3CFr
PEBALCFERBEAN=E

&

AEEEXXBERNERMD
B EHRECREAZ)(FE
18) »

SA BB R EU S E
ERAEHTHEE AN
o T E E N E R R
R $2 (8D 67 £ & 18 1) (382
B

FERABERMSHED
BEXRAGHASEEIT
ABREABIB(FEIE) -

BAFEFENREDENHR

==

that are measured at fair value.

BEE2RMES -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E E2[E E3E Mt
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000

ANEETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets at fair value ROFEEBRER

through profit or loss AENERMEE
At 31 December 2022 R2022%F12 A31H - - - -
At 31 December 2021 2021612 A31H 6,155 - - 6,155
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

e PR wRME

3 EREREEE)

3.3 AR {EMGE (&)

Level 1
E1E
RMB’000

Level 2 Level 3 Total
E2[E E3E Mt
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000

ANEETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Investment properties REME
At 31 December 2022 F2022F 12 A31H - - 122,520 122,520
At 31 December 2021 2021512 A31H = = 124,680 124,680

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

H E2022F K2021F12/831H
EFEE FIEEF2EZHAY
4 88 o

EERBRMBEENERMTAN
RFEDREREBHNT S
BEFE - WZBEAIBTIHK
EHMAXRSZH K#E/ - &
£TEEE - RERBHE
EHE MxTHRERBRER
REMBERIFRAUETHOMS
RS mmBAIEREE

VIR ERMSEENSRT
BB ms I TET RN RF
ENEREERMETE - A8
RiTBENBAIBETSRIE
(A BEELEKBEEEBNE
EfFt-MatE—SRTAN
RFEMBOMEERNEAK
BERUBEHE  MZzemT
HIIAE2E -

WM—EXZEERNEAREL
FREBEABEMSEE X
ERMITAIAEIE -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

As the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss held by the Group are security assets traded in
active market whose fair value is based on quoted
market price at reporting date. Therefore, they are
included in level 1.

The investment properties are not traded in active
markets nor does the fair value determined by
using valuation techniques that maximise the use of
observable market data. Therefore, they are included in
level 3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors
including expectation of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The management makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
outlined below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EEEILETRHEE)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Revenue recognition 41 WARER

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over
time when the Group’s performance do not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date; otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the buyer obtains
control of the completed property. The Group may not
change or substitute the property unit or redirect the
property unit for another use due to the contractual
restrictions with the customer and thus the property
unit does not have an alternative use to the Group.
However, whether there is an enforceable right to
payment depends on the terms of sales contract and
the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to
the contract.

EAEEMEOYEAE IR
HAKEAEBRAENEE -
YEAAREEAEARLESR/ILED
TRHBENMOER TP IR
B R B TTRE R - R B B ] R AR
MEHERA: TAEE T I
1538 T % &0 2 i) # B 70 X (]
BREHEIRA - ARERP
FEARRH AEETEE
BRBEBRYREMRAGYERE
NEHFERRZ—MAZ Bt
MEBUHASELEZKA
@ e R > &7 98 Hl #
THXNEBOAREE S R
fRFRIA KB R A F & EBA
RHRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.2

4.3

Development costs directly attributable to
property development activities

The Group estimates property construction costs upon
recognition of respective costs of sales. Such estimates
are substantiated by detailed budgetary information as
developed by the management, and will be assessed
periodically, as the constructions progress. Should
these estimates depart from their actual finalised costs,
such differences would affect the accuracy of costs of
sales recognised.

Provision for impairment of properties held or
under development for sale

The management makes provision for impairment of
properties held or under development for sale based
on the estimate of the net realisable amount of the
properties. Determination of net realisable amount of
the properties involved critical accounting estimates
on the selling price, variable selling expenses and the
estimated costs to completion. Management estimates
the selling price based on the prevailing market
conditions; the variable selling expenses based on
certain percentage of selling price; and the costs to
completion based on the project budget approved by
management. Given the volatility of the property market
in the PRC, the actual net realisable amount may be
higher or lower than the estimate made as at the end
of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease
in the provision would affect the Group’s operating
performance in future years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.4

4.5

Land appreciation tax of the PRC

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax
in the PRC. However, since the implementation
and settlement of the tax varies among various
tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC, significant
judgement is required in determining the amount
of the land appreciation tax. The Group recognises
the land appreciation tax based on management’s
best estimates according to its understanding of the
interpretation of tax rules and latest practice of local
tax jurisdictions in the cities where the Group’s projects
are located. The final tax outcome could be different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
these differences will impact the current income tax
and the deferred income tax provision in the periods
in which such taxes have been finalised with local tax
authorities.

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income tax in the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for corporate income tax. There are
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that we initially recorded,
such difference will impact the current income tax
and deferred tax provision in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. The
outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.6 Fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for the properties with similar lease and
other contracts. In the absence of such information,
the management determines the amount within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making
its estimation, the management considers information
from a variety of sources including:

(@) Current prices in an active market for properties of
different nature, condition or location (or subject
to different lease or other contracts), adjusted to
reflect those differences,

(o) Recent prices of similar properties in less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and,

(c) Discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, derived from the
term of any existing lease and other contract and
(where possible) from external evidence such as
current market rents for similar properties in the
same location and condition, and using discount
rates that reflect current market assessment of the
uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash
flows.

The Group assesses the fair value of its investment
properties based on valuations determined by
independent professional qualified valuers, which
were based on income approach and by reference to
comparable price in an active market.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EESTEFRAE &)
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
4.6 Fair value of investment properties (continued) 4.6 REWENLAFE(E)
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the key assumptions R2022F KN2021412H31H
used by the valuer in determining fair value were as HEMRNETAFERFERAD
follows: FEBRRWOT:
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Term vyield F B [B] 3y X 3.5%-7.00%  3.5%-7.00%
Reversionary yield 18 5% [0 3 =& 4%-7.50% 4%-7.50%
4.7 Regulated bank accounts and restricted bank 4.7 SHERITREFRZREIEIT
deposit Fe
The Group is engaged in property development and NREBREYWERBRRLRBEEE
pre-sale activities. In order to ensure entities to use o AR ERYAFTHREE
presale proceeds properly for timely completion of FERBEBUMESKDERRE
the property development, various local government BH ZEAMAITBREFERUAR
authorities as well as banks may have certain RITRAE e B R EEEEERN
requirements for entities to deposit the presale BHBEBEAESHEHETEL -
proceeds in their regulated bank accounts. The use FTERIEHNREAEEEZHRN
of the proceeds may need review and approvals ERLRETEERLRLAE ME
from the government authorities and banks, and BN EBETEANETFTESY
certain percentage of bank deposits are required HTEHRRET  HEESERYE
to be maintained in the bank until completion of BEAIFE At BT FEZHT
the property projects, thus might be considered as EEeW R BTREE - AW A
restricted. However, since these requirements and RNABEHETETERE LA
their implementations are varied in different cities, Bk - REBEEZRFEBTER
significant judgement is required in determining the BEEHSE KHE - AEBRR
amount of restricted bank deposits. The Group makes BEHRIEMHMENR - BEHBER
assessment based on the current local requirements, MBFE&LE  WHEMWERE
historic experiences in the review and approval BRIBTEEER  HMmET
process, as well as continuous communication with A T e TR ESTEES
local relevant authorities and banks, to determine WRITEPAHNZBBEATNARARE
if these proceeds deposited in the regulated bank HWeMIRESEEBEW - —BEH
accounts are still cash and cash equivalents. Once BSRHEEBEAEEE K&
local requirements or their implementation measures B EHEHFTME - olse:R
are changed, the Group will make reassessment and BEEZ{/ELHFAE -

adjustments might be considered necessary.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the CODM.
Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the executive directors, which
are used to allocate resources and assess performance.

The Group is principally engaged in property development
in the PRC. The CODM reviews the operating results of
the business as one segment to make decision about
resources to be allocated. Revenue and profit after income
tax are the measures reported to the executive directors
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

The major operating entities of the Group are domiciled in
the PRC. All of the Group’s revenue are derived in the PRC
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of non-current assets
of the Group were located in the PRC.

There was no revenue derived from a single external
customer that accounts for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenues for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

6 W%  MEKRKE

Furniture,
Motor Electronic fittings and Leasehold
Buildings vehicles devices equipment  improvements Total
B
BF RE E13% £ERER HERE gt
RIB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RIB 000 RIB 000 RIB 000
NEEFT NREFT NGEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT
At 1 January 2021 R202AE131R
Cost A% 21,993 A7 8,804 4233 23432 92,639
Accumulated depreciation Zi g 6,319) 26,132) (5,618) (2,686) (6,116) (#6871)
Net book amount BEFE 15,674 8,045 3,186 1547 17,316 45,768
Year ended 31 December 2021 B Z2021E12AALEE
Opening net book amount ENEETE 15,674 8,045 3186 1547 17,316 45,768
Additions RE - 1,260 2,143 719 13% 5,457
Disposals (Note 330) L& (W iaq) = 12 (1) (15) - t8)
Depreciation charge (Voo 2§~ FEER(W2) (907) (2,658) (1919) (459) (3.263) 9,199)
Closing net book amount EXEEEE 14767 6,635 3390 1,798 15,388 41978
At 31 December 2021 R2021F125318
Cost Bk 21993 3,425 10,926 4,937 24767 9,048
Accumulated depreciation ZifE (7,226) 28,790) (7,536) (3.139) 9,379) (56,070)
Net book amount REFE 14,767 6,635 3,390 1798 15,388 41978
Year ended 31 December 2022 B 22025128 ALEE
Opening net book amount ENEEEAE 14,767 6,635 3,300 1,798 15,388 41,978
Additions RE - 3,074 1,01 2% - 4377
Disposals (Aot 33b) L& (W #33) - (246) () ) (546) (804)
Depreciation charge (Vote 26 FEER(WZ2) (907) (2,042) (2,029) (474) (2,689) (8,534)
Closing net book amount EREATE 13,860 7,201 2,439 1,543 11,054 31,017
At 31 December 2022 1#2022512331R
Cost A& 21,993 38,010 11,908 5,075 24,201 101,207
Accumulated depreciation ZifE (8,133) (30,789) (9,469) (3,532) (12,267) (64,190)
Net book amount EOFE 13,860 7,21 2,439 1,543 11,954 37,017

2022 Annual Report
TBEIFFR

217



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Depreciation charge of the Group has been included in
administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Buildings with carrying amount of approximately
RMB13,549,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB14,406,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings (Note 18).

6(b) Leases

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of finance position

6 WX BMENRKREE)

#H E2022% K2021FE12A3108 IF F
B AEBNITEERDTATHR
FX e

MR2022F12A8318 © BEEELH A A
R #13,549,0007T ) 1 & & 1§ (£
BALBEERERNIEAR (20214 :
A R #14,406,0007T) (Fff 5£18) °

6(b) HE
(i) REEHBEMEEER

;o]

As at 31 December
M12A831H
2022 2021

20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000

AREFIT AEETT

Right-of-use assets FEREEE

Buildings BF 17,047 19,673

Vehicles b - 48
17,047 19,721

Lease liabilities HEaE

Current B ER 7,209 4,717

Non-current JE BN &R 13,441 16,191
20,650 20,908

21 8 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

6(b) Leases (continued)

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

(iii)

e PR wRME

6 WX BMENRKEE)

6(b) HE (&)

(i) RizEEmKERYZ

statement of profit or loss 2
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b i AR¥FTT ARBTF T
Amortisation of right-of-use ff f# & & # 84
assets
Buildings BF (4,416) (4,596)
Vehicles B (24) (48)
26 (4,440) (4,644)
Interest expenses (included in ~ F 8.5 X (GF A BT 7%
finance costs) X A) 27 1,137 1,237
Expenses relating to short- HEHEEEEN
term leases (included in > (FE AT
administrative expenses) ) 206 37
Expenses relating to leases B | 3 AR5 AR H
of low-value assets that are HENKEBEEE
not shown above as short- HEEEANRXZ
term leases (included in GFATTERRAX)
administrative expenses) 24 15

The total cash outflows for leases in 2022 was
RMB3,154,000 (2021: RMB6,304,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group’s leases are mainly for offices. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1
to 10 years. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

2022F MM EH &K B
2% A A R #3,154,0007TC
(20214 : A R #6,304,000
JT) °

(iii) 7 %5 B 49 76 & % B R 20

1 £ T A Bk

AEEMNHEEFTZ AR
RE-HESRMHET H
RBEETHEIZI0F - HE
1 2 0 £ B N {E (7] R
HHEAFENHEHEEE
NREREZBRI - AE
BETGRAEERNER

[}
on °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS BEEE

Licences Total
Bl et
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR FT

Year ended 31 December 2021 B ZE2021F128318 L EE
Opening net book amount H W BREF E — —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (a) W i B /8 2 Bl (a) 14,553 14,553
Amortisation charge BiHE A = =
Closing net book amount HARE®SEE 14,553 14,553

At 31 December 2021 M2021F12831H

Cost 9% 14,553 14,553
Accumulated amortisation ZiTEes = -
Net book amount BRE FE 14,553 14,553

Year ended 31 December 2022 H ZE2022F12H31HLLFEE
Opening net book amount Y EREFE 14,553 14,553
Amortisation charge BEER (728) (728)
Closing net book amount HREEE FE 13,825 13,825

At 31 December 2022 #2022412831H

Cost DN 14,553 14,553
Accumulated amortisation g & (728) (728)
Net book amount BREFE 13,825 13,825

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
signed an agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which, the Group acquired 60% interests
of Henan Hengzhi Architectural Engineering Design
Co., Ltd.*, a design company with the major asset of a

design license.

*
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

e PR wRME

8 W®EWHE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFor
Opening balance F Y5 124,680 94,050

Transfer from properties held or under EHEGRHEHEXFAESD

development for sale (a) FEMHE®E) - 31,778
Net losses from fair value adjustment N EFENEEFE (2,160) (1,148)
Closing balance F R BR 122,520 124,680

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment

properties

RREVERIANEBEENEHE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR TFor
Fair value gains resulting from transfer HRFELREXREREFE
from properties held or under MEEREREYWE
development for sale to investment NFEEW (@)
properties (a) — 9,198
Net losses from fair value adjustment AN ERAENEEFRE (2,160) (1,148)
Net fair value losses/(gains) on investment % &%) ¥ A F &
properties B/ (W) F5 (2,160) 8,050
Rental income arising from investment REMEEENHESBA
properties 6,695 5,152
Note: B it -

(@) For the year ended 31 December 2022, no properties were
transferred from properties held or under development for
sale to investment properties (2021: RMB22,580,000).

() ME E2022F12A318 ILFE - #
EYERBELELIRERSTEY
EEBE TR EMEQCRIF AR
#2022 580,0007T) ©
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy

Fair value of the investment properties located in the PRC at
31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant unobservable
inputs (level 3) are amounting to RMB122,520,000 and
RMB124,680,000, respectively.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 by an independent
professionally qualified valuers, Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited who hold recognised relevant professional
qualification and have recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued. For all
investment properties, the fair value are measured at their
highest and best use.

Valuation techniques

The Group has eight investment properties as at 31
December 2022 (2021: eight), all of which are located in
Henan Province, the PRC.

The valuation of investment properties was determined using
the income approach (term and reversionary method) which
was based on capitalisation rate derived from an analysis of
existing tenancies.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as

at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant

e PR wRME

8 WEWXA)

B#ENA20225 K% 2021F12 8318
AERTAHE A S (53E) A

unobservable inputs (level 3): FEFAENESR:
Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TIBERBAHER
B RIGIBENATE HERE FUEERAHE TUBEER)\HEHE AYENEE
Property | 31 December 2022: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 7% (2021: 7%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB3,040,000 (term and into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB3,160,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
mx— 202125318 WAEERRE  FHORX EHOHETS 20215 :7%) FitRAl FHOHRXEE ULTE
ARB3040000r i) BNFELNOEERARBERS H{E
2021%12A318: BUREBRANEEEELEE
AR#3,160,0007T
Reversionary yield ~ Reversionary rate of 7.5% (2021: 7.5%), The higher the reversionary
taking into account annual unit market yield, the lower the fair
rental income and unit market value of value
the comparable properties.
REERE EROAET5% (20215 :76%) BifRk HROREEE URTE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

AR Bt 5E
Rk

THBENFNFRELTRRERAR
Bfrm -

Market unit rent is RMB8.10 (2021:
RMB8.27) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparable and
taking into account of location and other
individual factors, such as road frontage,
size of property and facilties.

BB EEAE TR ARESI0T
(20215 : AR¥8.277T) - EREHT
WRREHRAEREMERNRZ -
il NERRRRIE -

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

mRENAEHR -
E#R

ALY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as

at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant

8 WEWMXRA)

BEA20225 K% 2021F12 8318
BAERTA B Eg A S (5F3E) A

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued) FEFAENER: (&)
Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TUERHAYESR
Bl RTSIAHMNAYE HERHE TUBRBARE FUBRBAHEEE AYEHEE
Property |l 31 December 2022: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 6.5% (2021: 6.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB19,900,000 (term and into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB20,500,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
mE= 2020% 12318 : WAKERRE FHERE FHEH%6.5% (20215 :6.5%)  Fit Rk FHOHXHE ULTE
AE#19900000 %) ALBNFELNDRERRREER  HE
20215124318 : BRAURERRADRE L AT -
AR 20,500,0007
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 7% (2021: 7%], taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account annual unit market rental yield, the lower the fair
income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
BHEORE EREBRET% (20215 :7%) Ftkay HEHEERELS UATE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

Market unit rent of
individual unit

a5 Bt 5 E
ik

apEnERELMSASUARER
k-

Market unit rent is RMB45 (2021: RMB45)
per square meter per month, using direct
market comparable and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors, such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

R EUAEEAGTIRARKLST (2021
£ ARB4T) FREZTELER
BHRUERAMENRE - fimeEs -
MERBERRHE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant

8 WEWXA)

B#ENA20225 K% 2021F12 83181
AEARTAHE A S (53E) 2

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued) FEFAENER: (&)
Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TUERRAYESR
B RISIBHNATE  HERE FUBERBARE FUBRBAHEEE AYENEE
Property I 31 December 2022: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 4% (2021: 4%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB7,750,000 (term and into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB8,010,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
mx= 2020%12A31R : WANEERRE  FHERX FHEHR, 0215 4%) R, FHOHXHE ULTE
ARH7750,0007 5% BNEEENEORERERBERER  HE
2021512A31R : BURERRANBEEEELBE -
AR 8,010,000
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2021: 4%}, taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account annual unit market rental yield, the lower the fair
income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
EEERE BREBEL (20215 - 4%)  BHRAL EHEERELS UATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

AR B TH5E
ik

anxnERELMSASUAREN
e

Market unit rent is RMBG0 (2021: RMB62)
per square meter per month, using direct
market comparable and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors, such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

MEELREBATTAKAREE0T
(20215 : AR¥627L) RAEETIHM
RREFRUEREERNAR - fii
Bt MERBRRIS -

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

eSS - B
Edm
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e PR RRME

8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as

at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant

8 WEWMXRA)

BEA20225 K% 2021F12 8318
BAERTA B Eg A S (5F3E) A

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued) FEFAENER: (&)
Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TUERHAYESR
Bl RTSIAHMNAYE HERHE TUBRBARE FUBRBAHEEE AYEHEE
Property IV 31 December 2022: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 4.5% (2021: 4.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB42,000,000 (term and into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB42,600,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
E 2026125318 WNEESRE  EHERX FHEHLL5% (20215 4.5%) FiHR FHOHXEE ULTE
AR42,0000000  HE) ALBNFELNDRERRREER  HE
20215124318 : BRAURERRADRE L AT -
AR 42,600,000
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 5% (2021: 5%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account annual unit market rental yield, the lower the fair
income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
BHEORE EREBRESY (20215 : 5%) B RAL EHRERELS HUATE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

Market unit rent of
individual unit

a5 Bt 5 E
ik

apEnERELMSASUARER
k-

Market unit rent is RMB18 (2021: RMB18.5)
per square meter per month, using direct
market comparable and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors, such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

mAENE S8 A THKARKI8T (2021
£ ARB185T) RRAEETHLE
RERUERAMENRE - fimk
B WERBRRM -

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

msEREEHE AT
E¥R
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e PR wRME

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as

at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

8 WEWXA)

B#ENA20225 K% 2021F12 83181
AEARTAHE A S (53E) 2
FEFAENER: (&)

Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TUERRAYESR
B RISIBHNATE  HERE FUBERBARE FUBRBAHEEE AYENEE
Property V 31 December 2022: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 5.5% (2021: 5.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB9,380,000 (term and into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB10,000,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
VS 2020%12A31R : WANEERRE  FHERX FHOH%55% (20215 :6.6%)  FHRk FHOHXHE ULTE
AR¥9880,0000  HE) ALBNFELNDRERRREER  HE
2021512A31R : BREUBEDRANREEL ELBE -
AR %10,000,0007
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 6% (2021: 6%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account annual unit market rental yield, the lower the fair
income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
EEDRE ERERX6% (20215 : 6%) iR EHEEHREHS HATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

AR B TH5E
ik

anxnERELMSASUAREN
e

Market unit rent is RMB20.7 (2021:
RMB21.3) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparable and
taking into account of location and other
individual factors, such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities.

BN EE AT IRARENL
(015 : \R%21.370) RAEEDS
HBRREHRUEREMERRE - 0l
e MERBERRSE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

misEMESHE AT
Edm
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e PR RRME

8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as

at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

8 WEWMXRA)

BEA20225 K% 2021F12 8318
BAERTA B Eg A S (5F3E) A
FEFAENER: (&)

Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TUERHAYESR
Bl RTSIAHMNAYE HERHE TUBRBARE FUBRBAHEEE AYEHEE
Property VI 31 December 2022: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 3.5% (2021: 3.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB8,170,000 (term and into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB8,320,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
VEIN 2020% 12318 : WAKERRE FHERE FHEHE35% (20215 :36%) Bk FHOHXHE ULTE
AREB170000T  HE) ALBNFELNDRERRREER  HE
2021512A31R : BREUBEDRANREEL ELBE -
AR %8,320,00070
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2021: 4%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account annual unit market rental yield, the lower the fair
income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
BHEORE EREBREL% (20215 : %) BHRAL FEHRERELS UATE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

Market unit rent of
individual unit

a5 Bt 5 E
ik

apEnERELMSASUARER
k-

Market unit rent is RMB16.2 (2021:
RMB16.5) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparable and
taking into account of location and other
individual factors, such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities.

mEEEEFAFTARARKI6.T
(20215 : A\R%16.57) ERERTH
HRRBHRUERABERNRE -
e MERBERRSE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

mEENHEEER B
E¥R
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e PR wRME

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as

at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

8 WEWXA)

B#ENA20225 K% 2021F12 83181
AEARTAHE A S (53E) 2
FEFAENER: (&)

Range of Relationship of
Fair value Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TUERRAYESR
B RIGIBHNATLE FUBERBARE FUBRBAHEEE AYENEE
Property VI 31 December 2022: Term yield Term yield of 3.5% (2021: 3.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB30,120,000 into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: comparable properties and adjustment
RMB30,400,000 to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
nxt 2020%12A31R : EHERE FHEHE35% (20215 :35%) Btk FHOHXHE ULTE
AE#30,120,0007 ALBNFELNDRERRREER  HE
2021512A31R : BREUBEDRANREEL ELBE -
AR 30,400,0007
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2021: 4%}, taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account annual unit market rental yield, the lower the fair
income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
EEERE BREBEL (20215 - 4%)  BHRAL EHEERELS UATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

AR B TH5E
ik

anxnERELMSASUAREN
e

Market unit rent is RMB15.3 (2021:
RMB16.1) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparable and
taking into account of location and other
individual factors, such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities.

mEENEE AR TIRARELIT
(015 : \R%16.170) RREEDS
HBRREHRUEREMERRE - 0l
e MERBERRSE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

misEMESHE AT
Edm
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e PR RRME

8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

8 WEWMXRA)

BEA20225 K% 2021F12 8318
BAERTA B Eg A S (5F3E) A
FEFAENER: (&)

Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description  as at technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TUERHAYESR
Bl RTSIAHMNAYE HERHE TUBRBARE FUBRBAHEEE AYEHEE
Property VIl 31 December 2022: Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 3.5% (2021: 3.5%), taking The higher the term yield,
RMB1,660,000 (term and into account of yield generated from the lower the fair value
31 December 2021: reversionary comparable properties and adjustment
RMB1,690,000 method) to reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received.
EIIN 2020% 12318 : WAKERRE FHERE FHEHE35% (20215 :36%) Bk FHOHXHE ULTE
ARE1660000T  Hi) ALBNFELNDRERRREER  HE
2021512A31R : BREUBEDRANREEL ELBE -
AR 1,690,000
Reversionary yield  Reversionary rate of 4% (2021: 4%), taking ~ The higher the reversionary
into account annual unit market rental yield, the lower the fair
income and unit market value of the value
comparable properties.
BHEORE EREBREL% (20215 : %) BHRAL FEHRERELS UATE

Market unit rent of
individual unit

a5 Bt 5 E
ik

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

apEnERELMSASUARER
k-

Market unit rent is RMB11.94 (2021:
RMB12.3) per square meter per month,
using direct market comparable and
taking into account of location and other
individual factors, such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities.

B EEFAGTARARSNMT
(0215 : A\R%1237) EREETH
HRRBHRUERABERNRE -
e MERBERRSE

i

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

mEENHEEER B
E¥R
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

If the reversionary yield increase or decrease by 10% from
the parameter used by the qualified valuer, the fair value
of the investment properties as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 would have been as follows:

e PR wRME

8 REWX(HE)

BN 2022F K% 2021F12 A3181F
BAE AT B Rig A8 & (FE3E) A
FEFENER: (F)

fiw 18 5% Bl 3f R I% & & 1% 14 B b £
B2 &t &8sk 4210% + 1
20224 K20215F12 A3IE WX & ¥
EQNFEMDTAR:

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR F T
Investment properties increase/(decrease) &MWL M, CF4)
— 10 percent increase in reversionary — 18 R B3R K L H110%
yield (5,275) (5,428)
— 10 percent decrease in reversionary — 18 55 B ¥R & 5k 110%
yield 6,026 6,221

There will be no significant change for the fair value of the
investment properties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
if the term yield increase or decrease by 10% from the
parameter used by the qualified valuer.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no
unprovided contractual obligations for future repairs and
maintenance. Operating expenses relating to investment
properties are immaterial to the Group.

The Group measured deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties by adopting the
tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent with the
expected manner of recovery of these investment properties
(Note 23).

As at 31 December 2022, investment properties with
fair value of approximately RMB1,851,000 (2021:
RMB44,473,000) were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s borrowings (Note 18) and RMB30,969,000 (2021:
RMB31,787,000) were pledged as collateral for third parties’
borrowings.

W EHEHREZEE®RHEMKE
AR EEmgoR 210% 0 »
20224 N2021512A31E IR B ¥
¥NTFELTEERET -

R20224F K2021F12A318 + K &
B 3 B B R R S N M R R
BERET BAHBREMENKE
AXEAEBMELTERK -

AEBBBEREAFTAEFREDZSE
KEMEFANBREEHRESES
BZEREMENRSTEZBNEL
5 18 (Fff 7£23) °

R2022F128318 © AFEHAR
#1,851,0007T K 1% & ) % (20214F :
AR #44,473,00070) B 1E & K &
O DA BUAS AN 5 B A £ 3R (P 5
18) + A FEK A RM30,969,000
7o ( 20214 : A R#31,787,0007T) K
REYMECIEAFE = HERIET R
R o
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e PR RRME

9 AN INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD

9 HERAEZZEARNKE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT A BB TFor
Opening balance (@) F AR (@) - 20,042
Addition (b) NE(b) - =
Less: Accrual of provision (a) B EET @) - (13,000)
Impairment charge during the year FARAE R (M i225() (@)
(Note 25(a)) (a) - (7,042)

Ending balance

Notes:

(@)

On 3 August 2020, the Group’s investment in Xuchang
Xujian Real Estate Company Limited* (“Xuchang Xujian”) has
been approved by the board of Xuchang Xujian. The Group
contributed an initial investment of RMB20,042,000 by cash
consideration in return of 20% shares holding of Xuchang
Xujian, and obtained significant influence over Xuchang
Xujian. Xuchang Xujian was classified as an associate. As at
31 December 2022, the change of Industry and Commerce
Registration for Xuchang Xujian has yet to be completed.
Full provision of RMB20,042,000 has been provided as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

On 16 March 2022, the Group and Weidu Investment
Company Limited* (“Weidu Investment”) entered into a share
transfer agreement. The Group agreed to transfer 49% equity
interests in Xuchang Hengzhu Real Estate Development
Company Limited* (“Xuchang Hengzhu”) to Weidu Investment
with zero consideration. On 30 August 2022, the Group
further transferred 10% equity interests of Xuchang
Hengzhu to Weidu Investment with zero consideration. Upon
completion of the transfers, the Group held 41% equity
interests in Xuchang Hengzhu and lose control of Xuchang
Hengzhu, which becomes an associated company of the
Group. The Group recognised a gain of RMB203,000 arising
from the disposal of equity interests of Xuchang Hengzhu
during the year 2022.

English name for identification purpose only.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

(0)

MR2020%F8A3H AL ERFEFH
BEEEBRARIFETZDHE
EERFETEESTHAE A E
EARSREFAXNEBTORIEE
% %8 A R#20,042,0007T * A # EY
FEHEMN0%RMHNESE I
BEBTETENERIEHE -8
EESEABE RT o KR20224F
12A31H - AT RBER TET
REERNEBENSHENREES
ARERNFE - B2022F K20214F
12A31H ' EFfIR 2B EEARE
20,042,0007T ©

MR20229F3A168  AE B M FE
B BERAT(RHBIZE DT
VYTRGOhEZERZ AEBREE
BHEERFESEEEHER
BRAR(HFEBE]EAHIO%
fRiEEE TEEIRE - N202248
H30B r AEEE— S EEMGFH
REFEBEEAMNIONREEET
RBRE - RTEHEEEL  A5KH
NIrEEEEAEMBIRE P RkE
THEEEMNEZSEENKET A
EBEAHE QT R2022F + K
SEURHEFESEEREHRB I
5 # A R #203,0007T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10 PREPAYMENTS FOR LEASEHOLD LAND

11

The Group made prepayments of RMB232,990,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB80,490,000) for the acquisition
of leasehold land, which will be transferred to properties
under development for sale upon receipt of ownership
certificates or commencement of development activities.

Among the above leasehold lands with prepayments,
the remaining costs for one of the lands with amount of
RMB102,696,000, which should be paid before 28 February
2023, were not yet paid as of the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements and the Group has applied
extension of payment scheme to the local government.

PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Balances of properties held or under development for sale
are as follows:

e PR wRME

10 HETHFAMNRE

11

R2022%12A318 + & & U
BEHELHMEEREMNRBARE
232,990,0007T (20214 = A R ¥
80,490,0007T) ° #% X B # R W E £
MERENMEREXFAREAEE
BEEREREREEDE -

ELapREMNRENEELHE
R HER—ELMARBRKARAR
#102,696,0007T f& 7£2023 42 A28 H
Z RIS R AR AR A B TS R
RABPDAZN BAEBEERAE
Ho DR AT ER B RE R A ARETE -

RFELHESREPSFEDR

RELEXRBETGTEVELHT
T s

As at 31 December

MW12H31H

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T AR TFor

Properties under development for sale RERGFEME 6,525,842 7,373,350
Properties held for sale BIEREME 2,077,631 1,629,347
8,603,473 9,002,697
Less: Provision for impairment in values of BB ELEYEDN (118,201) (87,549)

properties held for sale B B

8,485,272 8,915,148
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e PR RRME

11 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

1 FEHEIRBFHFENR(A)

Properties held or under development for sale comprise: BIELEXREFHFEYEBIE:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥FTT AR T
Land use rights and demolition and T B A8 B KRS B 12 3,011,579 3,745,632
resettlement costs after deducting BT (E R RIFE
related government grants MZEER
Construction costs and capitalised expenditures 3 £& pk 48 & & b I % 5,395,616 5,017,553
Interest capitalised (a) BERMEF B @) 196,278 239,512
8,603,473 9,002,697
Less: Provision for decline in values of W EE E Y AR (118,201) (87,549)
properties held for sale BEiEE
8,485,272 8,915,148
Note: B i -
(a) Interest rate of capitalised borrowing costs for the year ended (@) #H E2022F12A31BIEEE: B
31 December 2022 was 8.36% (2021: 7.99%) per annum. AL E FRE FI K 58.36% (20214 :

7.99%) °

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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e PR wRME

11 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER 11 FELHEIHEPFENE(E)
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (CONTINUED)
Movements of properties held or under development for BEHEXRERFEMEE DI
sale are as follows: T:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR T AEET T

At beginning of the year F 1) 9,002,697 7,024,785
Additions NE 2,007,269 3,892,848
Costs of properties recognised in fEE PR YA

profit or loss (2,406,493) (1,892,356)
Transfer to investment properties EEBESREYE - (22,580)
At end of the year FR 8,603,473 9,002,697
Movements on the provision for impairment in values of ZERELEMERERBENE T
properties held for sale are as follows: wm

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AEETT

At beginning of the year F1] 87,549 63,714
Provision for impairment in values of BIELEMERE BB

properties held for sale 36,230 25,534
Provision realised upon sales HERERNEG (5,578) (1,699)
At end of the year FR 118,201 87,549

2022 Al | Report
—gooseg 290
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e PR RRME

11 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER 11 BHEHEIRHRPSENEE)

DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

Management expects that the amounts of these properties
held or under development for sale as of 31 December
2022 and 2021 will be recognised as cost from sales of
properties during the following periods:

EEEEAZEFELHERAEF
HFEWEEH E2022%F k2021512 A
IS EBRNUTHEERAEY
EHEMRA:

2022 2021
20224 20216
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFor

Amounts are expected to be recovered:  FE i #§ Uk Bl & 58 ¢
Within 12 months 1218 A LA 2,507,182 1,240,256
Beyond 12 months B id121E A 6,096,291 7,762,441
8,603,473 9,002,697

The properties held or under development for sale are all
located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s certain properties
held or under development for sale amounting to
RMB885,720,000 (2021: RMB1,034,461,000) were pledged
as collateral for the Group’s bank borrowings (Note 18) and
other long-term borrowings (Note 20).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s certain properties
held or under development for sale amounting to
RMB137,397,000 (2021: RMB128,497,000) were pledged
as collateral for certain third parties’ and a related party’s
borrowings.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

REHEIREFFEVRHMLR
hE -

R2022%12A31H A &£ B #H T A
R #885,720,0007T (20214F : A R #&
1,034,461,0007T) &) 5 {E 1 & = 79 8
PEEMETES KRR KRN
15 K & [ &9 8 17 18 (K 5E18) &
H & BB 3 (M 5£20) ©

M2022%12A318 A &£ B #H T A
R #137,397,0007T (20214 : A R #&
128,497,0007T) B9 5 1F i & 3k () 8
FHEEMECERETE =R —
HEAE T R B AR A AR o
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e PR wRME

12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

12 BN HE b BUREMBAMN K

PREPAYMENTS |
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥ T ARMTF T
Trade receivables Z 5 W IE - =
Prepayments of construction costs (@) EENKATEN B @) 142,557 74,675
Tender deposits and other deposits (b) BiZke kEMiZE b 157,027 39,590
Receivable from project service (c) I8 B Bk 7% /& W K TH () 54,140 55,440
Amount due from a related party (Note 36) JiE s 8 Bt 5 5IR 40,060 —
(#12#36)
Costs relating to demolition and resettlement A] B BAT W [E] /Y B i 41,712 52,639
activities recoverable from government (d) ML B /EZEA BN
7R (@)
Prepaid tax and surcharges (e) T8 A5 B 18 R M & (o) 23,296 24,970
Value-added-tax deductible ATEIEE N 12,873 4,370
Temporary funding receivables (f) JFE W ER RE B & SKIB() 5,007 203,507
Others Hh 4,345 2,521
338,460 383,037
Total of trade and other receivables and B 5 & H b & U 3k I8 F0 481,017 457,712
prepayments AT BRI B 5
Less: Allowance for impairment of trade and B 5 I E th FE Uk (57,544) (57,955)
other receivables SKIE R B
423,473 399,757

2022 Annual Report
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e PR RRME

12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Prepayments of construction costs represent the prepaid
construction costs, which will be transferred to properties
under development for sale.

The balance represents deposits for bidding of land use
rights, project development and migrant wages and housing
maintenance fund for properties held for sale of the Group.

Receivable from project service represent the outstanding
balance recoverable from customer for the construction costs
and project management fees incurred. The Group manages
the construction projects on behalf of certain customers, and
earns a pre-determined service fee for the services provided.
The balance has been fully impaired due to long-ageing.

The balances represent demolition and resettlement costs
paid on behalf of and recoverable from the government.

Prepaid tax and surcharges are levied when the Group
receives advances from customers and the prepaid taxes and
surcharges are recorded as prepayments before the relevant
revenue is recognised.

Temporary funding receivables as at 31 December 2021 are
mainly non-interest bearing receivables from Yuzhou Finance
Bureau and Weidu Investment, among which, RMB75,000,000
were received during 2022 and RMB123,500,000 were
transferred to tender deposits for land development.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

12 &
(&

SR Ef R ERTE A

Hrat

(@)

BERABEMNRBREBEMNZEK
K BEFESEREFEBEFFE
(U

FEHRTEEBRR I FERAED
RiZHke  HEBRREBIIE -
NEAEERFELENENTRE 4

EEE -

HERBEBRBELEERNESE
KARBEEEERABEREFIKRE
By MR @R o REBARKRET
EFPEBRRZREABL RBALEE
B ERBOREE - ANEH
BEHRORERE  EE28RE -

ZEBIERRBUFX N NFEMR
EERANEATARFEEARIA -

BENRELMMEDIRAEERE
P UER 28 SR B Bl TR R IR &
B o0 B 50 A8 B8 U A 2 B SR AT A2 8%
RN TR -

202112310 * B GERE £
RETZABRBKRESMNTHKD K
HMEENTFERE  HP AR
#75,000,0007T 20224 Y BL » i
A R #123,500,0007T ¥ & # =
ERSIEL AR -



Notes to the Consolidated Fin

12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 12
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The loss allowance provision for other receivables as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are reconciled to the opening
loss allowance for that provision as follows:

ancial Statements

e PR wRME

8 5% LA BB R A SR

(&

R20224F 2021412 A318 » Efth fE
WRTER BB E R EEZEED
HyEBEEREHRNT

Other

receivables

H th PE U 18

RMB’000

ARETFr

At 1 January 2021 20211 A1 56,862
Provision for loss allowance recognised in REZHEANGEEREREG

profit or loss (Note 26) (Ht726) 2,100

Written off during the year as uncollectible RERHMEE AT E (1,007)

At 31 December 2021 7R2021F12A31H 57,955

At 1 January 2022 20221 A1H 57,955
Provision for loss allowance recognised in REZPERANBEERERG

profit or loss (Note 26) (H 7£26) 889

Written off during the year as uncollectible RERME AT E =

Receipt of receivables provided WER 38 7 F 2 FHIR A9 JE I SR IR B
in prior years (Note 26) (K1 it26) (1,300)
At 31 December 2022 12022412 H31H 57,544

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of
receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral security.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair value of trade

and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
trade and other receivables are all denominated in RMB.

RERESARERKTAINZKAE
ERE & m bl & B R W R IR R R E
B -AKEYEFSHEMNEFR -

R2022F K2021F12A31H ' B 5
MEMERFENAFEHEELERR
BREE -

R20224F K2021F12A31H © & 5
FEMEKRRIBNEEEZIFUA
REEZTE -
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e PR RRME

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

13 BAFEBEBREARNESH

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
As at 31 December
MW12A831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARMTF T
Listed securities — held-for-trading tWESF - FEER
Equity securities — PRC (@) RAFES — FEE - 155
Wealth management products (b) V= EREMmDb) - 6,000
- 6,155
Note: B i -
(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent @ EAFEFRABEARNERE

shares listed in the PRC for trading purpose.

ERGETFE MO EIZBE MR

T/‘\ )

(o)  Wealth management products are mainly investments in

financial products issued by commercial banks. The fair
values of these investments approximated their carrying

b HMEEBEEMTZAEMERTHE
THESREMNERE - R2021F12
A31B ZERENAFEEER

values as at 31 December 2021.

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

EEEE -
14 BERBITEER
(a) RERBELZEY

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FiT
Cash at banks RITER 220,355 280,870
Cash on hand FHRE 704 619
Cash and cash equivalents BekBeSED 221,059 281,489

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(a) Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

e PR wRME

14 BERBITEER(E)

(@) RERREEEW(H)

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AREFT

Cash at banks and on hand RITEREFERS

— denominated in RMB — UAREE 220,340 279,725
— denominated in HKD — B TTEHE 719 1,764
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEY 221,059 281,489

The Group’s bank balances consist of bank deposits
carrying interests at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates.

(b) Restricted cash

(b)

AEEBTHBBERERS
A 4R17 17 %I 3 105 8 F % &t
BHRITEHR -

SRHRS

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARETFr
Deposits as security for customers’ REFPRBERER 105,134 111,184

mortgage loans (a) EROFRE

Deposits for issuing notes payable (b) BITERNEBROFRD) - 9,203
Others (c) Htbc) 75,644 26,449
180,778 146,836
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e PR RRME

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED) 14 RERWITHER(E)
(b) Restricted cash (continued) (b) ZRFIRE (&)
Notes: K&t -
(a) These bank deposits are restricted to secure the @ ZERTERABRAAEEH
bank loans taken by certain customers of the Group ETEFPRESE TH A
pursuant to the local regulations of certain cities. Such FER MBI RITERKIE
deposits will be released upon the issuance of property HER ZEFRABREL
ownership certificates. VIEMEREZRTAMRE -
(b) These bank deposits are restricted deposits held at b)) ZERITHERABFBRNRA
banks as security for issuing notes payable (Note 22). MXBREIFR (EREITE
TR F e TR (i 5E22) -
(c) Others include certain bank deposits restricted by the ) HiBFEIRITMAKRERH
bank for future project development. EMEsYREMNAE THRITHE
Ko
15 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 15 BRAR R % E
Authorised shares EE R
Number of

authorised Authorised

shares share capital

EERBEE EE R A

HKD

BT

At 31 December 2021 and 2022 20214 2022512 A31H 2,400,000,000 24,000,000
Issued shares EETRAG

Number of Share capital

Share premium

ordinary shares RMB’000 RMB’000 Total

EERHA Rx Rty a® st

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

AERTT AEETT ARRTT

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 20226 202112318 1,200,000,000 10,645 299,188 309,833

2492 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(CONTINUED)

Issued shares (continued)
Notes:

As at the date of incorporation, the Company had issued 10,000
ordinary shares and further increased to 100,000 ordinary shares
during 2016.

On 12 November 2018, the Company issued 300,000,000 new
ordinary shares at par value of HKDO.01 per share for cash
consideration of HKD1.24 each, and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HKD372,000,000 (equivalent to RMB329,994,000),
in connection with its global offering and commencement of the
listing of its shares on the Stock Exchange on the same date. The
excess over the par value of RMB2,661,000 for the 300,000,000
shares issued, net of the transaction costs of approximately
RMB20,162,000 was credited to share premium with an amount of
RMB307,171,000.

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution dated 22 October 2018,
the directors were authorised to capitalise HKD8,999,000
(approximately RMB7,983,000) upon listing, standing to the credit
of the share premium account of the Company by applying such
sum in paying up in full at par 899,900,000 shares for allotment
and issue to shareholders of the Company (the “Capitalisation
Issue”) to their then shareholdings in the Company.

e PR wRME

15 RAK R 7%EE (&)

ERITRA (&)

Rk ZBH8  ARRARHEEDELT
10,0000 & & B - I R2016F & — £ &
Z100,0000% & i@ A% ©

R2018F11 8128 » AR & 5t & &2 Bk %
EREBRMREBEB MR EWiE
f% ™ {£0.017% st % 17 7300,000,000
E TR LABRREREE24
BTN RSARE EEMEREL
%8 #9372,000,0007% ;L (8 8 M A R &
329,994,0007T) ©  $£300,000,0000 E
BORMOME BEAEBEMNTISIAR
#2661,000(M BRI K AL AR
#20,162,00070) B &t A B 8 A R ¥
307,171,0007T 9 i% 17 & (& ©

1R 1 B H A20185F10822H &) i% B 3k
FR ETEBERARLETEBARQR
% 19 3% 8 BE #78,999,0007 7T (49 A R ¥
7,983,000 ERBRER - W B A
% % %78 % Bk ™ {E 1 2899,900,000 %
D ARARB IR RS EERA
ARNFRLEOIEEERETRG(TEXR
1£3E17]) -
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e PR RRME

16 RETAINED EARNINGS 16 REZF
RMB’000
ARBTF T
At 1 January 2021 MR2021F1H1H 1,022,188
Profit for the year F 1A 306,913
Appropriation to statutory surplus ERELTRBEEZ170)
reserves (Note 17(c)) (16,454)
Dividend paid B B (60,000)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 7202112 4318 & 2022F1H1H 1,252,647
Profit for the year FAFE 84,812
Appropriation to statutory surplus EREXTFRBEENZ17C)
reserves (Note 17(c)) (4,576)
Dividend paid =ERNEE) (59,998)
At 31 December 2022 2022612 A31H 1,272,885
17 OTHER RESERVES 17 HitufE &
Statutory Asset
Capital Merger surplus revaluation
reserve reserve reserves reserve Total
BXfifE GHRE LTBRNRREEERRE @
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANEREFT ANREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2021 RH2021F181H 16,224 4,774 135,454 11,486 167,938
Appropriation to statutory BEZETRBRERC
surplus reserves (c) = = 16,454 = 16,454
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A31B K
1 January 2022 2022%181H 16,224 4,774 151,908 11,486 184,392
Appropriation to statutory BREETRREEC
surplus reserves (c) = = 4,576 = 4,576
Transactions with non-controling 2 3E#E &= MR 5
interests (Note 38(8)) (K1 2358() (253) - - - 253)
At 31 December 2022 R2022612A31R 15,971 4,774 156,484 11,486 188,715

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Capital reserve as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
represents the difference of aggregate consideration
paid by the Group for acquisition of non-controlling
interest of existing subsidiaries and the aggregate
carrying amount of those non-controlling interest, after
elimination of investments in subsidiaries.

Merger reserve as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
represents the difference of aggregate consideration
paid by the Group for the acquisition of subsidiaries
and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries acquired
during the Group’s reorganisation for the Listing.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
these subsidiaries registered in the PRC shall
appropriate 10% of its annual statutory profit (after
offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory
surplus reserve (“SSR”) account. When the balance
of SSR reaches 50% of the registered capital/share
capital of these subsidiaries, any further appropriation
is optional. The SSR can be utilised to offset prior
years’ losses or to increase paid-in capital. However,
SSR shall be maintained at a minimum of 25% of
registered capital/share capital after such utilisation.

The SSR are non-distributable for cash dividends
except in the event of liquidation and are subject
to certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC
regulations.

e PR wRME

17 Htt i (&)

(@)

20224 K2021F12A31H 1) &
NEEEASERWEREMN
BAREERERS IANER
BRZEFTERESFEAE
CIEERHBARMIEERN
= o

MR20224F 2021412 A31H &
EHREBERAEE R LETM
ETEASRE AEERWE
MBAR MM AEREER
WEHB AR ERNEENEE -

BRIEFHEARELRPENEA
R ERMA  ZEEPEH
AMRHNKBRAREFEAKEE
EFBERETRNEBEFE
EIE1%) 10% 8 A K F B
BIEERBREEDERE - &
AEBBHEELEHRETZEH
B DR T E AR A B50%
% AIARIEERHE—SEE -
ATRBHEITAREEBE
FEBBREMBHMBRAE - K
e EEZSARE BB
ERGBHEEATLOREMER,
fi% 7K #925% °

BB EEBBRETA
AR KRERE X XEE
THETBDERARE -
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e PR RRME

18 BANK BORROWINGS

18 RITERK

As at 31 December

M128318
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr ARETFor
Long-term borrowings REENR
— Bank borrowings, secured (a) — RITE - BiEH @) 275,500 215,000
Less: Current portion of long-term B REE R ENE & o
borrowings
— Bank borrowings, secured (a) — IRITIE (145,000) (58,800)
EHEH@
Subtotal IINET 130,500 156,200
Current borrowings TE AR
— Bank borrowings, secured (a) — IRITIERK  EE M@ 48,000 49,000
48,000 49,000
Add: Current portion of long-term borrowings # : £ Eff f& 7% #9 BN & 2B 5
— Bank borrowings, secured (a) — RITE 145,000 58,800
B ik (@)
Subtotal NE 193,000 107,800
Total S 323,500 264,000
Note: B e -
(a) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, certain properties held or (@) M20224F M2021512A31H0 » A &

under development for sale (Note 11), investment properties
(Note 8) and property, plant and equipment (Note 6) of the

Group are pledged for the bank borrowings.

In addition, as at 31 December 2022, certain borrowings of
the Group are pledged with equity interests of a subsidiary,
third parties’ property and related parties’ property.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

18 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 18 #RITIEM (&)
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the non-current portion of R2022F K2021F12A318 + K £
the Group’s long-term bank borrowings were repayable as ERREBEITERFIERES LD E
follows: R R EE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR T AEET T

Between 1 and 2 years 1224 64,000 156,200
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 66,500 —

130,500 156,200
The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31 M20224 K2021612 A318 &) N #
December 2022 and 2021 were as follows: FHEBEMENT :

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARK T AEETT

Bank borrowings 1T IE K 6.66% 7.59%

2022 Al IR rt
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e PR RRME

18 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

18 RITEK(A)

The exposure of the Group’s long-term bank borrowings to
interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates or

maturity whichever is the earlier date is as follows:

AREERBTEROFELDE
R4 FI B B B S B A (A
SERE)MT

6 months 6-12 1-5
or less months years Total
JEEEDYA 6212f8 A 1255 1255
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000
ARETFT ARETT ARETF T ANREFL
Amounts included in non-current liabilities: st A JEiR &) & & 60 FUE :
As at 31 December 2022 1202212 4318 117,000 - 13,500 130,500
As at 31 December 2021 12021412 4318 = 67,200 89,000 156,200
Amounts included in current liabilities: SAMEAENFE:
As at 31 December 2022 12022412 4318 53,000 140,000 - 193,000
As at 31 December 2021 12021412 A31R 78,800 29,000 = 107,800

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair values of bank
borrowings approximate their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all bank borrowings are

denominated in RMB.

19 OTHER CURRENT BORROWINGS

19

20224 2021412 A31H » R 17
BEROATFEEEEEEMRS -

A20224F K2021F12A318 © T A
RITEIUAAREE -

H R B ER

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TFT AR T
Interest bearing borrowings from third parties K BEFE = H Mt BER 3,500 56,580

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, other current
borrowings bore interests at annual interest rates of 12%
and 8% respectively, which are dominated in RMB and

payable on demand.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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e PR wRME

20 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS 20 HitRHEAER
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF ARET T

Other long-term borrowings Hib R B &K
— Non-financial institutions, secured (a) — JE& BlH#E -
BHEMR @ 22,537 22,537
— Non-financial institutions, — s
unsecured (@) IR 1 (@) 128,840 189,840
— Financial institution, secured (b) — TREE  BEADb) 126,000 160,000
— Amount due to a non-controlling — PRI FE PR AR M % 5RIE
interest, unsecured (c) m ) 68,468 =
345,845 372,377
Less: Current portion of other long-term R B R HA 48 SR A BN AR
borrowings 7B
— Non-financial institutions, secured (@) — FE&EEE @ FiKHF Q) (5,000) (22,537)
— Non-financial institutions, — JEERIEE  BEIKFG
unsecured (@) (67,840) (67,840)
— Financial institution, secured (b) — SREE - BIEIEDB) (126,000) (34,000)
(198,840) (124,377)
147,005 248,000

Note: Hrat

The Group’s other long-term borrowings are secured by properties AEBHEMRBAEGBRBFELELH

held or under development for sale (Note 11) and equity interest of BHRFEDEMTINVE—BHHB QG

a subsidiary. IR BEE R -

(@ The balances mainly represent the borrowings from (@) ZEHBRTEEREIFSREED
non-financial institutions, which are designated by the local B o IES BRI T BUTIEE -
governments, who get funding directly from banks and then EEERRTESE:  ARA
use the funding to finance projects under various urban ZEeREZEMEEZFEET
redevelopment schemes. WIBERERHTEES -

2022 Al | Report
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e PR RRME

20 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Note: (continued)

(o)

The balances represent RMB160 million borrowed from a
micro-loan company in 2021, with scheduled installment
repayment of RMB34 million in 2022, RMB36 million each year
for 2023, 2024 and 2025 and RMB18 million before 10 June
2026. Whilst, pursuant to the loan contracts, the micro-loan
company has a right to request immediate repayment of the
borrowings from the Group, (i) with an amount ranging from
0% to 70% of the value of the land use rights for the pre-sold
properties of the related project company, before the project
company or the pledged land use rights apply the pre-sale
permit or the project starts the pre-sale, whichever is earlier,
and the percentage is at the discretion of the micro-loan
company; and (i) with an amount ranging from 0% to 50%
of the pre-sale amount of last month of the related project
company, from the next month after the project company gets
the pre-sale permit, and the percentage is at the discretion of
the micro-loan company.

As a result, the borrowings from the micro-loan company of
RMB126 million as at 31 December 2022 were reclassified as
current liabilities.

The balances represent the borrowings from a non-controlling
interest during the year ended 31 December 2022, with
scheduled repayment before December 2024.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the non-current portion of
the Group’s other long-term borrowings were repayable as
follows:

20 HfttRMERA)

Wyt (&)

(0)

BRI 2021 ER —ENEE
A A fEEH A R 160,000,000
JC 0 & B ¥ 20224 o H B 8
A B #34,000,0007T © #2023
20244 2025 H HR (B & A
R #36,000,0007C © LA K #2026
FRA1I0R Z AT HHEE AR
18,000,000t ° B & - REBEE KA
B NEERARERERANEE()
fETEB AR S E A Lt A
HEBEETABERRESZAH
(KB EAE)NBEEEER &
ENTHBEEEAGNBEMER
T fFAENEENIBETOS © B
DEEBHNEERRABETE L()E
BEHARMESBEZ A& X AHEAD
BEEER 2ENTHBEEEA
A EEAMEESENO%ES0%
BALLBANEERARETE -

o RA2022%12A318H © K
BNBERAANERARE
126,000,0007T & E 1 7 8 & &% &
BfE -

ZEEBIERE =2022F12A31H
IHFEREEERERSOER - 51
2|18 72024F12 A 2 BIEE -

R20224F N 2021F12 A31H » AEE
MEMRBAERPIERD LY ER
THEREEE:

As at 31 December

MW12A831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBTF T
Between 1 and 2 years 1224 134,468 97,000
Between 2 and 5 years 2FEL5F 12,537 151,000
147,005 248,000

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR wRME

20 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS 20 HRHABR(E)

(CONTINUED)

The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

20224 202112 A31H8 #) N #E
FHEBRFERAT

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214F
Other long-term borrowings H b & B fE 5K 9.98% 7.81%

The exposure of the Group’s other long-term borrowings to
interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates or
maturity whichever is the earlier date is as follows:

AEBEMEHABRONEEEGHR
B REREHEEBHIH B AR
EEMAE)IMT:

6 months 6-12 1-5
or less months years Total
FEEETY 62128 A 1255 hy
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000
ARETFT ARETFT ANREFTL ANREFL
Amounts included in non-current liabilities: St AZERE BB FE
At 31 December 2022 12022412 4318 78,537 - 68,468 147,005
At 31 December 2021 12021412 4318 122,000 = 126,000 248,000
Amounts included in current liabilities: STARDEEMNFE:
At 31 December 2022 12022412 A31H 126,000 72,840 - 198,840
At 31 December 2021 1202112 A31A 69,037 55,340 - 124,377

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair value of other
long-term borrowings approximates their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all other long-term
borrowings are denominated in RMB.

R2022F K2021F12A318 + H fib
RHERNOAFEREREEMRES -

20224 2021128318 © BT A
EMEHAEROUAARKE -
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e PR RRME

21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

21

ARA%

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR FT
Contract liabilities ARAME 4,854,156 5,212,558

The Group receives payments from customers based on
billing schedule as established in contracts. Payments are
usually received in advance of the performance under the
contracts which are mainly from sales of properties.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised during 2021 and 2022 relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

AEBZARMIENN KL TR
EFEBMNR - BEENRBEREK
RARBEMNMEBEER MxFERE
EREMEHE -

T R 5l R R 20214 K 20224 5t 45 88
AREBEMERNKALE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARETFor

Revenue recognised that was included FAFEVERBELERT
in the contract liabilities balance at the BERERKA

beginning of the year 2,522,286 2,154,230

Management expects that the contract amounts allocated
to unsatisfied performance obligations as of 31 December
2022 and 2021 will be recognised as revenue from sales of
properties during the following periods:

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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e PR wRME

21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 21 EREEE)

As at 31 December

M®12831H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥FT ARBTF T
Expected to be recognised within one year TEER —FRNER 3,101,627 2,653,890
Expected to be recognised after one year TEEIRN —FEmR 4,286,536 3,298,803
7,388,163 5,952,693

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22 BZRHEHMEMRKIER
As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥FT AR®TF T
Trade payables B 5 e RIE 1,627,408 1,240,833
Notes payable B R & - 9,203
Deposits received from customers (a) BEXFPKENIEEE) 50,971 84,378
Value-added-tax and other taxes payable (b) A & H A FE R 261,825 272,994

T IE (b)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests (c) FE - SEHE AR #E 25 5 IH () 151,360 218,812
Temporary funding payables (c) FRREE € B 3B ) 62,375 121,625
Interest payable FE 7 B 48,806 47,628
Accrued payroll EATE 26,528 28,911
Amounts due to related parties (Note 36(c)(iv)  F& 1~ Ba B 75 7k 18 14,296 18,738
(H7 #£36(c)(iv)
Maintenance fees collected on behalf RIKREE 1,189 1,337
Other payables due to a related FE < B B 5 b 3ROIE 1,040 5,374
party (Note 36(c)(ii)) (K1 7#36(c)(i)

Others HAb 26,790 14,669
2,272,588 2,064,502
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e PR RRME

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

Note:

(@) The balances represent the advance payment received for
purchase of properties under development, contracts of
which are yet to be entered. Such balances will be transferred
into contract liabilities once the sales contracts have been
signed with customers.

(b) The standard value-added-tax (“VAT”) rate was 9% since 1
April 2019. Certain sales of properties and rental income of
the Group are qualified for the simplified tax rate of 5% but
the input VAT is not deductible.

(c) Temporary funding payables and amounts due to non-
controlling interests are non-interest bearing payables.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of
trade payables based on invoice date are as follows:

22 EZRHMEAREGE)

Hrat

(@) AERIEBERZ DY EMKEE
BAFIR BBAKHMARITL - —
BHEEFPEIYTHEARN &K
BEREREANEME -

(o) BRERER(EER]) EKB20194F
ARRE R9% - AEBENSE T
EHERLHESZBRABARA%

MR R - BEIREER T A

e

© MEAEREE S ROE R B IR
BB AT B A -

20224 K2021%F12 8318 @ 1% 3%
ZFHHE S NESENRENRR
DR

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AEET T

Less than 1 year 1FE R 1,192,950 1,006,923
Between 1 and 2 years 15224 272,770 173,604
Between 2 and 3 years 2FE3F 105,935 23,545
Over 3 years 3F £ 55,753 36,761

1,627,408 1,240,833

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair value of trade
and other payables approximates their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
trade and other payables were all denominated in RMB.
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e PR wRME

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 23 EEMBH
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

Deferred tax assets: EERTAE E
— To be recovered after more than 12 months  — # R #121& A % U [@ 41,929 38,686
— To be recovered within 12 months — Br12{8 Ak E 133,864 119,562
175,793 158,248
Deferred tax liabilities: EERIBAE:
— To be settled after more than 12 months — B E12(8 A& EN (3,411) (3,661)
— To be settled within 12 months — B r12ME A RE R (12,489) (15,216)
(15,900) (18,877)
Deferred tax assets, net IEET IR & BE R R 159,893 139,371
The net movement on the deferred income tax account is REMESHREENFEE R
as follows: AT
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FrT AR FT
At beginning of the year F 1] 139,371 125,439
Credited to the consolidated statement stAZR A B R (K 730)
of profit or loss (Note 30) 20,522 13,932
At end of the year FR 159,893 139,371
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e PR RRME

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities amounting to approximately RMB13,912,000
(2021: RMB12,257,000) were offset.

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 without taking
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

23 EEFISH (&)

MR2022F12A318 * B #H H A R
#13,912,0007C (2021 : A K #
12,257,00070) FE RE T I & 2= KR
ERBBABED R -

H £20224 K2021F12A31H Ik F
E-ECHBEERBENES (AL
Rt RER—BMBRIEEE AN LG
BRI I

Deferred tax assets EERIBEE
Temporary
Provision for differences
impairment on
of properties recognition
held for sale Land  of revenue
and other appreciation  and cost of
Tax losses  receivables tax sales Others Total
REHE
NERER BARAR
ElhsA HERRN
HEER  WERE IHEER  EREEER 2t a3
RMB 00 AMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANEETT  AREFL  AEEFT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETX
At 1 January 2021 R201%1418 2,160 29,513 49,618 68,826 551 150,668
Credited/(charged to the consolidated ~ 3fA/(MB)RABER
statement
of profit or loss 238 4,591 (386) 15,121 213 19,837
At 31 December 2021 20215124318 2,398 34,104 49,232 83,947 824 170,505
t 1 January 2022 #2022F1A18 2,398 34,104 49,232 83,947 824 170,505
Credited/charged) to the consolidated  3tA /(1B ABER
statement
of profit or loss 25,314 8,656 (843) (15,620) 1,692 19,199
At 31 December 2022 2025128318 21,112 42,760 48,389 68,327 2,516 189,704
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e PR wRME

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 23 EEFTBH(E)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEBEEE
Temporary
differences
Temporary on
differences recognition
on of fair value Undistributed
recognition of Land gains on profits of PRC
revenue and  appreciation  investment  subsidiaries
cost of sales tax properties (Note 38) Total
HENE
ERUAR EARENE NEM
HERAH NREREN  RORAE
ERMZE  IHEER ENHER (Hf#£36) -k

AMBUO0O  AMBUO0O  RMBUOOO  RMBUOOO  RMBOOD
ARETL  ANRETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETL

At 1 January 2021 #2021E1A18 8,338 = 7,683 9,208 25,229
Credited to the consolidated TARARRER

statement of profit or loss 3,863 17 2,025 = 5,905
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31A 12,201 17 9,708 9,208 31,134
At 1 January 2022 1202241 A1H 12,201 17 9,708 9,208 31,134
Credited to the consolidated TARARER

statement of profit or loss (831) (17) (474) - (1,322)
At 31 December 2022 12022412 A31H 11,370 - 9,234 9,208 29,812
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e PR RRME

23

24

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax
losses could be carried forward for a period of five years to
offset against its future taxable profits. Deferred tax relating
to unutilised tax losses are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of RMB20,091,000 (31 December 2021: RMB14,561,000)
in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately
RMB80,363,000 as at 31 December 2022 (31 December
2021: RMB58,245,000), among which, tax losses of
RMB56,595,000 will expire within five years from the end of
the respective years they arose.

23

RSB (&)
EEBESE(H)

BBEFRBEERZER IR AFHM
HEEBEBBUAREKEERKE
REAE B APEREEIEEH
RELEHR BRI LA B 5 E R
FENHSAZEEHBEEERTE
z7J\ ®
PR20229F12 A31H » AL E I EHL
TH B B 49 A R #80,363,0007T (20214
12A318 : A R #58,245,0007T) #& R
IEIEFT 1S 8 & = A R#20,091,0007T
(2021512 A31H : A R #14,561,000
JT) ° E R - AR #56,595,0007T H F
HEEBESESEEAFERBRAEFN
EIH -

REVENUE 24 WA
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
Sales of properties MEEE
— Recognised at a point in time — R — R R R 2,850,035 2,753,389
Rental income e WA 6,832 5,305
Service income AR 7 U A 4,904 8,984
2,861,771 2,767,678
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25 OTHER LOSSES — NET

e PR wRME

25 HihE#E —F5

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFor
Donations N (5,643) (5,290)
Penalties, fines and compensations i SeREE (8,756) (7,417)
Impairment loss of investment in an R—HEEERATNREN
associate (a) RIEBEE) - (7,042)
Exchange losses & 5 &8 (1,628) (334)
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair EAFEEZBEZAERNS
value through profit or loss BEENQTEKZE - 22
Gains from disposal of & Y B A R M (1 279)
a subsidiary (Note 9) 203 =
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, HEME BMELZED
plant and equipment (E18)/ W= (727) 33
Others HAh 3,420 (24)
(8,131) (20,052)
Note: Bt -
(@) The Group entered into a development contract with a @ AEEE—EZHAME[HIILTH

co-developer in which the Group co-develop a project of
associate company with the co-developer. Based on the best
estimate as at 31 December 2021, the Group considered the
carrying amount of its investment exceeds its recoverable
amount by approximately RMB7,042,000 under this contract
due to the higher expected future cost over the future benefits
to be received, therefore impairment loss on investment was
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2021.

BER B AEEGER AR
BHARMEHEATNIER - B
B R2021F12 A318 2 & £ & -
AEBERAEEZARTHERE
FEENEeEATKEEELY
AR #7042,0007T © F A FBH AR K
BAEEE N ABKEAF S -
It REE2021F12 A31HIEFE -
AEBERERERIE -
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e PR RRME

26 EXPENSES BY NATURE 26 EMEESINER

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing EFABEERA - HE KT SHEER
expenses, administrative expenses and net reversal/(losses) TOTHAXRFERBEESHEER
of impairment on financial assets are analysed as follows: B/ (cREEREBBRNERS

T
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTF T
Costs of properties recognised in profit or 718 &5 7 32 8 4 2 A /R
loss
— Land use rights and demolition and — A0 BR AR A T A B 1B BY
resettlement costs, after deducting T b 5B PR AE R AR B AN
related government grants ZEER 818,647 510,139
— Construction costs and capitalised - BEXARENMEAXZ
expenditures 1,456,935 1,253,666
— Net provision for impairment in values — #H{EHEMENRE
of properties held for sale (Note 11) B R aE1) 30,652 23,835
— Interest capitalised — BXR{EFE 106,694 108,422
Staff costs (Note 28) BT kA (K228) 119,487 120,486
Advertising and publicity costs EEREEKAE 41,029 57,476
Professional fees EXBH 16,476 26,780
Office and meeting expenses WRENSTZEH 27,700 27,559
Entertainment expenses BEE 19,168 24,173
Depreciation of property, plant and M- MERRERE AR
equipment and amortisation of right-of- BENE W76
use assets (Note 6) 12,974 13,843
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 7) $EF & E# S (K1:27) 728 —
Stamp duty and other taxes ENTE T Ko HAth 7% 18 10,629 11,312
Tax and surcharges I8 KBS n & 12,273 9,871
Sales agent commission HERERS 19,406 21,174
Audit service fees HitRBE R 2,280 2,280
Net reversal/(losses) of impairment on FRECHEERE
financial assets (Note 12) (CRMEERBEBRA)
(Bt at12) (411) 2,100
Bank charges |ITZH 713 1,394
Travelling expenses EIRE 235 321
Rental expenses HMeMx 230 52
Other expenses =i 4,067 5,235
Total cost of sales, selling and marketing  $5§& A ~ $5& K5 H# E R
expenses, administrative expenses and X TERAIARFRDS
net reversal/(losses) of impairment on MEERE(£BEER
financial assets BEE18)EE 2,699,912 2,220,118

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR wRME

27 FINANCE INCOME 27 BIREUWA

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTF T

Finance income B 75 Uz A
— Interest income on bank deposits — RITEFERFEEKA 1,146 1,566
Finance costs B 75 B AR
— Interest on bank borrowings and other — $R{1T{& % K& H K 5
long-term borrowings &R HF B (63,316) (60,187)
— Interest on pre-sale deposits received — ZWFBEIREHF A (286) (4,876)
— Interest charges on lease liabilities —HEaENERX (1,137) (1,237)
(64,739) (66,300)
Amount capitalised EXterE 63,602 65,063
Finance costs expensed B $H M B S A A (1,137) (1,237)
Finance income — net B A — F5E 9 329
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e PR RRME

28 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

28 ETRA(BREESEME)

EMOLUMENTS)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT A BB TFor
Wages and salaries TERFS® 92,546 92,301
Pension RIKE 20,802 20,071
Other welfare benefit expenses H A 1R & A 6,139 8,114
119,487 120,486

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
approved and conditionally adopted by the shareholders
of the Company by way of a written resolution on 22
October 2018 for the primary purpose of recognising and
acknowledging the contribution of the directors, employees
and other eligible parties who have made valuable

contribution to the Group.

As of the date of issue of these financial statements, no
option has been granted, agreed to be granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group
cannot use forfeited contributions to reduce its contributions

to the pension schemes.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

RN T E H2018F10H22H A &
HRZFZRM A AU E REIE G RN
EREFTE(HERERTED =2
BN ARTARUES  EERY
AEBEELEEERNEME ER
SAFENER

BEAMBHRREGELY  BER
BREREFIRIBERELRER
B 176 A E A ERREREE
KA

R2022%F12A31H K2021412 A31
H AEBETEHELRKEFAR
BARKEET BRI -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, 20 EEX - ABRSHFMALTHNER
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND LEZEREREEEMNE
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERBRETHAENMS
The emoluments of the Company’s directors paid/ AEBETSRARBMN BN
payable by the companies comprising the Group are ARRESHMSHI BT :

set out below:

Salaries Retirement Other
and other Discretionary scheme social

Name of director EEf% Fees  allowances bonus contributions welfares Total
5ER il 2

we  HbEE O BEEL  HEHR nEEd @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTL  ARRFR  ARRFR  ARRFZ  ARRTT  ABKTR

Year ended 31 December 2022 E 220225 12A31 AL EE

Executive directors HiEE

M. Li Xiaobing BkEE - 1,084 203 52 2 1,365

Ms. Qi Chunfeng EEERT - 763 155 8 7 933

Mr. Wang Quan IEEE - 334 129 32 2 521

Mr. Wang Zhenfeng TREsE - 891 203 32 2 1,152
- 3,07 690 124 85 3,971

Independent non-executive BU#HER

directors

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FHBELE 264 - - - - 264

Mr. Fang Cheng HiEEE 264 - - - - 264

Mr. Wei Jian RelrE 264 - - - - 264
792 - - - - 792
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e PR RRME

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, 20 EEX - ABRSHFMALTHNER

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND LEGRENEEEMS (&)
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERESTHABNHE (&)
(continued)
Salaries Retirement QOther
and other  Discretionary scheme social
Name of director EEiY Fees  allowances bonus  contributions welfares Total
Z4R &I A
we  HEtEE BERL FEAR HEEF @t

AUBDOD  AWBUOD  ABUOD  AUBUOD  AWBDOD  AUBOOD
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE0NF12A31B1LEE

Executive directors HIEF
M. Li Xiaobing BKEE - 1,001 200 19 2 1,364
Ms. Qi Chunfeng EEERT = 904 200 30 24 1,158
Mr. Wang Quan IRE = 514 90 30 24 658
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng ThRELE = 905 200 30 2% 1,159
= 3,414 690 139 9% 4,339
Indlependient non-executive directors  BUAHTEE
M. Lee Kwok Lun SEB LY 203 = - - - 208
Mr. Fang Cheng PR 203 - - - - 203
Mr. Wei Jian Ralxs 203 = - - - 208
609 = = = = 609
No inducement fees, employer’s contribution to
pension schemes or compensation for loss of office as B 2£2022F &2021F12A31H
directors were given to any of the directors for the year IEFE  WERETMES IS
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. MEBE EBEFEEZSAEHERK

ABEEEEME -

There was no arrangement under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the #H Z=2022F K2021F12H31H
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. EFE BEFUERBEEANZ

HEIRERERNS -
There was no chief executive who was not also a

director for the years ended 31 December 2022 and # E2022F K2021F12H31H
2021. tFE BEITARRESH

R=ITBAE -
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29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 include three directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining
two individuals are as follows for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021:

e PR wRME

20 EX  ARHRSHMALHNER

RiEshkaREZEME (&)

(b) TEREHMAL

#H £2022F K2021F12A31H
FEEE AEEMNRAE RS
MATBE=Z2EF BEHN
e R ESDITPRE - #
220224 K2021F12A318 1k
FEENHBTWEALTABH
o REH T

Year ended 31 December

HBZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARMTF T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, EA# ¢ - BEZ8 - Hfb
other allowances and other EER B E Y F &

benefits in kind 1,708 2,212

The annual emoluments fell within the following bands:

NFTIEENFEME

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Annual emoluments bands FEME &M
HKD Nil to HKD1,000,000 078 7T £1,000,000/% 7T 1 —
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001/ T =
1,500,000 7T 1 2

(c) For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no director or any of the five highest paid individuals
received any emolument from the Group as an
inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leave the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

(c) # Z=2022%F k2021412 A31H
EFE VTEEEREWNASR
EeTMATEAEEKERT
MM ESEAMASKIMAREE
RRRSIERBEREE -
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e PR RRME

29 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, 20 BEEX - ABRSHFMALTHNER

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND LEZREREEEMS (&)
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(d) Senior management’s emolument (d) SHEEEMS
The senior management’s annual emoluments SREEEFEMNES (TEEE
(excluding directors) fell within the following bands: E)MEEMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20224
Annual emoluments bands FEWSEM
HKD Nil to HKD1,000,000 0% 7T 21,000,000/ 7T 1 2
30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 30 FRiEHimx
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ABR®TFT
Current income tax BN AR AT 13 Bt
— PRC land appreciation tax — Bt i 1 (E R 12,863 95,344
— PRC corporate income tax — PR EMRER 84,308 155,398
97,171 250,742
Deferred income tax (Note 23) i IE FT 1S B (B 7#23) (20,522) (13,932)
Total income tax charged for the year F NS R 76,649 236,810
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 30

The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the enacted tax rate of the home country of the companies
within the Group as follows:

e PR wRME

Fri&im> (&)

B 7K &5 [ 1O BR B S B AT A B B B
ISR ARARRARNEEETER
AMEBNS BHEYNXFENER
T BEAERET:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLFEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AEET T

Profit before income tax B P 15 B¢ A A B 154,418 539,979
PRC land appreciation tax o £ i (E R (12,863) (95,344)
141,555 444 635
Income tax calculated at statutory A ERER25%TE R
rate of 25% P15 %t 35,389 111,159
Effect of expenses not deductible for AT ARMBATS AR
income tax purposes (a) "% & (a) 20,231 10,348
Withholding tax B 948 12,778
Tax losses not recognised as AERBEEHEEEN
deferred tax assets HiEEiE 6,666 7,146
Temporary differences not recognised RERBEEHEEEN
as deferred tax assets iy =% - 35
Prior year tax clearance adjustment BAEFEBRAE
552 =
PRC land appreciation tax B i 32 (E R 12,863 95,344
Total income tax expense FriSfif < 8% 76,649 236,810

(@): Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes
mainly represent entertainment expenses in excess
of the prescribed cap, non-deductible donations, and
interest expenses without proper invoices etc.

(@: FATARMEBEMERMMANTE
ZEEBRTLRNBRFE -
TAARHNBER R BEEEER
A BRXEF -
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

PRC corporate income tax

Under the Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT”) Law of the
PRC, the CIT rate applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries
located in the PRC from 1 January 2008 is 25%.

The CIT Law and its implementation rules impose a
withholding tax at 10% for dividends distributed by a PRC-
resident enterprise to its immediate holding company
outside the PRC for earnings generated beginning 1
January 2008 and undistributed earnings generated prior to
1 January 2008 are exempted from such withholding tax.
A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the
immediate holding companies are established in Hong Kong
according to the tax treaty arrangement between the PRC
and Hong Kong.

No deferred income tax liabilities for PRC withholding
income tax was recognised on the accumulated unremitted
distributable profits up to 31 December 2017, which
were generated by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries and are
attributable to the investors outside the PRC. The Group
controls the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and
it has been determined that the accumulated unremitted
distributable profits up to 31 December 2017 will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

Based on the management’s best estimation, deferred
income tax liabilities of RMB12,319,000 as at 31 December
2018 have been recognised for the PRC withholding tax
that would be payable upon remittance, in respect of a
portion of the unremitted distributable profits of certain PRC
subsidiaries attributable to the investor outside the PRC.
Among which RMB3,111,000 has been utilised during 2019.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR RRME

30 FrEHiR< (&)

IR RSB

RIB(REARLMBESERBRIE)
(I EmBHIA] - K2008F1818
EEARAE BN SR E A
AR EMER B ERB25% -

TEMSREREEHEMEIEE -
FEER D ¥ 52008F1 818 8
EENAEFNMERTREIINGEE
R ARIRERES  AE10%HH
KB M R2008F1H1H
ZHELENARDIRZBFE R ZIEN
o REBEPHEFBE R UKW
ELH BEEZEBRARREBK
3 Al E AREAS% B R o

AEBY A AEEF K BRA
ELfATEBEINEEERENEE
201712 A31H R 5 K [ I Al & Ik
)8 FE 2R R B TB 40 BT 15 B B9 IR KT BT
SHaE A£EEEHZEHRNBA
AW BB ERTEEE2017F
12A31H 8 R 5 K & 7] %5 K F1 &
RABBRERATFOIR o

EREBEENSREMGT P EH
BINKGEERGETHREE AR
EI: R N T A T I I T
2018412 A31H Rt [& [ 1% F&E 1
FEHRERNBELERMSHRAERA
K #42,319,0007c - & # + A R ¥
3,111,0007T 2 R2019F E B 7 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

PRC corporate income tax (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities for
the PRC withholding tax of RMB130,017,000 (31 December
2021: RMB124,027,000) have not been recognised
on the remaining unremitted distributable profits of
RMB1,300,169,000 (31 December 2021: RMB1,240,266,000)
of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries.

Land appreciation tax

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value,
being the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including lease charges for land use rights and
all property development expenditures, and is included in
the consolidated statements of profit or loss as income tax
expense.

Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the
Group’s Hong Kong companies did not have assessable
income subject to Hong Kong profits tax for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Overseas corporate income tax

No provision for taxation has been recognised for
companies incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands as they were not subject to any tax
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

e PR wRME

30 FrEHiR< (&)

HEIR RSB (H)

M2022%12A318 » W K 3t A &
BB B QR8T R EE AT R
A R #1,300,169,0007T (2021412
A31H : A R ¥1,240,266,0007T) &
RELCHHEBNAEHAEBEARY
130,017,0007T (2021F12A31H : A
R #124,027,0007T) °

Tt B EB

FR O - i 3 B R D iR BR30% £60%
MBERRE T M EREHK - £
i 38 (A B8 A E W) X A3 B R A
MM (BELERAERE
FEWEZRAS)  TREAE
HRAGIEMBHESY

BEBANEHR

H £20224 K2021F12A31H Ik F
B BRAEERE BN AR E
B B ENE B TS T E R R UK
A WM EEL BB ESHEE -

N FTIE B

H 220224 K2021F12A31H Ik F
E BREFRSHERAEABEHBR
BHEaEMA AR EBEBNEM
MIE MW ERZE LA ERTIE
B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

31 EARNINGS PER SHARE 31 ERAEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the EREXRBANDZREFNRAGES
Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the Company AEBEAEBFBERABETL B
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue A& hn#E 0 EEHE -

during the year.

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
The Group’s profit attributable to owners AR E] A A JEAG A £
of the Company (RMB’000) MEARE T 84,812 306,913
Weighted average number of ordinary EEITEERME T
shares in issue ("000) (FB%) 1,200,000 1,200,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share BRERNREFRA
(expressed in RMB) (AAR®AB®BA) 0.07 0.26
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, diluted B 20224 N2021F12A318 1k F
earnings per share was equal to the basic earnings per E BERBEHZERD  WERE
share as there were no dilutive shares. BRMESERERERRET -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

32 DIVIDENDS 32 RE
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

() Dividend payable at the end of the iy AMEBROERMSKE
reporting period - =

(i) Dividend paid in cash during the years (i) & £2022%F K& 2021F12
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 A318 It FE B €k T
7 A% B 59,998 60,000

(i) Dividend not recognised at the end of (iii) 7 ¥R #i oK 4 K #E R K

the reporting period (Note) B& B (f i) — 60,000
Note:  On 30 March 2022, the Directors have recommended the Brait: M2022F3A30H EEEE &
payment of a final dividend of HK6.0 cents (equivalent to A E22021F12A318 It £ B &
approximately RMB5.0 cents) per fully paid ordinary share TREE B &R AL EARG0
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021. Such BUGEERODARES0D) ° %
proposed dividend is not recognised as a liability as at 31 =08 B N2021F12 A318 I &
December 2021, mRRAEE -
No dividend was declared or proposed for the year ended RE E2022F12 A318 IE FE #
31 December 2022. BEEIRSEBRRNEMBRS -
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e PR RRME

33 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33 LEREHRERMMT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Net cash generated from operations (a) RETHELEHRSFEH
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARKEFT
Profit before income tax Bk BT 15 4 B ) 154,418 539,979
Adjustments for: BTFSIEELAE:
— Net provision for decline in values of ~ — #F{EEENERERE TR
properties held for sale (Note 26) (K172 26) 30,652 23,835
— Accrued loss of a contract (Note 25) — & [ fE =t E5 18 (H1 3725) - 7,042
— Depreciation of property, plant and - BEREHBRERRE
equipment and right-of-use assets BEFEM 726
(Note 26) 12,974 13,843
— Fair value losses/(gains) on investment — RE&MERAFEFE, (W)
properties (Note 8) (H178) 2,160 (8,050)
— Interest expenses (Note 27) — MERX(Hit27) 1,137 1,237
— Amortisation of intangible assets - BREEEH 728 —
— Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, — HEWE BER RE
plant and equipment (Note 25) B8 (kzs)(Hti225) 727 (33)
— Losses on disposal of financial assets — HEZR A FEFABRE
at fair value through profit or loss CREENER 155 -
— Gains of disposal of right-of-use assets — & R#E & E W (8) -
— Net(reversal)/loss of impairment on - F(BOeRmEEREB)/
financial assets (Note 26) CREERBEERE
(7t 26) (411) 2,100
— Fair value losses/(gains) on financial - BAFEFAEZN SR
assets at fair value through profit or EENRTFEEE/
loss (Note 25) (W zs)(H 7t 25) - (22)
— Interest income (Note 27) — NEBHIZ(HE27) (1,146) (1,566)
Changes in working capital LEECEY
— Prepayments for leasehold land — AE+BEMNZKE (232,990) (100,490)
— Properties held or under development — 5 {EEERFAEREFEYE
for sale 375,644 (1,3683,843)
— Trade and other receivables and — B R HMEKFRIBM
prepayments BRIA (53,245) (7,487)
— Contract costs — ERKA (217) (465)
— Contract liabilities - AaRABE (358,688) 1,330,228
— Trade and other payables - ESREMENKIEA 354,783 (281,069)
Net cash generated from operations KEEDHELR S FE 286,673 155,239

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR wRME

33 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33 ZMEBERERMT(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and (b) HEVXE  BERBREMER
equipment H
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds e REeERERY  HEDY
from disposal of property, plant and equipment ¥ BMERREMGSHRASRE :
comprise:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

Net book value (Note 6) BRERE (N 76) 804 48
(Losses)/gains on disposal of LEME BELEZE

property, plant and equipment (B8, W& (K it25)

(Note 25) (727) 33

Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  WMELEXERES
plant and equipment KIE 77 81
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e PR RRME

33 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were,
or future cash flow will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statements of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

33 ZEREREBRMZE(E)

(c)

BETBREENREYR

TRHAIBEZIAELENHAN
SEEENEHBER BFA
ERIFBEEY - BETHDHN
EENBERRAKREREER
ERERTHEOBERBREED
EEANRERENBERK

KRERE

o

Amounts

Temporary  due to non-
funding  controlling
payable interests

(included (included

Other Other in trade in trade
Bank  long-term current  and other  and other Lease

borrowings  borrowings  borrowings  payables)  payables) liabilities Total

BRES EfEER

EfHE  EEHNE

(;fAEZ  (HAE%

2 2 REf RS
BER RERX  RBGR  EARE)  EARE)  HESE fast
RMB000 RMB000 AMB000 AMB000 AMB 000 AMB 000 RWB 000
ANEEFT  AREFT  AREFr AREFT  AREfr AREFn  AREFn
At 1 January 2021 R202151A18 139,000 348,377 64,640 27,594 50,810 24,462 654,883
Financing net cash flows HESRERE 125,000 24,000 (8,060) 88,610 718 (6,304) 223,964
Non-cash changes % - = - 5,421 167,284 2,750 175,456
At 31 December 2021 R2021512531R8 264,000 372,317 56,580 121,625 218,812 20,908 1,054,302
At 1 January 2022 R2022%181R 264,000 312,317 56,580 121,625 218,812 20,908 1,054,302
Financing net cash flows HESRERE 59,500 26,532) 3,500 8,350 (86,636) (3,153) (44,071)
Non-cash changes FREEY - - (56,580) (67,600) 19,184 2,895 (102,101)
At 31 December 2022 R2020512 31 323,500 345,845 3,500 62,375 151,360 20,650 907,230

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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34 COMMITMENTS

35

Property development expenditure commitments

Property development expenditure committed at 31
December 2022 and 2021 but not yet incurred is as follows:

34 i

YR B RFAS A

20224 K 202112 A31H B A&
MAEENYEZRRAIWOT

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR F T
Contracted but not provided for 2RI 418 KRB E 1,312,874 1,835,316
Land use rights 4+ HbF R 232,960 —
1,545,834 1,835,316

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

35 EWMERRBRERE

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARM T AR For
Guarantees in respect of mortgage RAEENETERERS
facilities for certain purchasers of LB @& E A
the Group’s properties (a) & R(@) 6,698,004 5,532,738
Guarantees in respect of associate REELNREERR
company’s major shareholder loan (b) B RIEHRERD) 184,027 185,000
Pledges provided for borrowings of METHE=ZFEFTIRE
certain third parties (c) B i) 101,000 160,284
Pledges provided for borrowings of a related BL R B 7 (2 AR
party (d) % () 9,500 -
6,992,531 5,878,022
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35 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties and provided guarantees to secure
obligations of these purchasers for repayments. Such
guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance
and transfer of the real estate ownership certificate, or (ii)
the satisfaction of mortgage loans by the purchasers of the
properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take over
the legal title and possession of the related properties after
the relevant legal procedures. The Group’s guarantee period
starts from the date of grant of mortgage. The directors
consider that the likelihood of default of payments by the
purchasers is minimal and therefore the financial guarantee
measured at fair value is immaterial.

In line with our diversified land acquisition strategies, a
subsidiary of the Group obtained the 20% equity interest
of a project company (the “Associate Company”) which
hold a parcel of land for development through a bidding
process, and remaining 80% equity interests are held
by an independent third party (the “Major Shareholder”).
Based on the investment agreement entered into by the
Associate Company, the subsidiary of the Group and the
Major Shareholder, the Associate Company has to repay
the shareholder loans provided by the Major Shareholder
within a specified timeframe after commencement of presale
activities. If the Associate Company fails to return such
shareholder loan on time, the subsidiary of the Group is
required to provide funding to the Associate Company for
the repayment of the shareholder loans. As at 31 December
2022, such shareholder loans of this Associate Company are
approximately RMB184 million (31 December 2021: RMB185
million).

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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Hrat

(@)

AEBEEAAKBENETHBEELER
BFRTTARE URERNWEREL
REER ZEFERBROEL R
BEFHEEBEES N(BEE
ENRBERUNREERE) KL
1k e

REBEERGER EZFBEEER
BRIBERE  KAEEAABRIRT
EERNBFEEHRNREAEE
[ fE 5T 78 - A Sk B A 52 AR AR
FREFARBERZERBENENS
EERNARE - AEBHERS
BROREBAMERGE - EER A
BEERARNROAEER ) H
b BAFEAENHBERLA
EN

BRI Z T e R B SRS — 5K
AEE-—HHBARERE —HIEER
AR((HE AR N(HBEBRBERE
B—REERE L H)20% 8 IR -
MeR T80%REAIA—RBILE=
FUEZEBRRNDER - BEBZERQ
Al -AEEMBARIREEZRES]
VR EHE BERRAREE
EEHREFTHEANEEETE
BERREMBRRER - WL QF
EBEAIERBEESABRRERER  BIX
EENEBARBERBE N NFRHEE
& UNEEEEREER - 12022
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BN A ANRE184F & jr(20214F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(o)

(continued)

In addition, pursuant to the investment agreement, the
subsidiary of the Group also has to compensate for all losses
of the Major Shareholder if the property project is delayed
under certain conditions or that the repayment of shareholder
loan is delayed beyond certain period stipulated in the
investment agreement. The Group considers that the risk of
providing funding for repayment of shareholder loans or any
compensation loss is low as the development progress has
been continuously communicated and mutually agreed.

Amounts represented the maximum exposure of the pledges
(Note 8) (Note 11) provided for the borrowings of certain third
parties as at 31 December 2022.

Amounts represented the maximum exposure of the pledge
(Note 11) provided to secure certain repayment obligations
of Weidu Guesthouse Limited under the Working Capital
Loan Agreement as at 31 December 2022. The ultimate
shareholder of Weidu Guesthouse Limited, Mr Li Xiaobing
provided a personal counter guarantee in favour of the Group
to secure the Group’s potential liabilities under the asset
pledge agreement. Weidu Guesthouse Limited has repaid the
principal amount and all interest in full on 17 February 2023
and accordingly, the pledged of the Group have been fully
released.

36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party
or exercise significant influence over the other party
in making financial and operation decisions. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject
to common control. Members of key management
and their close family member of the Group are also
considered as related parties.

(o)

e PR wRME

35 TMERRIREE(F)

Wyt (&)

(#)

o RIBRE B - WWEIERR
EETERATEL tiRRERD
EFRRBERREMETANE
THIR  AIREEMEBAR AR
TERROMAEBRFELHEE - K
SERS BHREBEREE-ERFI
BRNREHRAE  WRHESUE
BRREFKETMHEEBERESHE
B LB SR

BRI S REEMN2022F12 8318 &
FE=FEFRIREARE R (M 8
ERRL:0E PN

ERELFEIEN2022F12A318 A1
RTFERBEEFERARNERSDE
SERERATZETEREAMIE
HEEHR(FFIDmRAXRR - 7F
ERMBEEARAANZRBERESE
KT EARNEE AT 2 AREE
ARERUNERAEBREEK
HAERBETZEBEAE - FEHRS
EfE AR A A E R2023F2A17H
FHEEASRAENE - Bt
AEENEHREHBEER -

36 LR S

(a) &% E2ERHE 5 AR &

E— BN E R RES
A= AEFLMBREE
REBEES—TELEEAF
87 MR REBT - fME
ERZLRES - RITFHEE S
HERY AKEEXTEEERE
X 8 R 18 % AT 35 75 4% AR 1 A B
Eo
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Name and relationship with related parties

(Continued)

Name

%A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

36 B LSR5 (HE)

(a) BN EREBSHNEER(F)

Relationship with the Group
A 7k 55 ) (Y BA 1R

Mr. Li Xiaobing (Z= /v k)

FNKEE

Mr. Li Dongfa (&= & %)

FRIEKE

Ms. Li Man (£ €)

FEXT

Ms. Lin Wei (#K )

I 2+

Ms. Li Xingyao (Z= 81 3%)

FHEZLT

Ms. Liu Yulian (8 % &)

BxELL

Mr. Wang Zhenfeng (E R I§)

F iR £ 4

Mr. Wang Yifan (£ & ;)

FRANKE

Ms. Qi Chunfeng (% & &)

EHERLZ L

Mr. Zhang Junfeng (3& & &)

o 1% & 5 &

Ms. Zhang Fan (3& )

iR 2 &

Mr. Li Shi Xun (Z=tt &)

TS E

Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited
(“Ever Enrichment”)

BEHCEERAR(ERD

Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited
(“Ever Enhancement”)

BACEERARTERD

Henan Hengda Investment Company Limited* (J7 518 1= #%

ZEAR AR (“Hengda Investment”) (Note)
MEEERERBRAR([MEEZRE]HZ)

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

Controlling shareholder of the Company
NN w9 2 AR AR R

Member of Mr. Li Xiaobing’s family
FNKEERNRIEKE

Member of Mr. Li Xiaobing’s family
FNKEERNRIKEKE

Member of Mr. Li Xiaobing’s family
FNKEERNRIKEKE

Member of Mr. Li Xiaobing’s family
FNKFEENKIEKE

Member of Mr. Li Xiaobing’s family
FNKEERNREKE

Director of the Company
RAFESE

Member of Mr. Wang Zhenfeng’s family
TIREEENREKE

Director of the Company
RAFESE

Member of Ms. Qi Chunfeng’s family
EREBZLTHREKE

Member of Ms. Qi Chunfeng’s family
EREBZLTHREKE

Key management of the Company
RARRIEFEEEAER

Shareholder of the Company

RRRRER
Shareholder of the Company

RRRRER
Controlled by Mr. Li Xiaobing

2 /N K o A R
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(@) Name and relationship with related parties
(Continued)

Name

%A

e PR wRME

36 BEAHRX5 (&)
(a) BHEKEREEB SR (HF)

Relationship with the Group
BH 7K 5% B 1Y BA 2

Xuchang Hengda Property Management Company Limited*
(FEBEMEEE AR AF) (“‘Hengda Property
Management”) (Note)

HEEEVEERARAR(EEMEERE]) (M E)

Xuchang City Second Construction (Group) Company
Limited* (F &M% —E E(5E)E R QA (“Xuchang
Erjian”)

HEME_RBEGEE)BERAR(FHFEZED

Xuchang Hengjiu Industrial Development Company Limited*
(FEBAEEZEREABRAF) (“Hengjiu Industrial”)

HEEAEXBRERAERAR(EAEZE]

Weidu Guesthouse Limited (Ff 222 &0 & 5 B R A 7))

ERMELEER AR

Xuchang Hengzhu Real Estate Development Company
Limited* (FEEE£FEERZEHBR A F]) (“Xuchang
Hengzhu”) (Note 9)

TEEREMERBEERAR(FFEEEDHZ9)

English name for identification only
Note:
Mr. Li Dong Fa disposed of his direct/indirect equity interest

in Hengda Investment and Hengda Property Management to
Mr. Li Xiaobing in June 2018.

Controlled by Mr. Li Xiaobing

B 2 /)N ik o A PR A
Controlled by Mr. Li Dongfa

H 2 RO ST A AR
Controlled by Ms. Qi Chunfeng

75 & @ 22 1

Controlled by Mr. Li Xiaobing

B 2 /)N ik o A PR A

Change to associate from subsidiary
since August 2022

H2022F8 A M F AR E Al E AT

Bat -

FRZLRLENR2018FAKENE
ERERBENEEENER/
EREHETFNKELE -
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties
The following is a summary of the significant
transactions carried out between the Group and its

related parties:

(i) Providing temporary funding to a related

36 BB LR 5 (&)
(b) BEELRXZ
AEBEHREBEBRTETHNERXN

RHMEWT

(i) [F— & BB 12 14 B b5

party =
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT AR F T
— Xuchang Hengzhu — FFEEE 290 —

(i) Repayment of temporary funding from a

(i) &[] — & B B 75 7Y i

related party =i
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
— Xuchang Hengzhu — TEEE 2,000 —
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(iii) Temporary funding received from related
parties

e PR wRME

36 B LR 5 (HE)

(b) BBEEA X5 ()

(iii) Y BR B B B 75 1Y 7 B 25
2

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTF T

— Hengda Investment — BEKE 261,590 144,800
— Ever Enhancement — B — 5,076
— Ever Enrichment — 1BH 4,270 418

265,860 150,294

(iv) Temporary funding repaid to related
parties

(iv) 188 5 BB 7 1Y b 05 &5
+

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARM T ARMTF T

— Hengda Investment —BEKRE 272,340 134,050
— Ever Enhancement — 18 1,536 418
273,876 134,468

2022 Al | Report
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(v) Services provided by related parties

36 BB LR 5 (&)

(b) BEARZ (&)

(v) B 12 409 IR 7

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR F T
Hengda Property Management — — 1B Z ¥ % & 18 16,475 16,435

(vi) Sales of properties to related parties

(vi) 5] B B 7 1F ] 9 ) % 35

E
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR T T
— Ms. Lin Wei — M+ 13,950 1,836
— Ms. Lin Wei and — Mzt R
Ms. Li Xingyao TEHBEL L 2,689 —
— Mr. Wang Zhenfeng — FRELEE 303 1,324
— Ms. Zhang Fan — RN &+ 505 1,534
— Mr. Wang Yifan & — FRNEER
Ms. Dong Zheng BAE+ - 2,000
— Ms. Liu Yulian — B EELL - 1,866
17,447 8,560

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

e PR wRME

BB X5 (&)

(b) BBEEA X5 (&)

(vii) Guarantees provided by related parties (vii) B5 B 5 51 7N 5 B & T 4R
for bank borrowings and other long-term TEFREME R E
borrowings of the Group 12 1 79 18 1R

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFor
— Mr. Li Xiaobing and — NKEE R IR
Ms. Lin Wei 273,000 464,000
— Mr. Li Shi Xun, — B ELE -
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng and FIRIE S E R
Ms. Qi Chunfeng BERZ LT 30,000 30,000
— Ms. Li Man —FEXt 3,000 —
306,000 494,000
Wiii) /5] — & BE B 5 5t B R 17

(viij Guarantees provided to a related party for e 20 48 B 18 4R (B AT

its bank borrowings (Note 35 (d)) 35(d))

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLFEE
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
— Weidu Guesthouse Limited —TERBEEER LA 9,500 —
Note:

For the above guarantee, Mr. LI Xiaobing provided a
personal counter guarantee in favour of the Group in the
meantime.

HREMER B—REENKEER
SEEHRTEARER -
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(ix) Acquiring equity interests of a company

from a related party

In October 2022, Xuchang Hengda entered into
a purchase agreement with Ms. Li Man, pursuant
to which Xuchang Hengda acquired 99% equity
interests of Xuchang Hengyu from Ms. Li Man
at nil consideration for the purpose of acquiring
a land use right held by Xuchang Hengyu. The
transaction was regarded as assets acquisition
which was completed in October 2022.

(x) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and senior
management staff. The compensation paid or
payable to key management for employee services
is shown below:

36 B LSR5 (HE)

(b) BEARZ (&)

(ix) B—EBEHEWE— /A

(x)

AR E

R2022F108  FrE B &E
HEe g+ THEER
OB FEaEEmZ
2+ Uk BB+ i F B IR
ZEZREBHFEEE 299%
i% % W B8 o R 5 120224
10K HER A —TBE
EUE -

TEEBEANSFH

TEERAEBBRREESFR
mREEAR - REBR
BENSENETEZEEA
BEM 25 /Ran T

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
20224F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR FT
Salaries and other short-term HehEMEHES
employee benefits & 4,551 7,095
Post-employment benefits RIREF 154 227
4,705 7,322

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 B AR5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Related-party balances (c) BAEEA&ER
The Group has the following balances with related NEE R AT BT 4 6
parties:
(i) Amount due from a related party (i) FEWREHSE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

— Xuchang Hengzhu — FEEE 40,060 —

(i) Other payables due to a related party (i) FE(TES 5 Bt 50 E

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

[

— Hengda Property — EEMEER
Management 1,040 5,374
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e PR RRME

36 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Related-party balances (Continued)

(iii) Trade payables due to related parties

36 BB LR 5 (&)

(c) BBERTS 48k (AF)

(iii) FE1TBE B 5 1y B 5 FE 11
FIE
As at 31 December
®W12A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AR F T

— Xuchang Erjian — a2 12,968 15,516
— Hengijiu Industrial — BEAEH 30 536
12,998 16,052

Trade payables due to related parties arose from
purchase transactions. The payables bear no
interest.

(iv) Amount due to related parties

FEfTREEE 77 B0 B 5 & 1 3K
HRABERS - %FE
RBETEE -

(iv) 1B B 5 7’

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FT ANEETT

Mr. Li Xiaobing Z ok o A 1,814 1,814
Hengda Investment BEKRE - 10,750
Ever Enhancement 18 F+ 4,385 5,921
Ever Enrichment 18 8 4,523 253
Ms. Li Man TE8Tt 3,574 —

14,296 18,738

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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e PR wRME

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37 ARFEMNB R AR R FES
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY )
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

H1 it ARE T ARET T

ASSETS EE
Other receivables H b fE W FRIA 255,028 254,498
Dividend receivable JE Wi B 89,460 151,960
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEYD 856 1,833
Total assets mEE 345,344 408,291
EQUITY =

Equity attributable to owners of ZAAQATEE A E/HER
the Company

Share capital & 7 15 10,645 10,645
Share premium R 15 @ B 15 299,188 299,188
(Accumulated losses)/retained (RETE1R)/REBARF

earnings (454) 65,526
Total equity R 309,379 375,359
LIABILITIES &81&
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 &k HE M EMRE 35,965 32,932
Total liabilities weE 35,965 32,932
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 345,344 408,291

2022 Al IR rt
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e PR RRME

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

37

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

RRRNM B RR R EEEE
(48

(CONTINUED)
Note: B et -
(a) Reserve movements of the Company (@) FARANEEEE
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share retained
premium earnings
(RETEE)
iR 4% B REER
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFor AREFor
Balance at 1 January 2021 R2021F1A1H W& & 299,188 63,471
Comprehensive income ZEB A
Profit for the year F N A = 62,055
Total comprehensive income for the FREEWRALE
year = 62,055
Dividend paid BERE = (60,000)
Balance at 31 December 2021 M2021F12 8310 K & 8 299,188 65,526
Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022F1A18 W 4 &8 299,188 65,526
Comprehensive income 2R &=
loss for the year FREIE — (5,982)
Total comprehensive income for the FRAEZEBAHLE
year = (5,982)
Dividend paid 2R E — (59,998)
Balance at 31 December 2022 A2022F12 A31H MY 4 &4 299,188 (454)

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA
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e PR wRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at 31

December 2022 and 2021 are set out below:

Subsidiaries incorporated in the BVI

38 MBARFHIE

20224 2021912 A31H A & & [

BRARMFBEHIWNT :

RS B4 B B AR LRV B

=

Percentage of attributable equity
interest as at 31 December

Date of
incorporation/  Issued M2ASMERERRES Lt
Company name establishment capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
AR/
RAEH & 3 A 5 ERTEA 2022 21F TEER
Dadi Development Limited 10 June 2013 USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERERAA 2013%6A108  1ETT RERKR
Subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong REBTEMRNH BT
Percentage of attributable equity
Date of interest as at 31 December
incorporation/  Issued M2AERERRES Lt
Company name establishment capital 2022 2021  Principal activities
AR/
RAEH AR 3 A 5 B&fT 2022 21F  TEER
Dadi (Hong Kong) Enterprise Co., Ltd. 14 March 2012 HKD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
R (EE) ERRAF 2012638148 1008 RERKR

2022 Annual Report
—BoFER

289



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC

38 MBLRFE (&)

A FRER A 1 B ML YR B A F

Percentage of
attributable equity interest
as at 31 December

Date of
incorporation/ Place of incorporation Registered M2ANERERRNAD Y
Company name establishment and kind of legal entity capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
e/ AREIHER
ARER RIRE EABREN ifEx 2022F wiE TEER
oo
7
Henan Dadi Property Development Company 29 July 1992 The PRC, domestic company USD2,500 100% 100%  Investment holding in
Limited (‘Henan Dadf’) limited with imited liaility, the PRC
wholly foreign owned
enterprise
AEABEHERERRAD(MEAS]) 199024 7/208 hERBARRED £7L2500 RuEnRERR
NEBERR
Xuchang Hengda Property Group Company 3 June 1998 The PRC, domestic company RMB60,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
Limited (*Xuchang Hengda’) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
FEEERMESEERAA(NAEE])  1998%6A3A hERBERREAR AR#60,000 NeENEHERER
RERE
Xuchang Songji Dadi Property Company Limited 7 November 2007 The PRC, domestic company RMB50,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
(*Songji Dadi’)g) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
FEREAMERRRAAIRENK) G  007ENATA hERLEREEAR ARE50000 ReENEHERLR
RERE
Xinyang Hengda Property Development Company 5 March 2008 The PRC, domestic company RMB30,000 88.88% 88.88%  Real estate development
Limited (‘Xinyang Hengda’) limited with limited fiability in the PRC
EREERHERSARAA(EREE])  200853A5H rARGEREEAR AEE30000 RAEHEHERE

290 BEEE (ZR) ARLR
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e PR wRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38 MEMARIRFE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued) APBEFE MK B AT (&)
Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of as at 31 December
incorporation/ Place of incorporation Registered M2ANERERRBER
Company name establishment and kind of legal entity capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
tREY/ HREIHER
AR RIAH EARREN &R 2205 WHE  EEER
00
I
Yuzhou City Hengda Property Company Limited 4 September 2009 The PRC, domestic company RMB100,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
(*Yuzhou Hengda’) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
ENTRERMARRERAARIAMER])  200959A4R hERBERREAR AR E100,000 ReENERERLR
FERE
Changge City Hengda Property Company Limited 15 May 2011 The PRC, domestic company RMB60,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
(‘Changge Hengda') limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
REMEERMEARAA(REREE] 1157158 hERBERREAR AR 60,000 REANERERER
FERE
Xuchang Jiari Baocheng Property Company 2 June 2011 The PRC, domestic company RMB50,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
Limited (*Jiari Baocheng’) limited with limited fiability in the PRC
HERREZERERAR(RARE)) 2011%6/28 RARBERELAT ARE50000 ReEnFEERS
Xuchang City Jian'an District Hengmu Property 25 January 2016 The PRC, domestic company RMB10,000 100% 51%  Real estate development
Company Limited (formerly known as Xuchang limited with limited fiability in the PRC
County Hengmu Property Co., Ltd) (‘Xuchang
Hengmu') (g)
HEMRZREARHERRAA(RE: FEE 201651720 hERBERREAT AR#10000 ReEnFEERE

ERESERRAR)(FEEA] (@)

2022 Al | Report
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e PR RRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued)

38 MBELRFE (&)

T FRER 1 B SZ YR A R] (4F)

Percentage of
attributable equity interest
as at 31 December

Date of
incorporation/ Place of incorporation Registered RM2AHERERRHED N
Company name establishment and kind of legal entity capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
iEY/ HREIHER
AR RIAH EARREH &R 2205 WIE EEEE
0o
77
Yuzhou City Hengnuo Property Company Limited 13 December 2018 The PRC, domestic company USD38,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
(*Yuzhou Hengnuo’) limited with limited fiabiliy, and house renting in
sino-foreign owned the PRC
enterprise
ENANERRHEREERAG(EMER]) 08FRANBE  HERMAREALD 738,000 ReBHERERER
hhaEtE FERE
Hennan Damai Property Marketing planning 3 March 2019 The PRG, domestic company RMB8,000 100% 100%  Real estate brokerage
Company Limited(*Henan Damar’) limited with limited fiability services/Rental
agency services/ Real
estate information
consultation and
Housing sales service
MHEERHESHRABRAA(TEER) 20195300 rARLEREEAA AEB8,000 BHELLRE/BE
RERE/FHEE
SHARFEHER
%
Xuchang Weiheng Property Development 30 October 2019 The PRC, domestic company RMB120,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
Company Limited (*Xuchang Weineng’) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
FERERHERFARAMIFERE) 20196104308 hERBERAEAR AE$120,000 RuBNERERER
RERE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR wRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38 MEMARIRFE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued) APBEFE MK B AT (&)
Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of as at 31 December
incorporation/ Place of incorporation Registered M2ANERERRBER
Company name establishment and kind of legal entity capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
tREY/ HREIHER
AR RIAH EARREN &R 2205 WHE  EEER
00
I
Xuchang Yuanda Property Company Limited. 18 January 2019 The PRC, domestic company RMB20,000 0% 70%  Real estate development
(*Xuchang Yuanda’) limited with limited fiability in the PRC
FEREEZARAA(FERE) 219F1A 18R hERBERREAT AR 20,000 ReEnFEERS
Xiangcheng Hengda Real Estate Development 10 January 2020 The PRC, domestic company RMB20,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
Company Limited. (*Xiangcheng Hengda’) limited with limited fiabilty in the PRC
ENERERNERYARARN(EMEE]) 202051 A10R hERGEREEAA AR 20,000 ReENFEERE
Xuchang Xuheng Trading Company 22 May 2020 The PRC, domestic company RMB50,000 100% 100%  Trading company in the
(*Xuheng Trading’) limited with limited fiability PRC
FETEARARAR(FERE)) 202055828 REABERELAT AEH450000 RuEng5AT
Xuchang Dongheng Real Estate Development 4 April 2020 The PRC, domestic company RMB10,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
Company Limited (‘Xuchang Dongheng’) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
FERERAHEREARAA(FERE)  2020F444R hERBERREAR ARE10000 NRENEHERER
REEE
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e PR RRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38 MEARF1E (&)
(CONTINUED)
Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued) APEIEE MK B AT (E)
Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of as at 31 December
incorporation/ Place of incorporation Registered RM2AHERERRAED N
Company name establishment and kind of legal entity capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
iEY/ HREIHER
AR RIAH EARREN &R 2205 WIE FEEE
0o
77
Luohe Hengda Huatai Real Estate Company 21 December 2020 The PRC, domestic company RMB20,000 60% 60%  Real estate development
Limited (‘Luohe Hengda’) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
EAEEEREXARAR(RNEE]) 020£12A218 hERBERREAR AR%20000 ReENEHERLR
RERE
Yanling Zhengli Real Estate Development 21 November 2019 The PRC, domestic company RMB30,000 51% 51%  Real estate development
Company Limited (*Yanling Zhengli’ limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
BREREFHEREARAT(IRAL])  2019411A21A hERBERREAR ARH30,000 NeENEHERER
RERE
Changge Jiahe Real Estate Company Limited 20 March 2020 The PRC, domestic company RMB20,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
(‘Changge Jiahe') limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
RETERHERRAA(RESR) 2020534208 hERREREEAR AR%20000 ReENEERLR
RERE
Xuchang Hengrong Real Estate Development 9 April 2021 The PRC, domestic company RMB50,000 92% 92%  Real estate development
Company Limited (*Xuchang Hengrong’) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
FEMEREHERERRAM(FEER])  2021F4A0R hERREREEAR ARE50000 ReENEERLR
RERE

294 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR wRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38 MEMARIRFE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued) APBEFE MK B AT (&)
Percentage of
attributable equity interest
Date of as at 31 December
incorporation/ Place of incorporation Registered M2ANERERRBER
Company name establishment and kind of legal entity capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
tREY/ HREIHER
AR RIAH EARREN &R 2205 WHE  EEER
00
I
Chongaing HengLing Trading Company Limited 18 June 2021 The PRC, domestic company RMB20,000 100% 100%  Trading company in the
(*Chongging HengLing’) limited with limited fiability PRC
EREAHRARAR(ERES)) 20215618R RARBERELAT ARE20,000 ReEnEsAR
Yuzhou Taiyu Real Estate Development Company 22 December 2020 The PRC, domestic company RMB20,000 90% 90%  Real estate development
Limited (*Yuzhou Taiyu') limited with limited fiabilty in the PRC
ENTRSEHERERRAAISNRE])  00F12ANE  PERHERELAT AR#20000 ReANEHERS
Yanling Wanhong Real Estate Company Limited 26 January 2021 The PRC, domestic company RMB109,461 51% 51%  Real estate development
(*Yanling Wanhong') limited with limited fiabilty and marketing in the
PRC
BREBUEXARAA(FREL) 2021514268 hERBEREEAR AR 109461 ReENFERERLR
g%
Xuchang Yonghong Real Estate Development 8 June 2020 The PRC, domestic company RMB16,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
Company Limited (*Xuchang Yonghong’) limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
FEXERMEREARRAAGFEAE)  2020%6A8E hERMEREEAR AR#16,000 ReENERERLR
RERE
Xuchang Hengehi Real Estate Development 26 August 2021 The PRC, domestic company RMB50,000 100% 100%  Real estate development
Company Limited (*Xuchang Hengehi') limited with limited fiabilty and house renting in
the PRC
FEEREHEREARAR(GAER)  2021%6A28 hERMEREEAR AE850000 ReENERERLR
RERE
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38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued)

38 MBELRFE (&)

T FRER 1 B SZ YR A R] (4F)

Percentage of
attributable equity interest
as at 31 December

Date of
incorporation/ Place of incorporation Registered RM2AHERERRAED N
Company name establishment and kind of legal entity capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
iEY/ HREIHER
AR RIAH EARREN &R 2205 WIE FEEE
0o
77
Xuchang Hengzhu Real Estate Development 27 August 2021 The PRC, domestic company RMB20,000 4% 100%  Real estate development
Company Limited" (*Xuchang Hengzhu') (6 limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
FEEERHEREARAR(FEEE)Y  20u%8R2TH hERBERREAR AR20,000 ReENEHERLR
RERE
Henan Hengzhi Architectural Engingering Design 13 August 2021 The PRC, domestic company RMB3,000 60% 60%  Architectural enginegring
Company Limited (‘Henan Hengzht’ limited with limited fiability design and
management in the
PRC
TEEHREIRRAERADMEER)  200158A13H PEABERELAT ARH3,000 ReBHRETRR:
RER
Xuchang Hengrun Real Estate Company Limited ~ 28.July.2022 The PRG, domestic company RMB5,000 60% - Real estate development
(*Xuchang Hengrun’) ¢/ limited with limited fiability and house renting in
the PRC
HETEREZRRAR(FHERE)Y 2022577288 PEABERELAT ARB5000 ReBNHERERER
FEHE
Xuchang Jian'an District Hengyu Industrial 13 April 2016 The PRG, domestic company RMB1,000 100% - Architectural material
Company Limited (*Xuchang Hengyu') @/ limited with limited fiability Installation and sales
in the PRC
HETRZREEEFERAN 2016547138 PEABERELAT ARE1000 ReBHRENHTE
(ES-1Ek3017 kg
*  English name for identification only O RNABEEHRER

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Songji Dadi owned a project (“Songji Dadi — Mingmen
Shangju”) which was developed together with a third party
investor. In accordance with co-development agreement and
its supplemental agreement dated 30 January 2010 and 9
February 2010 respectively, the third party investor owns 49%
interest in this project and is considered a non-controlling
interest of the Group.

On 27 August 2021, Xuchang Hengda set up a subsidiary
Xuchang Hengzhu. Xuchang Hengzhu was owned as to 100%
by Xuchang Hengda with contribution of RMB20,000,000. On
24 December 2021, Xuchang Hengda increased its capital
contribution by approximately RMB30,000,000. The registered
capital of Xuchang Hengzhu was therefore increased to
RMB50,000,000. After the contribution, Xuchang Hengzhu
was owned as to 100% by Xuchang Hengda.

In 2022, the Group disposed a total of 59% equity interests
of Xuchang Hengzhu to Xuchang Weidu Investment Co., Ltd.
(“Weidu investment”) and Xuchang Hengzhu becomes an
associated company of the Group (Note 9).

e PR wRME

38 MBARFE (&)

A FREH = R B SZ RO B R (4F)
B 5 -

@ RNRERMWES—MEEBEBE(REKHM
— ZMME]  ZEEE—FE
ZHEREEHRARZ - BEBEHS
B A20109F1830H 2010259
BNEEREMERE/THE
ZEZAREAERNZEETRHA
490% 1 At R BAEEN—
TEE PR RS o

(b) F2021F8H27TH  #F BB E R L
THEBRARHFEESL - FEEEA
HFEEEHEAI00%EE TES
%8 B A R #20,000,0007T ° 722021
F12A248 - FEEBEKETIES
B8 3% i 49 A R #30,000,0007T °
I FEEENEMELAEEAR
#50,000,0007T - RIGE 2% 7
EEERFTEEERE100%EE -

R2022%F REBBERHFEELE
B & H59% 0% 1 & TR 28I
BERAR(HRHFIERE]D  MFE
BEKATAEBNEE AR (M
F9) -
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e PR RRME

38 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©

On 28 July 2022, Xuchang Hengda and Xuchang City
Investment and Urban Development Group Co., Ltd.
(*Xuchang Shitou”) entered into a cooperative development
agreement. Xuchang Hengda set up a subsidiary Xuchang
Hengrun with Xuchang Shitou. Xuchang Hengrun was owned
as to 60% by Xuchang Hengda and 40% by Xuchang Shitou.

On 9 October 2022, Xuchang Hengda and Ms. Li Man, Ms.
Liu Jia entered into an equity transfer agreement. Xuchang
Hengda acquired 99% equity interests held by Ms. Li Man in
Xuchang Hengyu and 1% equity interests held by Ms. Liu Jia
in Xuchang Hengyu. After the acquisition, Xuchang Hengyu
was owned as to 100% by Xuchang Hengda.

In August 2022, Xuchang Hengda acquired an additional 49%
equity interests of its subsidiary of Xuchang Hengmu at a
consideration of RMB5,500,000. The excess of RMB253,000
over the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests of
RMB5,247,000 was recognised in equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA

38 MBELRFE (&)

T FRER 1 B SZ YR A R] (4F)

st (&
(c) M202247H28H @ #F E 1B & K

EMRTERREERAREELR
ATHETRDITLTAIERE R
FoRMTEBERFEMRRLTH
BARRFEER FFEEBEHS
BEEARO%ED : UELBAFEM
RIFEBIO%HE R o

2022910898 FrE B E HE =
S+ BlEL LI TREEE
WE o HFEBERBTTELLR
HFEEEFEENOBIE - AKE
FRTRTFEEEFHENIBRAE -
WIEEETKE FEEBERTE
BEHEB100%EZ -

R2022F8H  FEBEZRNREA
R #5,500,0007T W B T K B A A
FF 218 KB INAO% R HE o B I FE %
A% ¥ 25 B m B A R #5,247,0007C
2o AR #253,0007T 2 5 R R
ANRIESEFHEAEGEZ -
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39 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

39

ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 were approximately RMB102,034,000 and
RMB98,588,000 respectively. Set out below is summarised
financial information for each subsidiary that has non-
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The
amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-

company eliminations.

e PR wRME

BREEXFERERNHEAR
M BEER R

R20229F K2021F12H318H B 3k
THREZBESNNDAEBARE
102,034,0007T & A R %#98,588,000
Lo NXHINEBEHASEBE KX
HIEERETNNBARMNMEE
BHE - HZXWBRAMBEZENS
HEAAEHEHEAIINSRE o

Summarised statement of financial position BERRARBE
Songji Dadi-Mingmen Shangju Xuchang Yuanda Luohe Hengda Yanling Wanhong
REKH - £FHE FERE EEE HREY
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
EZMUAMALEE BEIRMALEE BZ12ANALEE BZUANALEE
2022 201 2022 2021 2022 2001 2022 201
2F M1E 2022% NNE 20005 N1E 20205 15
RMB 000 A0 RMB000 AVB O RMB000 ABomw RMB 000 AiB 000
ARETL  AREFT  AREFL  AREFT  ARETL  AREFT ABEFL REFT
Current e R
Assets EE 16,936 19139 300,802 205,057 212,361 150,687 110,072 100,842
Liabilties 8f (4,629) 8,041) (293,737) (192,269 (210,031) (139,758 (1,005) (559)
Total current net assets NHEEREER 12,307 11,008 7,085 12,794 2,330 10,929 109,067 109,283
Non-current; it
Assels EE 9 123 3,066 1679 3,441 1478 - -
Liabiites Af - = - = - = - =
Total non-curen net assets FROAERRES 9 12 3,066 1679 3441 1478 - -
Net asses EERHE 12,316 11,221 10,131 14473 511 12407 109,067 109,283
Net assets attributable to non- FERERRIEE
controlling interests FE 6,035 5,498 3,039 434 2,308 4,963 53,443 53549
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e PR RRME

39 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

39 EREAFEREZNVHEAR

ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- W BER B E (&)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
Summarised statement of financial position B AR R R E ()
(continued)
Yanling Zhengli Xuchang Hengrong
BRUE HEES
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
BEIANALEE BEUOANALEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
N2E N1E 2025 A1E
RMB'000 ABomw RMB'000 AlB 000
AREFT  A\FEFr  ARETT AREFR
Curtent; e
Assets BE 24892 191,764 562,043 363,626
Liabities 8 (22767)  (194226) (536699 (368,690
Total current net assets/iabiltes) TOEE/(BR)5HELE 2,155 [2.46) 46,344 5,084)
Non-current: F3it
Assets BE 73 7 3,141 846
Liabiftes &F - - (61,000) -
Total non-current net assets abilfes) YRR /(BR)FELE 73 3 (57,859) 86
Net assets EERE 25,868 2,289) (11,515) (£.218)
Net assets atirbutable fo non-controling inerests 2 REAEHEET 12,685 (1,122 (921) (37)

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR wRME

39 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

39 EREAFEZERESNKBLF

ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- NI BERBE(E)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
Summarised statement of profit or loss and BEEREMEEREREE
comprehensive income
Songji Dadi-Mingmen Shangju Xuchang Yuanda Luohe Hengda Yanling Wanhong
REXY - 4M1HE HEEE BEE BEEY
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
EEURMALER BE1RMNALER BENANALER BEANALER
2022 201 2022 201 2022 2001 2022 201
20205 N1E 20205 NNE 20205 ANE 20205 WIE
RMB000 AUB000 RWB000 AMB000 RWB' 000 RUB 000 RWB'000 AUB000
ARETL  AREFT  AREFL  AREFT  AREFL AREET ABEFL \REET
Revenue KA 2,104 1,804 - - - - - -
Proftfoss) before income tax B EERAIFIR/ (B8) 1,095 1490 (5,743) B.179) (8,748) (6,669) (216) (17
Income tax expense HERR - - 1,402 %2 2110 1082 - -
Post-tax (loss)/profi Rlk(EE) /A2 1,095 1490 (434) (4,199 (6,637) (7,586) (216) (179
Total comprehensive (loss)/ 2E(ER)/ hALE
income 1,09 1,490 (4.341) (£199) (6,637) (7,586) (216) (178)
Total comprehensiv (loss)/ FRRERRERE
ncome atrbutable tonon-— (EE)/ A48
controlling interests 537 730 (1,302) (1,268) (2,655) (3,039) (106) 87
Yanling Zhengli Xuchang Hengrong
BENE HEER
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
BEIORMALER BEURMALER
2022 2001 2022 201
2020 A1F N22% 01F
RMB000 RUB 000 RWB'000 AUB000
ABETE  AREFT | ABETL AREFT
Revenue W - - - -
(Loss)/profit before income tax SHu(ER)/HIR (2,460) (2289 (0,712 (4,672
Income tax expense Pﬁ f 57 596 - 2415 454
Posttax loss)/prof (BB)/HE (4,365) 2289 (7.207) £,218)
Total comprehensive oss)/income %@ Eﬁ E)/ )48 (1,865) 2,289 (7.297) (£.219)
Totel comprehensive (loss)/ncome attibutableto R EZER2E(EE)/HALE
non-controling interests (914) (1,122) (584) (337)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

39 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

39 EREEAFERESNMBLF

ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- WU BERBE(E)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
Summarised cash flows HEeEREHNE
Songji Dadi-Mingmen Shangju Xuchang Yuanda Luohe Hengda Yanling Wanhong
REXE - 4RHE HEEE BEE BBEL
Years ended 31 December Years ended 31 December Years ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
BENANALER BERNRLER BENANALER BEOANALER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 20 2022 202
2020 NNE 20205 NNE 20205 ME 2020 ME
RMB 000 AUB 000 RMB000 RUB000 RMB000 RUB000 RMB 000 AUB 000
ARRFL  ARETT  AEEFr AREFT AREFR AKETr AREFr ARETX
Cash flows from operating mEEBMERENE:
activties:
Cash generated fomfused i)~ £BE%/(FR)ES
operations - 200 (3,785) 448 15,168 9447 (29) 3
Income tax paid BRAER - 433 (1,868) (1,862 (2,502) [510) - I3
Net cash generated fom/used in) % ESEL /(ER)
operating activites ReRE - 2% (5,653) (1,414 12,666 8,937 28) 75
Net cash used i investing RERBARLEE
activities - - = = - - - _
Net cash generated from BARHELRESE
financing activities - = - = - = - =
Net increasel(decrease)incash ~ B2 RBE25EN
and cash equivalents B1/(60)58 - 23 (5,659) (1414 12,666 8937 29 75
Cashand cash equivalenis at -~ EAINBE B LS
beginning of the year B4 358 125 2,482 271,8% 8,937 = 75 =
Cash and cash equivdlents atend  ExNELREE%
of the year En 358 38 20,829 26,482 21,603 8,937 Iy 7

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) BRLA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR wRME

39 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

40

ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Summarised cash flows

39 EREAFEZEREZNHEAR

W BEERBE (&)
HEeEREHNE
Yanling Zhengli Xuchang Hengrong
LT H HEEZ
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
BENANBLEE BENANBLEE
2022 2021 2022 201

20225 N1E
ANB000 RuB 00
AREFT N FEFr

2020 15
RMB'000 RUBY0)
ABRFT  ARETr

Cash flows from operating activies: BEEBNERLNE:
Cash generated from/used i operations BEEL/(FRRE 5,799 (3,779 2,867 1722
Income tax paid BRAEH (399) 70 (1,299) 8
Net cash (used injigenerated from operating actities  %E8(E ) /ELE 258 5,406 (3,709) 20574 1809
Net cash used in investing actiites REGBAARLER - = = -
Net cash generated from financing activiies HERRELRLTE - = - =
Net increase/|decrease) in cash and cash equivalents B4 REAZEMEN/(5)) 28 5,406 (3709) 2574 1809
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ~ E7IHE £ RB45EY 108 3817 1,809 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year ExNRERAE

SEN 5,514 108 24,383 1,800

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 4
April 2023.

40 RETIRFB®RE

GAUBKHRRIDAEARAETER
2023F 448 L K X HE T3 o
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Financial Summary

MEHE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12B318LLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ANREEFT ANRETT ARETFT AREFIT ARKEFTT
Revenue WA 2,861,771 2,767,678 2,422,051 1,974,060 1,883,603
Profit for the year 3% 77,769 303,169 282,591 290,765 229,861
Profit for the year KAREE AREM
attributable to FRE
owners of the
Company 84,812 306,913 284,011 293,040 224,505
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022%F 20214 20204 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ANREFT ANRMETT ARETFIT AREFIT ARKEFIT
Non-current assets EREBEE 366,202 359,180 324,850 259,546 173,871
Current assets MEEE 9,663,294 9,940,806 8,183,717 6,266,843 5,030,664
Total assets & E KRR 10,029,496 10,299,086 8,508,567 6,526,389 5,204,535
Non-current liabilites  3ER & EE 306,846 439,268 276,412 461,710 622,436
Current liabilities mEaE 7,849,183 8,015258 6,702,065 4,831,180 3,584,584
Total liabilities BERE 8,156,029 8,454,526 6,978,477 5,292,890 4,207,020
Total equity W 4R 1,873,467 1,845,460 1,530,090 1,233,499 997,515
Total equity RAREEEAREMN
attributable to AR
owners of the
Company 1,771,433 1,746,872 1,499,959 1,215,948 977,689

304 BEEE (ZR) ARAR
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List of Principal Properties

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REWR
Interest  Approximate
attributable to total gross
Properties the Group floor area Type Lease term
(5g.m.)
/S AEEEGES BNLEEERE H5 HE
(FrA)
Hengdali Market 100% 3,696  Commercial 40 years from 7 October 1996 to
6 October 2036
BENDS R 1996 10A7H £2036410368
RE40F
105 retail units on Level 2, the retalil
podium of Hengdali Market, the west
of the northern section of Jiefang
Road, Weidu District, Xuchang, Henan
Province, the PRC
LW Eg A AT AT AR I AR UK b BRUA
AERABENTSNTEFE2EN
15T E B
Xingshu Garden 100% 3,462  Commercial 50 years from 20 December 2002 to
19 December 2052
TEEH (EES 2002F12 A20A E2052F12 A 198
REs0F
20 retail units on Level 2 and Level 3,
the retail podium of Xingshu Garden,
the middle section of Qiyi Road, Weidu
District, Xuchang, Henan Province, the
PRC
mEAEAFETRERt —RPRA
RIERENTETA2E R3EM20
HEEEN
Longhu Building 100% 428  Residential 70 years from 16 February 2003 to
15 February 2073
BMRE FE 2003F2A16A £2073%F2A 158 -

Unit 2301 on Level 23 and Level 24,
Longhu Building, No. 9 Shangwu Inner
Ring Road, Zhengdong New District,
Zhengzhou, Henan Province, the PRC

FETEEBNTERFRABENRE
QSR BEM K E23 124 B M2301E T

p=3:iip(ok:
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List of Principal Properties
AY hY I V4
FEYE
Interest  Approximate
attributable to total gross
Properties the Group floor area Type Lease term
(5g.m.)
/S AEEEGES BNLEEER EH5 HE
(FHA)
King of the North 100% 13,223  Commercial 40 years from 20 February 2014 to
19 February 2054
i3 [GES 201428208 £2054F2A198 -
AH40E
Block 1, King of the North, the junction
of Jingshui Road and Longquan Road,
Jian'an District, Xuchang, Henan
Province, the PRC
mEEATETRYE R KK EER
BR XA BERIE
Xida Jie Office 100% 2,350  Office 70 years from 1 January 1982 to
31 December 2051
BAEHAE /N 1982F1A1H £2051F12A31A
RHET0%F
No. 563, West Avenue, Weidu District,
Xuchang, Henan Province, the PRC
R & AT AR P K BT5635%
Hengda Weiyuan 100% 2,294 Commercial 40 years from 8 September 2017 to
7 September 2057
EERR [GES 2017F9A8H E2057F9ATA
AH40E

A retail unit on Basement Level 1,
Commercial Block 5 of Hengda
Weiyuan, the Junction of Laodong
Road and Remin Road, Weidu District,
Xuchang, Henan Province, the PRC

REEATETRERSHREAR
BXXOEERFSREFTEIEL ™
ATEEN

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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List of Principal Properties

Interest  Approximate

attributable to total gross
Properties the Group floor area Type Lease term
(5g.m.)
/S AEEEGES BNLEEERE H5 HE
(F1#)
Napa Xidi 100% 540  Residential and 70 years from 12 January 2010 to
clubhouse 11 January 2080
NAPAZ iy FEREM 2010F1 4128 £2080F 11 AR -
RHET0%F
Clubhouse on Level 1 and Level 2,
Taoxiyuan, the junction of North of
Dongtai Road and East of Xinye
Road, Weidu District, Xuchang, Henan
Province, The PRC
RHPEAEEFEMRBEREHN
EREREARRZXAKEIE R2
ELk-gil
Jinhui Plaza 100% 8,839  Commercial 40 years from 16 July 2015 to
15 July 2055
SEER GRS 2015%7A 168 £2055%7A158 -
RE40%

A retail unit on Basement 1, Hengda
Jinhui Plaza, the junction of North
of Balyi Road and East of Beiguan
Avenue, Weidu District, Xuchang,
Henan Province, The PRC

R EIEEFEMRBE N
ERLBREARIXOEESEE
B TENTEEM

2022 Al IR rt
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List of Principal Properties

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ek Sk ES
Approximate
total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion Progress
(sg.m.) (sq.m.)
x5H B4 BaEeR
L/ES EEER HAHBEE LEEER EEEH B ERAH ERMR
(FJ5K) (FJ5K)
Dongcheng Garden 90% 124,224 408,760 Residential and  December 2024 Under construction
commercial
R IEE Tz HE 2024412 IRETH
Located at the east of
Weiwu Avenue and
the South of the Xuefu
Road, Dongcheng
District, Xuchang City,
Henan Province, the
PRC
R B EEFET
RRERRRABUE
RERENE
Changge Sunshine City 100% 255,379 231,156  Residential and ~ December 2023 Under construction
commercial
=3 1hi0 Tz HE 202312 TIRETH

Located at the south of
Getian Avenue and
the west of Huangdie
Road, Changge City,
Xuchang, Henan
Province, the PRC

R E A AR
EmMERREUER
BEABNAA

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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List of Principal Properties

Approximate

total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion Progress
(sg.m.) (sg.m.)
x5E B4 BAHE
L/ES EiEEE HABBEE LEEEE EEEHN B ERAH ERMR
(FI) (FHK)
Hengda Binhefu Project 100% 143,330 469,314  Residential and ~ December 2024 Under construction
commercial
BERARER EE BX 2024412 TIRETH

Located at the south of
Binhe Avenue and east
of Xuanyuan Avenue,
Yuzhou City, Xuchang,
Henan Province, the
PRC

RPETEETES
MBI KB AR

HHERBUR
Yuzhou Sunshine City 100% 502,535 736,858  Residentialand ~ March 2025 Under construction
commercial
BN L Tz BE 202543 A TIRETH

Located at the north of
Yuwang Boulevard,
south of Binhe
Boulevard and west of
Xuanyuan Boulevard,
Yuzhou City, Xuchang,
Henan Province, the
PRC

fIRPBEAEETER
MABERBEUIE B
AREAEREFRX
BIAE

2022 Al | Report
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List of Principal Properties

Approximate

Progress

ERRR

total gross
Interest Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area development Type completion
(sg.m.) (sq.m.)
A58 B4 BHHEE
LES EEER HAHBEE LEEER EEEH B TERAH
(FFK) (FI)
Hengda Xinzhu 100% 102,292 305,338  Residential and ~ December 2026
commercial
ER-3f Tx - BE 2026512

Located at the South
of Hengtong Road
and the West of
Ruiyuan Road,
Xuchang Economic
and Technological
Development Zone,
Henan Province, the
PRC

iR BT EEFET
BERMAERER
AR - BT

Under construction

TREFF

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA



Board
Exw

Ever Reach or the Company
BEERKARRQF

Group
REH

Henan Dadi

A A

Hengda Investment

Hengda Property Management

BEMERER

HK$/HKD

BT

IPO
ERANGE S

Jiari Baocheng

BEAEZE

*

Glossary
=2
ar| 52

Board of directors of the Company
ARRAEERE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEEZER)BRAF

Ever Reach and its subsidiaries
EEEREENB AR

Henan Dadi Property Development Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

MEAMEHERERRAR  ARFA2EEE2ENB AR

Henan Hengda Investment Company Limited®, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 17 October 2007 owned approximately by
Mr. Li Xiaobing as to 67.1833%, Mr. Wang Zhenfeng as to 3.3833%,
Ms. Qi Chunfeng as to 18.65%, Mr. Li Shixun as to 2.3833% and Ms.
Chun Xiaojun as to 1.15% (all of whom being connected persons) and
two independent third parties as to the remaining 7.25%, and hence a
connected person of our Company
MEEEREERAR - —KNR2007F10817THEFRBEK LM ER G
DRIBEFENKEE FIRELEE BERX LT FEHEARERE
Zt+t(HABE AT A L671833% * 3.3833% * 18.65% * 2.3833% &
116N ERIARHMEBBELE = EERT7.25% s - AL AERRFH
BiEAL

Xuchang Hengda Property Management Company Limited®, a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 5 July 1999 wholly owned by
Hengda Investment, and hence a connected person of our Company
FFEEEVMEERARAR - —RKM999F7TASHEFBEKINERAT -
HIEEREZEREG AUMA/ARRAMNBEEAL

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEEEE®

Initial public offering of Ever Reach
BEEFRERARES

Xuchang Jiari Baocheng Property Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

HFERBEZEXARAR  ARBIZAEZENE AR

English name for identification purpose only
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Glossary
=2
Ar| 52

Listing Rules
Lt R Al

Model Code

= <A

o s

i

PRC

FE

RMB

AR

SFO
& 75 M E 1R B

Stock Exchange
Bt 52 B

Xuchang Hengda

ArEEE

Xuchang Hengrong

*

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B 32X P 8 o5 T AR Al

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FARAIMEION LT ETAEFTETESFXHNRLESTA

People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this annual report and
except where the context requires otherwise, references to PRC do not
include Taiwan, the Hong Kong Special Administration Region, the Macao
Special Administration Region, of the People’s Republic of China

REARANBE K AFHH S RIEXESAME SRHEFEZ
RAVTBERE  FTEFNTHRRPEARLMBERPERTEHE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR  HBEEE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
B MHEGRO (BB AN ESTE)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARIMBERRAT

Xuchang Hengda Property Group Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
HEBERMESEARAR  ARAZHELZENE QA

Xuchang Hengrong Real Estate Development Company Limited*, being an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

AETERFEHERBEARAR  ARBZHEEIEZEMB LA

English name for identification purpose only
This annual report is printed in both Chinese and English languages. Should there be any discrepancy between the English
language and the Chinese language, the English language shall prevail.

REHD B ~ EXREFF R o PEXRAME I E  BX R E -

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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